Clemson University

TigerPrints

All Theses

Theses

12-2023

Enabling Breeding for Fruitlet Freeze Tolerance in Peach

Ufuk Caglar ucaglar@clemson.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/all_theses

Part of the Plant Breeding and Genetics Commons

Recommended Citation

Caglar, Ufuk, "Enabling Breeding for Fruitlet Freeze Tolerance in Peach" (2023). *All Theses*. 4174. https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/all_theses/4174

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses at TigerPrints. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses by an authorized administrator of TigerPrints. For more information, please contact kokeefe@clemson.edu.

ENABLING BREEDING FOR FRUITLET FREEZE TOLERANCE IN PEACH

A Thesis Presented to the Graduate School of Clemson University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science Plant and Environmental Science

> by Ufuk Caglar December 2023

Accepted by: Dr. Ksenija Gasic, Committee Chair Dr. Juan Carlos Melgar, Co-chair Dr. Christopher Saski

ABSTRACT

Climate change is affecting the production of temperate fruit crops, with cold temperatures emerging as a critical abiotic stressor that limits plant growth and performance. Freeze damage, particularly in spring, has resulted in significant economic losses in peach production in the southeastern United States. Research efforts in peach and other Prunus species have primarily focused on studying dormancy-related traits associated with bloom time, such as chill and heat requirement, with fruitlet freeze tolerance not equally represented. Breeding for climate resilience in peach requires a combination of these traits to allow for late bloom via targeted chill requirement and high heat requirement, and fruitlet tolerance to late spring frosts (LSF). This study assessed fruitlet freeze tolerance in 75 peach and nectarine accessions representing modern peach breeding germplasm. Fruitlet freeze tolerance was assessed at six freezing temperatures (0 to -10°C) using electrolyte leakage method over two seasons (2022-20223). The fruitlet freeze was described as the temperature at which 50% of tissue experiences damage, LT50 or inflection point (IP), determined from the asymmetric sigmoid curve, and as an area under the curve (AUC). The IP ranged from -3.94 °C to -10.22 °C and AUC ranged from 16-48%, with lower AUC suggesting higher tolerance. The majority of the accessions demonstrated tolerance to cold temperatures in the -4 to -6°C LT50 and 25-35% AUC range. However, variability in tolerance was noted across different years, as well as some inconsistencies between the index of performance (IP) and AUC measurements. When categorizing accessions into tolerance groups (TGs), more stability was seen with AUC grouping across the study years. Shifts in TG assignments were also observed, particularly among extreme categories, where some accessions moved from the most tolerant (TG1 and TG3) to an intermediate tolerance group (TG2) in subsequent experimental years. A set of seven and nine nectarines were classified as most tolerant in both seasons, 2022 and 2023, using both IP and AUC, respectively. Broad-sense heritability (H^2) estimates of 0.52 and 0.80, for IP and AUC, respectively, suggested genetic control of this trait with a potential for improvement via breeding. Further research into the genetic determinants of freeze tolerance in peach fruitlets was conducted using genome-wide association studies. We identified seven significant associations between genetic markers and the trait across four chromosomes of the peach genome. Candidate gene analyses identified 144 genes in the 100kb flanking region of each significantly associated SNP marker located on Ch2 (53), Ch5 (13), Ch6 (26), and Ch7 (51). op Additional research is required to further investigate candidate genes.

The results of this study demonstrated genetic control of fruitlet freeze tolerance in peach and revealed multiple genomic regions associated with the inheritance of this trait, thus providing a foundation for breeding climate-resilient varieties. These findings support the feasibility of incorporating fruitlet freeze tolerance in climate resilience breeding for sustainable production in a changing climate.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to my wonderful family: my mom, Havva Caglar, and my lovely sister, Gamze Caglar for always encouraging me. Their love supported me in getting this work done.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I sincerely thank the Ministry of National Education of the Republic of Turkiye for their valuable support through the YLSY Scholarship Program, which made my goal of a Master of Science degree possible.

A special acknowledgment goes to my advisor, Dr. Ksenija Gasic, whose guidance, patience, kindness, and support have been instrumental in my academic journey. The experience in her outstanding lab has contributed significantly to my professional growth over the past two and a half years. Her contributions have been pivotal to the success of my work.

I sincerely appreciate my committee members, Dr. Christopher Saski and Dr. Juan Carlos Melgar, for their generous support and understanding throughout the intricate research process.

I would like to extend heartfelt thanks to Dr. Wanfang Fu, whose consistent assistance played a crucial role in bringing this research to completion.

Lastly, I express my gratitude to Dr. Alejandro Calle, John Mark Lawton, and the Musser Farm research crew for their assistance in executing my experiments. Their collaborative efforts have significantly improved the overall research experience.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTII
DEDICATIONIV
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS V
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES IX
CHAPTER ONE 1
LITERATURE REVIEW
Taxonomy and botany1Peach Industry and consumption3Dormancy and chilling requirement (CR)4Spring frost tolerance7Peach breeding and genetics10Molecular resources11Quantitative trait loci (QTLs), mapping and genome-wide association analysis13Candidate genes13Breeding for climate resilience16Project objectives16
WORKS CITED
CHAPTER TWO
FRUITLET FREEZE TOLERANCE IN PEACH GERMPLASM
INTRODUCTION
MATERIALS AND METHODS
PEACH AND NECTARINE GERMPLASM
RESULTS
DISCUSSION
CONCLUSION
WORKS CITED
CHAPTER THREE

GENOME WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDY OF FRUITLET FREEZE TOLERANCE IN PEACH GERMPLASM
INTRODUCTION
MATERIALS AND METHODS
PLANT MATERIAL80PHENOTYPING80DNA EXTRACTION AND GENOTYPING81PROCESSING OF SEQUENCE READS81POPULATION STRUCTURE ANALYSIS AND GENOME WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDY (GWAS)82CANDIDATE GENE ANALYSIS82
RESULTS
PHENOTYPIC DATASETS83DETECTION OF SNPS93POPULATION STRUCTURE AND GENOME WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDY94CANDIDATE GENE ANALYSIS97
DISCUSSION
CONCLUSION
WORKS CITED
CHAPTER FOUR
APPENDICES111
APPENDIX A 112 APPENDIX B 128 APPENDIX C 147 APPENDIX D 153 APPENDIX E 155

LIST OF TABLES

Table Page Table 2.1. Characteristics of the U.S. modern peach breeding germplasm used in this study, including fruitlet freeze tolerance and classification in freeze tolerance groups based on IP (inflection point, °C) and AUC (area under the curve, %). Fruit type – FT; origin – country (state); CR - chilling requirement in chill hours (CH); HR - heat requirement in growing degree hours (GDH); BD - bloom date (BLUP) in Julian Days (JD). 40 Table 2.2. Descriptive statistics of fruitlet freeze tolerance observed in peach and nectarine germplasm in 2022 and 2023 season for inflection point (IP) and area under curve (AUC). 45 Table 3.1. A diverse set of 107 peach and nectarine accessions representing heirloom cultivars, landraces and modern U.S. peach breeding germplasm. FT – Fruit type; P – Peach; N – Nectarine; IP - inflection point; AUC - area under the curve.CU -Clemson University peach breeding; NCGR Table 3.2. Descriptive statistics of fruitlet freeze tolerance observed in peach and nectarine germplasm evaluated for fruitlet freeze tolerance. IP, inflection point; AUC, area under curve; Table 3.3. GLM analysis for the most significantly associated markers with IP 2018 - BLUPs IP based on Bonferroni multiple tests using GLM......97

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Page
Figure 1.1. Peach production in Georgia and South Carolina in 2007-2023 period in thousand
metric tons. (source NASS)
Figure 2.1. Electrolyte leakage (Y axis) vs Temperature (X axis), x0, temperature at the inflection
point (LT50); b, slope of the curve (steepness of the curve at x0); y0, lowest electrolyte leakage
value (at 0 °C); a, difference in electrolyte leakage between minimum and maximum temperature;
and b, Hill's slope of the curve (steepness of the curve at x0)
Figure 2.2. Distribution of peach and nectarine germplasm by release year
Figure 2.3. Frequency distribution of Inflection Point (IP) and area under the curve (AUC) of
fruitlet freeze tolerance within the peach and nectarine germplasm in 2022 and 2023 season 46
Figure 2.4. Patterns of fruitlet freeze response to freezing temperatures observed in three peach
cultivars in 2023. Sigmoid curve and inflection point (red arrow) showing 50% of ion leakage.
Area under the curve is shaded blue. Ratio is electrolyte leakage
Figure 2.5. Inflection Point and Area Under the Curve distribution in modern peach breeding
germplasm evaluated over two years
Figure 2.6. Correlation between inflection point (IP) and Area under the curve (AUC) among years
(2022 to 2023). Asterisks indicate the Spearman correlation coefficient at a significance level of p
< 0.01 (**) and p < 0.001 (***)
Figure 3.1. Inflection Point distribution in modern peach breeding germplasm evaluated over four
years and BLUP value
Figure 3.2. Distribution of the area under the curve (AUC) phenotypes in modern peach breeding
germplasm evaluated over four years and BLUP value

Figure 3.3. Correlation between inflection point (IP) and Area under the curve (AUC) among years
(2018 to 2023). Asterisks indicate the Spearman correlation coefficient at a significance level of p
< 0.05 (*), 0.01 (**) and p < 0.001 (***)
Figure 3.4. SNP distribution across eight chromosomes of the peach genome
Figure 3.5. The population structure of 107 accessions revealed by fastSTRUCTURE
Figure 3.6. Manhattan plot showing genome-wide association (GWAS) using general linear model
(GLM) for Inflection Point (IP) using IP2018 (a) and BLUP2018 (b) datasets. Each color
represents a different chromosome. The horizontal solid line represents the Bonferroni significance
threshold 5.6 x 10^{-6} at a significance level of P < 0.05. Quantile–quantile (Q-Q) plots show that
the quantile points lie on the theoretical normal line

CHAPTER ONE

LITERATURE REVIEW

Taxonomy and botany

Peach (*Prunus persica* [L.] Batsch) is a highly economically valuable temperate fruit tree that is widely cultivated in moderate climatic zones throughout the world and is considered the third most significant fruit crop after apples and pears (Ruiz-Sánchez et al., 2018). The peach belongs to the *Rosaceae* family, the Prunoideae subfamily, the *Prunus* genus, and the *Amygdalus* subgenus. It is native to northwest China, where it was first domesticated and cultivated over three thousand years ago (Bassi et al., 2016a). Despite this long history of cultivation, the evolutionary history of the peach remains unknown. However, a significant body of evidence suggests that the origin of the peach can be traced back to China. The *Rosaceae* family is a diverse group of plants that encompasses a wide range of fruit types, including pomes, drupes, achenes, hips, follicles, and capsules, as well as varying growth patterns that range from herbaccous to cane, bush, and tree forms. Within this family, the genus *Prunus* is particularly noteworthy, encompassing more than 430 species, including economically significant fruits such as peaches, apricots, almonds, and cherries.

A peach tree's lifespan can reach up to 30 years, with the potential to grow up to ten meters in height at full maturity. However, for commercial purposes, peach trees are usually pruned to a height and width of 3-4 meters for economic efficiency and intensive farming practices. The peak yield of a peach orchard is typically reached after 4 years of cultivation, with productivity gradually declining from year 4 through 15 (Bassi et al., 2016b). Peach trees are typically trained in an open vase form and have a wide crown structure. They have two different types of buds - central buds that are vegetative and lateral buds that serve as the center for flower production (Penso et al., 2020). The leaves of peach trees are thin-veined, averaging 7-13 cm in length and 2-3 cm in width, and are typically a dark green color with a pointed shape. The flowers of peach trees are perfect and hermaphroditic, with both male and female functional reproductive parts. They emerge from the buds before the leaves in early spring and could be single or double, approximately 3 cm in diameter. The flowers of peach trees contain five separate pink petals and sepals with one pistil and 20 to 30 stamens (Kumar & Chaudhary, 2017). There are two types of flowers which are showy and non-showy. Showy flowers have bigger, overlapping petals that open almost flat and hide the sepals. Non-showy flowers have less, thinner, narrowly cupped petals with the sepals observable between them (Chen & Okie, 2015).

The weight of a peach fruit can vary greatly, with a range of 50 to over 650 grams. However, a commercial standard requires the average weight of the fruit to be within the 150 - 230 g range and an average diameter of 7 - 10 cm (Basto et al., 2016). The peach fruit is fleshy with a single seed surrounded by the pericarp (Rodriguez et al., 2019) The pericarp is differentiated into three distinct layers: endocarp (close to the seed), mesocarp (the soft and edible part of the fruit), and exocarp (the skin) (Dardick, Chris & Callahan, 2014). Peaches are classified as a drupe due to the hardening process of the endocarp through secondary cell wall formation during its development (Rodriguez et al., 2019). Peach development is marked by three critical stages: The initial stage features rapid growth driven by a high rate of cell division, followed by the pit hardening phase, during which the endocarp begins to solidify and form the stone, and ultimately cell enlargement (Dardick et al., 2010). Sudden weather changes during these stages can cause severe problems in fruit development and reduce fruit production worldwide.

Peach industry and consumption

Peach is widely cultivated globally in temperate and subtropical regions between 30 - 45° North-South latitude (Byrne et al., 2000a). The adaptability of peach trees to various environments plays a significant role in their widespread cultivation and distribution worldwide. Global peach and nectarine production is concentrated in six countries: China, Spain, Italy, Greece, Turkey, and the United States (U.S.), which collectively accounted for more than 90-95% of total production in the 2020/2021 season. Although the annual production varies, for various reasons, the global peach and nectarine production in 2020 was estimated to be around 24,569,744 tons (on 1,491,817 ha) (*FAOSTAT, 2020.*). China is the largest producer of peaches globally, with a production of 15 million tons, followed by Spain, Italy, Turkey, Greece, and the U.S., which produced 1.306.020, 1.015.350, 892.048, 890.580, and 560.423 tons, respectively (*FAOSTAT, 2020.*).

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) National Agricultural Statistics Service (NASS) reports the main U.S. peach production in four states: California, South Carolina, Georgia, and New Jersey. California, as the largest producer, accounts for approximately two-thirds of the total national production, yielding 510,000 tons of peaches (*NASS,2021*.). However, there has been a considerable decline in the production of peaches and nectarines in the U.S. in the past 14 years, with the total yield dropping from 1,410,150 tons in 2007 to 811,270 tons in 2021 (*NASS,2021*). This decline in yield is due to several factors, such as drought, frost, competition among different plant species, and quality issues. Nevertheless, the most significant factor contributing to this decline is the impact of weather patterns resulting from climate change. Sudden weather changes and extreme weather events caused by climate change pose severe challenges to deciduous fruits production (Luedeling et al., 2013).

Dormancy and chilling requirement (CR)

The phenomenon of dormancy plays a crucial role in the phenological cycle of all deciduous species, including *Prunus*. It is comprised of three distinct phases: para-dormancy, endo-dormancy, and eco-dormancy (Lang et al., 1987a) and is crucial for the survival and adaptation of species (Allona et al., 2008). However, the increase in temperatures during winter, caused by climate change and the influence of weather oscillations such as El Nino/La Nina Southern Oscillation in the southeast U.S., has led to insufficient cold exposure and heightened vulnerability of trees to spring frosts, posing a significant threat to fruit production worldwide (Castède et al., 2014a).

Dormancy, in the context of the plant development cycle, is a multi-faceted process categorized into three distinct stages (Lang et al., 1987b). The first phase, para-dormancy, described as the absence of visible change in meristematic tissue is regulated by factors within the plant but external to the dormant form. The next phase is endo-dormancy, often recognized as the actual dormant period in a plant's life. During this phase, the growth of meristems, the plant's undifferentiated cells responsible for growth, is firmly inhibited (Romeu et al., 2014a). The final dormancy stage, eco-dormancy, is a significant period in the plant's life cycle. Here, the plant gathers warmth, like an energy reserve, during the transition from winter to spring. This energy is used to fuel the plant's flowering and leafing out, which marks the onset of a further growing season. The chill requirement (CR) is the cumulative cold or chilling hours a plant requires during its dormancy period to overcome the inhibitory consequences of endo-dormancy and break its dormancy. The CR is a crucial factor in determining the transitioning of deciduous stone fruit trees from endo-dormancy. To ensure successful commercial fruit production, it is imperative to accurately calculate the CR for varieties and identify the appropriate growing zones (Valentini et al., 2001). The CR exerts significant control over the peach flower bud break and subsequent reproductive development (Alburguerque et al., 2008; Kwon et al., 2020a; Romeu et al., 2014b). A strong correlation between the CR of a cultivar and the climate conditions in which it grows is essential to consider when developing and choosing cultivars to plant (Byrne & Bacon, 1992). Failure to do so can result in frost damage in regions with incidence of low temperatures in late spring, particularly for cultivars with low CR, which tend to bloom early (Gao et al., 2012; Scorza, R. & Okie, 1990). The risk of freezing damage is further heightened by the effects of global warming, which leads to a decline in winter chill accumulation (Kwon et al., 2020b) and or spikes of very cold or very warm temperatures. Insufficient chilling accumulation can pose challenges for fruit trees, particularly affecting their ability to bloom. When the required chilling hours are lacking, the blooming cycle may be delayed and prolonged. On the other hand, plenty of chilling hours followed by a swift transition to warm temperatures can expedite the blooming phase. This accelerated blooming, however, promotes the risk of spring frosts, which can potentially have adverse consequences on fruit production. Developing peach organs, especially flowers, are susceptible to frost damage during spring when air temperatures drop unexpectedly. Cultivars with medium to low chilling requirements bloom early and petal fall, or shuck split are the most vulnerable.



Figure 1.1. Peach production in Georgia and South Carolina in 2007-2023 period in thousand metric tons. (source NASS)

Peach production fluctuations in the southeastern region of the U.S. have been observed over the years, mainly because of late spring frost (LSF) and other weather-related factors. South Carolina and Georgia peach productions were particularly affected in 2007, 2017 and 2023 when LSF caused the production loss (Figure 1.1). In addition, the 2016/17 dormancy season was characterized by a mild winter that caused irregular flowering and delay or no leafing of some high-chill cultivars (Chen et al., 2016a). Thus, LSF caused severe damage and resulted in a 90% reduction of the peach crop (Figure 1.1). This production loss could be attributed to several factors, including the timing and intensity of the spring frost, the susceptibility of the cultivars to frost damage, and the overall climatic conditions in the region. Additionally, the impact of global warming on winter chill accumulation, the choice of lower chilling cultivars, and the changing temperature patterns could also contribute to the resilience of peach to spring frost and other weather-related stressors.

Recent studies have demonstrated the significant impact of climate change on the phenology of dormancy and blooming, increasing the risk for spring frost damage (Ramirez & Kallarackal, 2015). Early ripening cultivars are frequently favored to reach early markets and attain higher prices (Ruiz et al., 2007; Topp et al., 2008a). When early ripening is associated with early bloom and fruit set, spring frost, a numerous issue in many peach production regions, can damage flower buds, blooms, and fruitlets, resulting in a dramatic impact on peach fruit set (Rieger et al., 1991a; Smith et al., 1994).

Spring frost tolerance

Cold temperatures, including freezing, are among the critical environmental stressors for woody trees, affecting their growth, performance, and distribution (Knight & Knight, 2012; Yu et al., 2020a). Climate change has led to unexpected weather patterns and increased exposure of plants to abiotic stressors, with potentially fatal consequences (Davik et al., 2021; Kazemi-Shahandashti & Maali-Amiri, 2018a). The devastating effect of climate change is one of the most impactful phenomena on the production of temperate fruit crops (Miranda et al., 2021). While peach trees are known to be cold hardy and withstand the damaging effects of winter freezing temperatures while dormant, they are still vulnerable to spring frosts (Luedeling, 2012). The impact of spring frost and insufficient cumulative chill on peach fruit set is well-documented (Chen et al., 2016b). However, weather conditions are different every year and, even when a spring frost occurs, the temperature patterns of each frost event are different every time. Currently, there is no standardized phenotyping protocol for assessing frost tolerance in fruit development due to differences in susceptibility to freezing among cultivars and the complexity of this trait in the *Prunus* species. Studies that have assessed the freeze tolerance of developing fruitlets in peaches have focused on identifying correlations between external symptoms and frost susceptibility,

including fruit size and seed damage (Assmann et al., 2008a; Rodrigo García et al., 2006a). The timing of phenological events and the maturation, reproductive success, and competitive capabilities of trees in temperate climates are heavily influenced by distinct temperature seasonality and unpredictable weather patterns throughout the year (Chuine & Beaubien, 2001; Chuine, 2010; Hasenauer et al., 1999; Myneni et al., 1997). Thus, to effectively understand the effects of early spring frosts on peach fruits, it is necessary to comprehend the types of problems this abiotic stress creates at the cellular level. While enzymes and proteins that protect cells against abiotic stressors, including cold stress, are crucial for plant survival (Yu et al., 2020b), low-temperature freezing stress can lead to irreversible injury to cell membranes and oxidative stress, resulting in physiological and metabolic modifications that impact plant growth and development (Kazemi-Shahandashti & Maali-Amiri, 2018b).

Research by Murray (2011) shows that a temperature of approximately -3°C can cause significant damage to fruitlets during petal fall with 10% damage occurring between -2°C and - 3°C and up to 90% damage observed closer to -4°C. Genotypes with low CR tend to bloom early in colder regions and are more likely to be damaged by late frosts (Scorza, Ralph & Okie, 1991). However, genotypes with high CR might suffer from inadequate chilling resulting in irregular flowering with lower fruit quality (Fan et al., 2010a). Insufficient chilling can result in inconsistent bud breaks and low or no fruit set (Topp et al., 2008b). Although peach flower buds resist cold during endo-dormancy, they are susceptible to freezing temperatures during bud burst and bloom. Plants have evolved various mechanisms, such as supercooling and tolerance to intercellular ice formation, that enable them to withstand low temperatures without damaging the plant tissue. The resulting freezing-induced dehydration can permanently damage cellular components, such as cell membranes, leading to flaccidity and discoloration of the damaged tissue (Rodrigo, 2000).

Consequently, dehydration injury is accepted as the leading cause of frost damage (Wilson, 2001). The critical temperature, which determines a plant's level of cold resistance and the temperature at which tissue damage occurs, is influenced by factors such as the stage of phenological development of the bud/shoot or set of fruitlets, type of plant tissue or dew point, moisture, and pre-frost environmental conditions (Keller, 2020).

Frost tolerance is frequently used to refer to the biological capacity of a plant to survive temperatures that are only mildly below freezing (Wisniewski et al., 2014a). In recent years, various studies have demonstrated that the frequency, severity, and duration of low-temperature events, specifically SFD, are expected to increase in the 21st-century due to global warming (Augspurger, 2013; Kodra et al., 2011). This presents a significant threat to both herbaceous and woody plant species, particularly to less vital organs such as developing buds and young leaves, flowers, and fruitlets. The increased risk of spring frost damage is particularly concerning given the fact that temperate fruit trees, which account for nearly half of all global fruit production, serve as a critical source of food and income for many communities (Rodríguez et al., 2021).

An analysis of 17 peach/nectarine and 8 Japanese plum cultivars following a natural frost of 3°C (26.6°F) showed significant variation in frost resistance during bloom, as indicated by the survival of ovary in recently opened flowers. Plum cultivars Bruce and Santa Rosa and the peach cultivars June Gold and Coronet were found to be among the most tolerant. In contrast, the plum cultivar Ozark Premier, the nectarine cultivar Fantasia, and the peach cultivar Loring were among the most susceptible (Rieger et al., 1991b). Another analysis of the fruit damage caused by a 1.1°C natural frost in 28 peach genotypes of varying maturity revealed that the genotypes' tolerance to the frost varied based on measurements of percent fruit loss, suture diameter change, and other growth indices. At the time of the frost occurrence, cultivars with good leafing and a firm endocarp (pit) displayed greater tolerance to frost damage. Fruitlet survival was similarly influenced by fruit size. Fruit with suture diameters larger than 30 mm were more tolerant than those smaller than 20 mm (Assmann et al., 2008b). Szalay et al. (1999) suggested that flower buds were in the middle of the highest cold tolerance range, with the LT50 (lethal temperature for 50% mortality) between -20 and -25°C. However, the authors observed tolerance decrease and significant increase of LT50 in the following months. A good indicator of frost tolerance could also be reduction of fruit set caused by the loss (drop) of injured fruitlets (Chen et al., 2016c). There has yet to be a standardized rating or phenotyping measure created to better or more precisely evaluate frost tolerance among peach genotypes because of the trait's complexity, freezing condition variability (such as freezing temperature durability), and unpredictable occurrence.

Peach breeding and genetics

The introduction of the peach fruit to North America from China took place around 1850. Cultivar Chinese Cling, its offspring, 'Elberta', 'Belle of Georgia', and 'J. H. Hale', as well as their progeny, have been critical for peach production and breeding in the U.S. and the world (Badenes & Byrne, 2012). In 1895, Geneva, New York, became the birthplace of the first organized institutional breeding program in the Americas for peaches. Subsequently, private breeding initiatives in California were established in the early 1930s (Okie et al., 2008a). The initial aim of these programs was to develop locally adapted peaches and nectarines. However, with the advancement of technology and investment, the focus shifted towards developing high-yielding cultivars that could withstand environmental stressors and possess desirable qualities such as fruit quality, post-harvest resilience, and resistance to diseases and pests (Byrne. & Bassols Raseira, 2005; Byrne et al., 2000b). Recent shifts in climate have spurred interest in developing cultivars

with lower chilling requirements, positioning adaptation to climate change as a key goal for plant breeders (Raseira et al., 2020).

Peach is a diploid species with a compact genome size of 265 Mb (Verde et al., 2017) which is approximately double that of *Arabidopsis thaliana's* genome (157 Mb) (Arumuganathan & Earle, 1991). It has a short juvenile phase and is capable of self-fertilization (Verde et al., 2017a). Among the *Rosaceae* species, peach has the most thorough genetic characterization with extensive knowledge of many genes critical to key traits. It is used as a model species for comparative and functional tree genomics and genetics studies (Arús et al., 2012; Eduardo et al., 2013; Monet et al., 1996). The availability of the reference peach genome released more than decade ago (Verde et al., 2013, Verde et al., 2017) has dramatically advanced genetic research on peaches (Aranzana et al., 2019). The quality of the genome sequence, collinearity and synteny with *Prunus* and *Rosaceae* species makes peach ideal for genetic mapping and identifying genes that determine desirable traits, including climate resilience (Bielenberg et al., 2022a; Bielenberg et al., 2015a; Cirilli et al., 2021a; Fan et al., 2010b; Shi et al., 2020).

Molecular resources

The Genome Database for Rosaceae serves as a publicly accessible repository for a wealth of molecular resources, genetic markers, linkage maps, quantitative trait loci (QTLs), and candidate genes associated with the *Rosaceae* family (<u>http://www.rosaceae.org/</u>; Jung et al., 2019a). This database houses the molecular resources for economically important species of *Rosaceae* family including *Prunus* genus, and peach (<u>http://www.rosaceae.org/</u>). More than 500,000 markers, including SNPs and SSR, 196 genetic maps were developed in *Prunus* sand utilized in QTL mapping. Approximately 1,764 QTLs associated with 163 agronomically

important traits and 26,873 genes and 47,089 mRNA in the peach genome (v2.0.a1) have been reported.

The availability of a high-quality peach reference genome and 9K Infinium single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) array, have enabled fast progress in mapping the traits of interest (Aranzana et al., 2019a). SNP markers have quickly emerged as the most practical and affordable markers for genetic investigations since the invention of the 9K peach Infinium array (Verde et al., 2012) and genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) technique (Elshire et al., 2011a).

By integrating data from the peach genome with numerous SNP-based maps derived from the peach array, a consensus map was developed to assist in determining the positions and genetic sequence of markers that had not yet been mapped (da Silva Linge et al., 2018). The Genotypingby-Sequencing (GBS) method is utilized in peach genetic mapping for its efficiency in generating a large number of SNP markers that cover the entire genome, thereby facilitating the rapid and cost-effective development of high-density linkage maps (Bielenberg et al., 2015b; Guajardo et al., 2015).

The peach genome was the first tree fruit genome sequenced in Rosaceae and has been used as a model in genetic studies to investigate the inheritance of desired traits, including climate resilience. Significant work has focused on climate-related traits, such as those influencing dormancy and bloom timing. Extensive studies on the genetic regulation of dormancy in peach have identified over 100 quantitative trait loci (QTLs) for bloom date and chill requirements. However, despite technological advances, there is still a need for more sophisticated molecular tools to help researchers and breeders address fruitlet freeze tolerance. The scientific community must prioritize and allocate substantial resources toward enhancing molecular tools to better understand and address fruitlet freeze tolerance. Despite the importance of this issue, there remains a significant gap in information regarding the mechanisms behind this phenomenon.

Quantitative trait loci (QTLs), mapping and genome-wide association analysis

QTLs in peach have been detected via bi-parental mapping (Rawandoozi et al., 2021a), pedigree-based mapping (Fresnedo-Ramírez et al., 2013) and association mapping (Cao et al., 2012; Martínez-García et al., 2013). The utilization of genome-wide association analysis (GWAS) has allowed for exploring unrelated germplasm in identification of causal genetic polymorphisms that contribute to complex traits (Riedelsheimer et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2011). Detection of QTLs or causal genes associated with molecular markers tightly linked to trait(s) of interest has been proposed as a strategy for implementation of marker-assisted selection (MAS) in plant breeding (Xu & Crouch, 2008). However, plants' complex population structure and genetic relatedness can lead to inaccurate marker-trait associations in MAS, making it challenging to precisely identify loci that genuinely impact target traits (Chan et al., 2011; Gupta et al., 2005). To overcome these limitations in association analysis, recent studies have explored the implementation of advanced methods based on genome sequencing and SNP genotyping to facilitate QTL mapping in crops (Gupta et al., 2005; Morgante & Salamini, 2003). Hence, these complex traits require specialized methods for a deeper understanding. Approximately 1,082 QTLs have been linked to 40 agronomically relevant traits in peaches, including bloom timing, fruit quality, phytochemical content, and disease resistance (Demirel et al., 2021).

Candidate genes

In recent years, extensive research has been carried out on the expression of various genes in peach, following the sequencing of the peach genome (Verde et al., 2017). Some of this research has focused particularly on genes that are involved in the plant's response to cold (Artlip et al., 2013; Bassett et al., 2015; Jiao et al., 2017a; Wang et al., 2019). Plants, including peaches, undergo a series of molecular changes in response to freezing conditions, which are crucial for survival. These changes encompass modifications to the membrane composition, accumulation of necessary solutes, changes to the osmotic process, and regulation of plant hormone synthesis (Muthuramalingam et al., 2022). One of the significant breakthroughs in the study of freezing tolerance in plants, including peaches, has been the discovery of cold-inducible C-repeat binding factors (CBF) or dehydration responsive element binding (DREB) transcriptional activators. These activators have been found to regulate a range of genes related to the low-temperature response in plants (Wisniewski et al., 2014b). Additionally, for a plant to be able to withstand cold stress, it is essential that it has enzymes and proteins that directly protect its cells from these environmental challenges (Yu et al., 2020c). Both genetic and environmental factors influence the complexity of the freeze tolerance trait. An analysis of the peach genome has revealed the presence of two genes, PpICE1 and PpICE2, and six CBF genes believed to play a role in the plant's ability to tolerate fruitlet freezing. The five CBF genes are found together in scaffold linkage group 5, while the sixth gene is located on linkage group 2 (Wisniewski et al., 2014b). PpICE1 and PpICE2 are located on linkage groups 3 and 5, respectively. Mutations in PpICE1 and PpICE2 have been linked to increased fruitlet freeze resistance in peaches (Lee et al., 2005; Wisniewski et al., 2014c). This is due to the role of the ice-binding protein encoded by these genes in preventing ice crystal formation and protecting plant tissues. In addition, it has been observed that mutations in the ICE protein that impact freezing tolerance also affects stomatal development (Kanaoka et al., 2008). Another gene, PpDREB2A, belonging to the DREB family, has been found to be upregulated in peach fruit under freeze stress. (Jiao et al., 2017b). The CBF-COR signaling network has been widely studied as a

key component in regulating freezing tolerance in plants. Genetic mapping studies have repeatedly revealed a correlation between freezing tolerance and the presence of QTLs near the CBF genes (Alonso-Blanco et al., 2005; Kang et al., 2013). These findings suggest that there may be a tradeoff between freezing tolerance and overall fitness in different survival environments, with one of the QTLs being linked to the CBF2 gene as a potential candidate gene (Oakley et al., 2014). Genes that are activated and subsequently expressed during cold acclimation are vital for plant adaptation to low temperatures. For example, the upregulation of a gene responsible for a cold-regulated protein in peach fruits may enhance their freezing resistance during cold acclimation (Jin et al., 2018). Another heat shock protein gene, PpHSP70, has also shown increased expression during cold acclimation in peach fruits, suggesting a potential role in freeze tolerance (Tittarelli et al., 2009). Numerous key genes integral to cold acclimation have been successfully isolated and described. Notably, the full-length dehydrin gene PpDhn1 has been identified to exhibit varying levels of expression linked to cold resistance in evergreen and deciduous peach sibling genotypes (Artlip et al., 1997). Furthermore, the 60-kDa peach dehydrin protein (PCA60), produced in response to various environmental stressors, was purified and demonstrated antifreeze properties (Wisniewski et al., 1999).

Transcription factors play a crucial role in detecting low temperatures, initiating coldregulated gene expression, and triggering the cold acclimatization process in plants (Wisniewski et al., 2011). For instance, the AP2/EREBP (APETALA 2/ethylene-responsive element-binding factor) family of CBF transcription factors, also known as DREB1s, play a role in the freezing tolerance of plants by binding to CBF cis-elements (5'-A/GCCGAC-3') found in the promoters of cold-regulated genes and up-regulating their expression (Zhao, C. & Zhu, 2016; Zhao et al., 2014).

Breeding for climate resilience

Most research has been done on climate-related traits, such as dormancy-related traits that affect bloom time. Several studies have evaluated bud and flower tolerance to freezes in many cultivars of different *Prunus* species, but fruitlet freeze tolerance is relatively understudied. Melgar et al., (2022) used the electrolyte leakage method to demonstrate fruitlet freeze tolerance in 81 accessions, showing range of tolerances from -5°C to -10°C, and significant variability within peach germplasm.

Breeding efforts have accordingly focused on chilling requirement and bloom time and just recently included heat requirement in the climate-resilience traits realizing that reducing chill requirement to ensure chill satisfaction increases chances for late spring frost due to an early bloom time. We believe that the climate resilience traits should include the fruitlet freeze tolerance as well and thatthe variability reported by Melgar et al. (2022) warrants further exploration of this trait for breeding potential. Thus, my working hypothesis is that the peach germplasm diversity in fruitlet freeze tolerance can be harnessed in breeding programs to increase climate resilience in newly developed cultivars.

Project objectives

The overall aim of enabling breeding for fruitlet freeze tolerance is achieved through the following objectives:

1. Phenotype peach germplasm for fruitlet freeze tolerance and determine if this trait is genetically controlled.

2. Obtain genotyping data for the germplasm phenotyped in objective 1 using genotyping-bysequencing.

3. Perform a genome-wide association study (GWAS) to determine regions in the peach genome associated with fruitlet freeze tolerance.

4. Investigate candidate genes associated with the fruitlet freeze tolerance.

Works cited

- Agarwal, P. K., Gupta, K., Lopato, S., & Agarwal, P. (2017). Dehydration responsive element binding transcription factors and their applications for the engineering of stress tolerance. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 68(9), 2135-2148.
- Alburquerque, N., García-Montiel, F., Carrillo, A., & Burgos, L. (2008). Chilling and heat requirements of sweet cherry cultivars and the relationship between altitude and the probability of satisfying the chill requirements. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 64(2), 162-170.
- Allona, I., Ramos, A., Ibáñez, C., Contreras, A., Casado, R., & Aragoncillo, C. (2008). Molecular control of winter dormancy establishment in trees: a review. *Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research*, 6, 201-210.
- Alonso-Blanco, C., Gomez-Mena, C., Llorente, F., Koornneef, M., Salinas, J., & Martínez-Zapater, J. M. (2005). Genetic and molecular analyses of natural variation indicate CBF2 as a candidate gene for underlying a freezing tolerance quantitative trait locus in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology*, 139(3), 1304-1312.
- Aranzana, M. J., Garcia-Mas, J., Carbo, J., & Arús, P. (2002). Development and variability analysis of microsatellite markers in peach. *Plant Breeding*, *121*(1), 87-92.
- Aranzana, M., Carbó, J., & Arús, P. (2003). Microsatellite variability in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]: cultivar identification, marker mutation, pedigree inferences and population structure. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 106(8), 1341-1352.
- Aranzana, M. J., Decroocq, V., Dirlewanger, E., Eduardo, I., Gao, Z. S., Gasic, K., Iezzoni, A., Jung, S., Peace, C., & Prieto, H. (2019). Prunus genetics and applications after de novo genome sequencing: achievements and prospects. *Horticulture Research*, 6
- Artlip, T. S., Callahan, A. M., Bassett, C. L., & Wisniewski, M. E. (1997). Seasonal expression of a dehydrin gene in sibling deciduous and evergreen genotypes of peach (Prunus persica [L.] Batsch). *Plant Molecular Biology*, 33(1), 61-70.
- Artlip, T. S., Wisniewski, M. E., Bassett, C. L., & Norelli, J. L. (2013). CBF gene expression in peach leaf and bark tissues is gated by a circadian clock. *Tree Physiology*, 33(8), 866-877.
- Arumuganathan, K., & Earle, E. D. (1991). Estimation of nuclear DNA content of plants by flow cytometry. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter*, *9*(3), 229-241.
- Arús, P., Verde, I., Sosinski, B., Zhebentyayeva, T., & Abbott, A. G. (2012). The peach genome. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 8(3), 531-547.

- Assmann, A. P., Citadin, I., Locatelli, M. C., Scariot, S., Danner, M. A., & Raseira, M. d. C. B. (2008a). Fruit frost tolerance in peach. *Revista Brasileira De Fruticultura*, *30*, 1030-1035.
- Assmann, A. P., Citadin, I., Locatelli, M. C., Scariot, S., Danner, M. A., & Raseira, M. d. C. B. (2008b). Fruit frost tolerance in peach. *Revista Brasileira De Fruticultura*, 30, 1030-1035.
- Augspurger, C. K. (2013). Reconstructing patterns of temperature, phenology, and frost damage over 124 years: spring damage risk is increasing. *Ecology*, 94(1), 41-50.
- Badenes, M. L., & Byrne, D. H. (2012). Fruit breeding. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Bassett, C. L., Fisher, K. M., & Farrell, R. E. (2015). The complete peach dehydrin family: characterization of three recently recognized genes. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 11, 1-14.
- Bassi, D., Mignani, I., Spinardi, A., & Tura, D. (2016a). Chapter 23 PEACH (Prunus persica (L.) Batsch). In M. S. J. Simmonds, & V. R. Preedy (Eds.), *Nutritional Composition of Fruit Cultivars* (pp. 535-571). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-408117-8.00023-4</u>
- Bassi, D., Mignani, I., Spinardi, A., & Tura, D. (2016b). Chapter 23 PEACH (Prunus persica (L.) Batsch). In M. S. J. Simmonds, & V. R. Preedy (Eds.), *Nutritional Composition of Fruit Cultivars* (pp. 535-571). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-408117-8.00023-4</u>
- Basto, G. J., Carvalho, C. W. P., Soares, A. G., Costa, H. T. G. B., Chávez, D. W. H., Godoy, R. L. d. O., & Pacheco, S. (2016). Physicochemical properties and carotenoid content of extruded and non-extruded corn and peach palm (Bactris gasipaes, Kunth). *LWT Food Science and Technology*, *69*, 312-318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2015.12.065</u>
- Batley, J., & Edwards, D. (2009). Mining for SNPs and SSRs using SNPServer, dbSNP and SSR taxonomy tree. *Bioinformatics for DNA sequence analysis* (pp. 303-321). Springer.
- Bielenberg, D. G., & Gasic, K. (2022). Peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch] cultivars differ in apparent base temperature and growing degree hour requirement for floral bud break. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 13, 76.
- Bielenberg, D. G., Rauh, B., Fan, S., Gasic, K., Abbott, A. G., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., & Wells, C. E. (2015a). Genotyping by sequencing for SNP-based linkage map construction and QTL analysis of chilling requirement and bloom date in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *PloS One, 10*(10), e0139406.
- Bielenberg, D. G., Rauh, B., Fan, S., Gasic, K., Abbott, A. G., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., & Wells, C. E. (2015b). Genotyping by sequencing for SNP-based linkage map construction and QTL analysis of chilling requirement and bloom date in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *PloS One, 10*(10), e0139406.

- Bonghi, C., Trainotti, L., Botton, A., Tadiello, A., Rasori, A., Ziliotto, F., Zaffalon, V., Casadoro, G., & Ramina, A. (2011). A microarray approach to identify genes involved in seed-pericarp cross-talk and development in peach. *BMC Plant Biology*, 11(1), 1-14.
- Borba, M. R. d. C., Scarpare Filho, J. A., & Kluge, R. A. (2005). Teores de carboidratos em pessegueiros submetidos a diferentes intensidades de poda verde em clima tropical. *Revista Brasileira De Fruticultura, 27*, 68-72.
- Borsani, J., Budde, C. O., Porrini, L., Lauxmann, M. A., Lombardo, V. A., Murray, R., Andreo, C. S., Drincovich, M. F., & Lara, M. V. (2009). Carbon metabolism of peach fruit after harvest: changes in enzymes involved in organic acid and sugar level modifications. *Journal* of Experimental Botany, 60(6), 1823-1837.
- Bouhadida, M., Moreno, M. Á, Gonzalo, M. J., Alonso, J. M., & Gogorcena, Y. (2011). Genetic variability of introduced and local Spanish peach cultivars determined by SSR markers. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 7(2), 257-270.
- Byrne, D. H., & Bassols Raseira, M. C. (2005). Inbreeding of the major commercial fresh market peach cultivars grown in Southern Brazil. Paper presented at the *VI International Peach Symposium 713*, 99-102.
- Byrne, D. H., Sherman, W. B., & Bacon, T. A. (2000a). Stone Fruit Genetic Pool and Its Exploitation for Growing under Warm Winter Conditions. *Temperate Fruit Crops in Warm Climates* (pp. 157-230). Springer Netherlands. 10.1007/978-94-017-3215-4 8
- Byrne, D. H., & Bacon, T. A. (1992). Chilling estimation: its importance and estimation. *The Texas Horticulturist, 18*(8), 5-8.
- Byrne, D. H., Sherman, W. B., & Bacon, T. A. (2000b). Stone fruit genetic pool and its exploitation for growing under warm winter conditions. *Temperate fruit crops in warm climates* (pp. 157-230). Springer.
- Callahan, A. M., Dardick, C., & Scorza, R. (2009). Characterization of 'Stoneless': A naturally occurring, partially stoneless plum cultivar. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 134(1), 120-125.
- Castède, S., Campoy, J. A., García, J. Q., Le Dantec, L., Lafargue, M., Barreneche, T., Wenden, B., & Dirlewanger, E. (2014). Genetic determinism of phenological traits highly affected by climate change in Prunus avium: flowering date dissected into chilling and heat requirements. *New Phytologist*, 202(2), 703-715.
- Chan, E. K., Rowe, H. C., Corwin, J. A., Joseph, B., & Kliebenstein, D. J. (2011). Combining genome-wide association mapping and transcriptional networks to identify novel genes controlling glucosinolates in Arabidopsis thaliana. *PLoS Biology*, *9*(8), e1001125.

- Chen, C., Okie, W. R., & Beckman, T. G. (2016a). Peach fruit set and buttoning after spring frost. *HortScience*, *51*(7), 816-821.
- Chen, C., Okie, W. R., & Beckman, T. G. (2016b). Peach fruit set and buttoning after spring frost. *HortScience*, *51*(7), 816-821.
- Cheng, Z., & Huang, H. (2009). SSR fingerprinting Chinese peach cultivars and landraces (Prunus persica) and analysis of their genetic relationships. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 120(2), 188-193.
- Chuine, I. (2010). Why does phenology drive species distribution? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 365*(1555), 3149-3160.
- Chuine, I., & Beaubien, E. G. (2001). Phenology is a major determinant of tree species range. *Ecology Letters*, 4(5), 500-510.
- Cirilli, M., Gattolin, S., Chiozzotto, R., Baccichet, I., Pascal, T., Quilot-Turion, B., Rossini, L., & Bassi, D. (2021). The Di2/pet variant in the PETALOSA gene underlies a major heat requirement-related QTL for blooming date in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 62(2), 356-365.
- Collard, B. C., Jahufer, M., Brouwer, J. B., & Pang, E. C. K. (2005). An introduction to markers, quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping and marker-assisted selection for crop improvement: the basic concepts. *Euphytica*, *142*(1), 169-196.
- da Silva Linge, C., Antanaviciute, L., Abdelghafar, A., Arús, P., Bassi, D., Rossini, L., Ficklin, S., & Gasic, K. (2018). High-density multi-population consensus genetic linkage map for peach. *PloS One*, 13(11), e0207724.
- Dardick, C., & Callahan, A. M. (2014). Evolution of the fruit endocarp: molecular mechanisms underlying adaptations in seed protection and dispersal strategies. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *5*, 284. 10.3389/fpls.2014.00284
- Dardick, C. D., Callahan, A. M., Chiozzotto, R., Schaffer, R. J., Piagnani, M. C., & Scorza, R. (2010). Stone formation in peach fruit exhibits spatial coordination of the lignin and flavonoid pathways and similarity to Arabidopsisdehiscence. *BMC Biology*, 8(1), 1-17.
- Davik, J., Wilson, R. C., Njah, R. G., Grini, P. E., Randall, S. K., Alsheik, M. K., & Sargent, D. J. (2021). Genetic mapping and identification of a QTL determining tolerance to freezing stress in Fragaria vesca L. *PloS One*, 16(5), e0248089.
- Demirel, G. (2021). Fine Mapping of Chilling Requirement and Bloom Date to Enable Marker-Assisted Breeding of Climate Resilient Peach.
- Dirlewanger, E., Cosson, P., Boudehri, K., Renaud, C., Capdeville, G., Tauzin, Y., Laigret, F., & Moing, A. (2006). Development of a second-generation genetic linkage map for peach

[Prunus persica (L.) Batsch] and characterization of morphological traits affecting flower and fruit. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 3(1), 1-13.

- Dirlewanger, E., Graziano, E., Joobeur, T., Garriga-Calderé, F., Cosson, P., Howad, W., & Arús, P. (2004). Comparative mapping and marker-assisted selection in Rosaceae fruit crops. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 101*(26), 9891-9896.
- Eduardo, I., Chietera, G., Pirona, R., Pacheco, I., Troggio, M., Banchi, E., Bassi, D., Rossini, L., Vecchietti, A., & Pozzi, C. (2013). Genetic dissection of aroma volatile compounds from the essential oil of peach fruit: QTL analysis and identification of candidate genes using dense SNP maps. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, *9*(1), 189-204.
- Elshire, R. J., Glaubitz, J. C., Sun, Q., Poland, J. A., Kawamoto, K., Buckler, E. S., & Mitchell, S. E. (2011). A robust, simple genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) approach for high diversity species. *PloS One*, 6(5), e19379.
- Etienne, C., Rothan, C., Moing, A., Plomion, C., Bodénès, C., Svanella-Dumas, L., Cosson, P., Pronier, V., Monet, R., & Dirlewanger, E. (2002). Candidate genes and QTLs for sugar and organic acid content in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 105(1), 145-159.
- Evans, R. G. (2000). The art of protecting grapevines from low temperature injury. *Proc.ASEV* 50th Anniversary Annual Mtg., Seattle WA, , 60-72.
- Fadón, E., Herrero, M., & Rodrigo, J. (2015). Flower development in sweet cherry framed in the BBCH scale. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *192*, 141-147.
- Fan, S., Bielenberg, D. G., Zhebentyayeva, T. N., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., Holland, D., & Abbott, A. G. (2010a). Mapping quantitative trait loci associated with chilling requirement, heat requirement and bloom date in peach (Prunus persica). *New Phytologist*, 185(4), 917-930.
- Fan, S., Bielenberg, D. G., Zhebentyayeva, T. N., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., Holland, D., & Abbott, A. G. (2010b). Mapping quantitative trait loci associated with chilling requirement, heat requirement and bloom date in peach (Prunus persica). *New Phytologist*, 185(4), 917-930.

FAOSTAT, 2020. https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL/visualize

- Faust, E., & Herbold, J. (2018). Spring frost losses and climate change–not a contradiction in terms. *Munich Re*,
- Gao, Z., Zhuang, W., Wang, L., Shao, J., Luo, X., Cai, B., & Zhang, Z. (2012). Evaluation of chilling and heat requirements in Japanese apricot with three models. *HortScience*, 47(12), 1826-1831.

- Gasic, K., Jung, S., Cheng, C. H., Lee, T., Zheng, P., Yu, J., Humann, J., Evans, K., Peace, C., & DeVetter, L. (2017). Resources in the Genome Database for Rosaceae for peach research. Paper presented at the *IX International Peach Symposium 1304*, 99-106.
- Gasic, K., & Saski, C. (2019). Advances in fruit genetics. Achieving sustainable cultivation of temperate zone tree fruits and berries (pp. 135-180). Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing.
- Grattapaglia, D., Silva-Junior, O. B., Kirst, M., de Lima, B. M., Faria, D. A., & Pappas, G. J. (2011). High-throughput SNP genotyping in the highly heterozygous genome of Eucalyptus: assay success, polymorphism and transferability across species. *BMC Plant Biology*, 11(1), 1-18.
- Gu, L., Hanson, P. J., Post, W. M., Kaiser, D. P., Yang, B., Nemani, R., Pallardy, S. G., & Meyers, T. (2008). The 2007 eastern US spring freeze: increased cold damage in a warming world? *Bioscience*, 58(3), 253-262.
- Guajardo, V., Solís, S., Sagredo, B., Gainza, F., Muñoz, C., Gasic, K., & Hinrichsen, P. (2015). Construction of high density sweet cherry (Prunus avium L.) linkage maps using microsatellite markers and SNPs detected by genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS). *PloS One*, 10(5), e0127750.
- Gupta, P. K., Rustgi, S., & Kulwal, P. L. (2005). Linkage disequilibrium and association studies in higher plants: present status and future prospects. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 57(4), 461-485.
- Hamblin, M. T., Warburton, M. L., & Buckler, E. S. (2007). Empirical comparison of simple sequence repeats and single nucleotide polymorphisms in assessment of maize diversity and relatedness. *PloS One*, *2*(12), e1367.
- Hasenauer, H., Nemani, R. R., Schadauer, K., & Running, S. W. (1999). Forest growth response to changing climate between 1961 and 1990 in Austria. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 122(3), 209-219.
- Howad, W., Yamamoto, T., Dirlewanger, E., Testolin, R., Cosson, P., Cipriani, G., Monforte, A. J., Georgi, L., Abbott, A. G., & Arus, P. (2005). Mapping with a few plants: using selective mapping for microsatellite saturation of the Prunus reference map. *Genetics*, 171(3), 1305-1309.

http://www.rosaceae.org/. http://www.rosaceae.org/

- Iezzoni, A. F., McFerson, J., Luby, J., Gasic, K., Whitaker, V., Bassil, N., Yue, C., Gallardo, K., McCracken, V., & Coe, M. (2020). RosBREED: bridging the chasm between discovery and application to enable DNA-informed breeding in rosaceous crops. *Horticulture Research*, 7
- Illa, E., Lambert, P., Quilot, B., Audergon, J. M., Dirlewanger, E., Howad, W., Dondini, L., Tartarini, S., Lain, O., & Testolin, R. (2009). Linkage map saturation, construction, and

comparison in four populations of Prunus. *The Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*, 84(6), 168-175.

- Infante Espiñeira, R., Martínez Gómez, P., & Predieri, S. (2008). Quality oriented fruit breeding: Peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch].
- International Peach Genome Initiative, Verde, I., Abbott, A. G., Scalabrin, S., Jung, S., Shu, S., Marroni, F., Zhebentyayeva, T., Dettori, M. T., & Grimwood, J. (2013). The high-quality draft genome of peach (Prunus persica) identifies unique patterns of genetic diversity, domestication and genome evolution. *Nature Genetics*, 45(5), 487-494.
- Jiao, Y., Shen, Z., & Yan, J. (2017a). Transcriptome analysis of peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch] stigma in response to low-temperature stress with digital gene expression profiling. *Journal of Plant Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 26, 141-148.
- Jiao, Y., Shen, Z., & Yan, J. (2017b). Transcriptome analysis of peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch] stigma in response to low-temperature stress with digital gene expression profiling. *Journal of Plant Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 26(2), 141-148.
- Jin, Y., Zhai, S., Wang, W., Ding, X., Guo, Z., Bai, L., & Wang, S. (2018). Identification of genes from the ICE–CBF–COR pathway under cold stress in Aegilops–Triticum composite group and the evolution analysis with those from Triticeae. *Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants, 24*(2), 211-229.
- Jung, S., Lee, T., Cheng, C., Buble, K., Zheng, P., Yu, J., Humann, J., Ficklin, S. P., Gasic, K., & Scott, K. (2019). 15 years of GDR: New data and functionality in the Genome Database for Rosaceae. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(D1), D1137-D1145.
- Kanaoka, M. M., Pillitteri, L. J., Fujii, H., Yoshida, Y., Bogenschutz, N. L., Takabayashi, J., Zhu, J., & Torii, K. U. (2008). SCREAM/ICE1 and SCREAM2 specify three cell-state transitional steps leading to Arabidopsis stomatal differentiation. *The Plant Cell, 20*(7), 1775-1785.
- Kang, J., Zhang, H., Sun, T., Shi, Y., Wang, J., Zhang, B., Wang, Z., Zhou, Y., & Gu, H. (2013). Natural variation of C-repeat-binding factor (CBF s) genes is a major cause of divergence in freezing tolerance among a group of Arabidopsis thaliana populations along the Yangtze River in China. *New Phytologist, 199*(4), 1069-1080.
- Kazemi-Shahandashti, S., & Maali-Amiri, R. (2018a). Global insights of protein responses to cold stress in plants: Signaling, defence, and degradation. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 226, 123-135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2018.03.022</u>
- Kazemi-Shahandashti, S., & Maali-Amiri, R. (2018b). Global insights of protein responses to cold stress in plants: Signaling, defence, and degradation. *Journal of Plant Physiology, 226*, 123-135.

Keller, M. (2020). The science of grapevines. Academic press.

- Kim, Y., Kimball, J. S., Didan, K., & Henebry, G. M. (2014). Response of vegetation growth and productivity to spring climate indicators in the conterminous United States derived from satellite remote sensing data fusion. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 194, 132-143.
- Knight, M. R., & Knight, H. (2012). Low-temperature perception leading to gene expression and cold tolerance in higher plants. *New Phytologist*, 195(4), 737-751.
- Kodra, E., Steinhaeuser, K., & Ganguly, A. R. (2011). Persisting cold extremes under 21stcentury warming scenarios. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 38(8)
- Kumar, N., & Chaudhary, A. (2017). Pharmacognostic and phytochemical evaluation of Prunus persica (L.). *International Journal of Research and Development in Pharmacy & Life Sciences, 6*(6), 2806-2812.
- Kwon, J., Nam, E., Yun, S., Kim, S., Song, S., Lee, J., & Hwang, K. (2020a). Chilling and heat requirement of peach cultivars and changes in chilling accumulation spectrums based on 100-year records in Republic of Korea. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 288, 108009.
- Kwon, J., Nam, E., Yun, S., Kim, S., Song, S., Lee, J., & Hwang, K. (2020b). Chilling and heat requirement of peach cultivars and changes in chilling accumulation spectrums based on 100-year records in Republic of Korea. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 288, 108009.
- Lang, G. A., Early, J. D., Martin, G. C., & Darnell, R. L. (1987). Endo-, para-, and ecodormancy: physiological terminology and classification for dormancy research. *HortScience*, 22(3), 371-377.
- Lee, B., Henderson, D. A., & Zhu, J. (2005). The Arabidopsis cold-responsive transcriptome and its regulation by ICE1. *The Plant Cell*, 17(11), 3155-3175.
- Luedeling, E. (2012). Climate change impacts on winter chill for temperate fruit and nut production: A review. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *144*, 218-229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2012.07.011</u>
- Luedeling, E., Guo, L., Dai, J., Leslie, C., & Blanke, M. M. (2013). Differential responses of trees to temperature variation during the chilling and forcing phases. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, *181*, 33-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2013.06.018</u>
- Martínez-García, P. J., Parfitt, D. E., Ogundiwin, E. A., Fass, J., Chan, H. M., Ahmad, R., Lurie, S., Dandekar, A., Gradziel, T. M., & Crisosto, C. H. (2013). High density SNP mapping and QTL analysis for fruit quality characteristics in peach (Prunus persica L.). *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 9(1), 19-36.
- Milatović, D., Nikolić, D., & Djurović, D. (2010). Variability, heritability and correlations of some factors affecting productivity in peach. *Horticultural Science*, *37*(3), 79-87.
- Mir, H., & Patel, V. B. (2018). Chapter 5 Genetic Engineering of Temperate Fruit Crops. In G. R. Rout, & K. V. Peter (Eds.), *Genetic Engineering of Horticultural Crops* (pp. 89-119). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-810439-2.00005-2</u>
- Miranda, C., Urrestarazu, J., & Santesteban, L. G. (2021). fruclimadapt: An R package for climate adaptation assessment of temperate fruit species. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 180, 1. 10.1016/j.compag.2020.105879
- Monet, R., Guye, A., Roy, M., & Dachary, N. (1996). Peach Mendelian genetics: a short review and new results. *Agronomie*, 16(5), 321-329.
- Morgante, M., & Salamini, F. (2003). From plant genomics to breeding practice. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 14(2), 214-219.
- Muthuramalingam, P., Shin, H., Adarshan, S., Jeyasri, R., Priya, A., Chen, J., & Ramesh, M. (2022). Molecular Insights into Freezing Stress in Peach Based on Multi-Omics and Biotechnology: An Overview. *Plants*, 11(6), 812.
- Myneni, R. B., Keeling, C. D., Tucker, C. J., Asrar, G., & Nemani, R. R. (1997). Increased plant growth in the northern high latitudes from 1981 to 1991. *Nature*, *386*(6626), 698-702.
- NASS,2021. https://quickstats.nass.usda.gov/results/1C23F4DB-3156-3DD7-819E-6C51FBBBA84C?pivot=short_desc
- Oakley, C. G., Ågren, J., Atchison, R. A., & Schemske, D. W. (2014). QTL mapping of freezing tolerance: links to fitness and adaptive trade-offs. *Molecular Ecology*, 23(17), 4304-4315.
- Okie, W. R., Bacon, T., & Bassi, D. (2008). Fresh market cultivar development. *The peach: botany, production and uses* (pp. 139-174). CABI Cambridge.
- Penso, G. A., Citadin, I., Scariotto, S., Santos, C. E. M. d., Junior, A. W., Bruckner, C. H., & Rodrigo, J. (2020). Development of Peach Flower Buds under Low Winter Chilling Conditions. *Agronomy*, 10(3), 428. 10.3390/agronomy10030428
- Poling, E. B. (2008). Spring cold injury to winegrapes and protection strategies and methods. *HortScience*, 43(6), 1652-1662.
- Ramirez, F., & Kallarackal, J. (2015). *Responses of fruit trees to global climate change*. Springer.
- Raseira, M. d. C. B., Franzon, R. C., Feldberg, N. P., Scaranari, C., & Pereira, J. F. M. (2020). BRS Jaspe: a processing peach cultivar for low chill areas. *Crop Breeding and Applied Biotechnology*, 20
- Reyes, J. J., & Elias, E. (2019). Spatio-temporal variation of crop loss in the United States from 2001 to 2016. *Environmental Research Letters*, 14(7), 074017.

- Riedelsheimer, C., Lisec, J., Czedik-Eysenberg, A., Sulpice, R., Flis, A., Grieder, C., Altmann, T., Stitt, M., Willmitzer, L., & Melchinger, A. E. (2012). Genome-wide association mapping of leaf metabolic profiles for dissecting complex traits in maize. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(23), 8872-8877.
- Rieger, M., Lu, S., & Duemmel, M. (1991a). Frost tolerance of some peach and Japanese plum cultivars. *Fruit Varieties Journal (USA)*,
- Rieger, M., Lu, S., & Duemmel, M. (1991b). Frost tolerance of some peach and Japanese plum cultivars. *Fruit Varieties Journal (USA)*,
- Rieger, M., Lu, S., & Duemmel, M. (1991c). Frost tolerance of some peach and Japanese plum cultivars. *Fruit Varieties Journal (USA)*,
- Rieger, M., Lu, S., & Duemmel, M. (1991d). Frost tolerance of some peach and Japanese plum cultivars. *Fruit Varieties Journal (USA)*,
- Rodrigo García, J., Julián Lagunas, C., & Herrero Romero, M. (2006). Spring frost damage in buds, flowers and developing fruits in apricot.
- Rodrigo, J. (2000). Spring frosts in deciduous fruit trees—morphological damage and flower hardiness. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *85*(3), 155-173.
- Rodríguez, A., Pérez-López, D., Centeno, A., & Ruiz-Ramos, M. (2021). Viability of temperate fruit tree varieties in Spain under climate change according to chilling accumulation. *Agricultural Systems, 186*, 102961.
- Rodriguez, C. E., Bustamante, C. A., Budde, C. O., Müller, G. L., Drincovich, M. F., & Lara, M. V. (2019). Peach Fruit Development: A Comparative Proteomic Study Between Endocarp and Mesocarp at Very Early Stages Underpins the Main Differential Biochemical Processes Between These Tissues. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 715. 10.3389/fpls.2019.00715
- Romeu, J. F., Monforte, A. J., Sánchez, G., Granell, A., García-Brunton, J., Badenes, M. L., & Ríos, G. (2014). Quantitative trait loci affecting reproductive phenology in peach. *BMC Plant Biology*, 14(1), 1-16.
- Ruiz, D., Campoy, J. A., & Egea, J. (2007). Chilling and heat requirements of apricot cultivars for flowering. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *61*(3), 254-263.
- Ruiz-Sánchez, M. C., Abrisqueta, I., Conejero, W., & Vera, J. (2018). Chapter 6 Deficit Irrigation Management in Early-Maturing Peach Crop. In I. F. García Tejero, & V. H. Durán Zuazo (Eds.), *Water Scarcity and Sustainable Agriculture in Semiarid Environment* (pp. 111-129). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813164-0.00006-5</u>

- Schupp, J. R., Baugher, T. A., Miller, S. S., Harsh, R. M., & Lesser, K. M. (2008). Mechanical thinning of peach and apple trees reduces labor input and increases fruit size. *HortTechnology*, 18(4), 660-670.
- Scorza, R., & Okie, W. (1990). Peach (Prunus). Acta Hort, 290, 175-231.
- Scorza, R., & Okie, W. R. (1991). Peaches (Prunus). *Genetic Resources of Temperate Fruit and Nut Crops 290*, , 177-234.
- Shi, P., Xu, Z., Zhang, S., Wang, X., Ma, X., Zheng, J., Xing, L., Zhang, D., Ma, J., & Han, M. (2020). Construction of a high-density SNP-based genetic map and identification of fruitrelated QTLs and candidate genes in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *BMC Plant Biology*, 20(1), 1-16.
- Smith, M. W., Carroll, B. L., & Taylor, G. G. (1994a). Cold injury of peach and nectarine cultivars after a fall freeze. *HortScience*, 29(7), 821.
- Smith, M. W., Carroll, B. L., & Taylor, G. G. (1994b). Cold injury of peach and nectarine cultivars after a fall freeze. *HortScience*, 29(7), 821.
- Szalay, L., Papp, J., & SzaÃ³bo, Z. (1999a). Evaluation of frost tolerance of peach varieties in artificial freezing tests. Paper presented at the *Eucarpia Symposium on Fruit Breeding and Genetics 538*, 407-410.
- Szalay, L., Papp, J., & SzaÃ³bo, Z. (1999b). Evaluation of frost tolerance of peach varieties in artificial freezing tests. Paper presented at the *Eucarpia Symposium on Fruit Breeding and Genetics 538*, 407-410.
- Takagi, H., Abe, A., Yoshida, K., Kosugi, S., Natsume, S., Mitsuoka, C., Uemura, A., Utsushi, H., Tamiru, M., & Takuno, S. (2013). QTL-seq: rapid mapping of quantitative trait loci in rice by whole genome resequencing of DNA from two bulked populations. *The Plant Journal*, 74(1), 174-183.
- Téoulé, E., & Géry, C. (2014). Mapping of quantitative trait loci (QTL) associated with plant freezing tolerance and cold acclimation. *Plant Cold Acclimation* (pp. 43-64). Springer.
- Tittarelli, A., Santiago, M., Morales, A., Meisel, L. A., & Silva, H. (2009). Isolation and functional characterization of cold-regulated promoters, by digitally identifying peach fruit cold-induced genes from a large EST dataset. *BMC Plant Biology*, 9(1), 1-15.
- Tonutti, P., Casson, P., & Ramina, A. (1991). Ethylene biosynthesis during peach fruit development. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 116(2), 274-279.
- Topp, B. L., Sherman, W. B., & Raseira, M. (2008a). Low-chill cultivar development. *The Peach: Botany, Production and Uses.CAB International, Wallingford, UK*, , 106-138.

- Topp, B. L., Sherman, W. B., & Raseira, M. (2008b). Low-chill cultivar development. *The Peach: Botany, Production and Uses.CAB International, Wallingford, UK*, , 106-138.
- Valentini, N., Me, G., Ferrero, R., & Spanna, F. (2001). Use of bioclimatic indexes to characterize phenological phases of apple varieties in Northern Italy. *International Journal* of Biometeorology, 45(4), 191-195.
- Verde, I., Abbott, A. G., Scalabrin, S., Jung, S., Shu, S. Q., Marroni, F., Zhebentyayeva, T., Dettori, M. T., Grimwood, J., & Cattonaro, F.Int Peach Genome I (2013) The high-quality draft genome of peach (Prunus persica) identifies unique patterns of genetic diversity, domestication and genome evolution. *Nat Genet*, 45(5), 487-U447.
- Verde, I., Bassil, N., Scalabrin, S., Gilmore, B., Lawley, C. T., Gasic, K., Micheletti, D., Rosyara, U. R., Cattonaro, F., & Vendramin, E. (2012a). Development and evaluation of a 9K SNP array for peach by internationally coordinated SNP detection and validation in breeding germplasm. *PloS One*, 7(4), e35668.
- Verde, I., Bassil, N., Scalabrin, S., Gilmore, B., Lawley, C. T., Gasic, K., Micheletti, D., Rosyara, U. R., Cattonaro, F., & Vendramin, E. (2012b). Development and evaluation of a 9K SNP array for peach by internationally coordinated SNP detection and validation in breeding germplasm. *PloS One*, 7(4), e35668.
- Verde, I., Jenkins, J., Dondini, L., Micali, S., Pagliarani, G., Vendramin, E., Paris, R., Aramini, V., Gazza, L., & Rossini, L. (2017a). The Peach v2. 0 release: high-resolution linkage mapping and deep resequencing improve chromosome-scale assembly and contiguity. *BMC Genomics*, 18(1), 1-18.
- Verde, I., Jenkins, J., Dondini, L., Micali, S., Pagliarani, G., Vendramin, E., Paris, R., Aramini, V., Gazza, L., & Rossini, L. (2017b). The Peach v2. 0 release: high-resolution linkage mapping and deep resequencing improve chromosome-scale assembly and contiguity. *BMC Genomics*, 18(1), 1-18.
- Wang, H., Wang, H., Shao, H., & Tang, X. (2016). Recent advances in utilizing transcription factors to improve plant abiotic stress tolerance by transgenic technology. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7, 67.
- Wang, Q., Cao, K., Zhu, G., Fang, W., Chen, C., Wang, X., & Wang, L. (2019). Comparative transcriptome analysis of genes involved in the response of resistant and susceptible peach cultivars to water stress. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 245, 29-38.
- Wilson, S. (2001). Frost management in cool climate vineyards. *Report to Grape and Wine Research and Development Corporation, Adelaide, South Australia,*
- Wisniewski, M., Nassuth, A., Teulieres, C., Marque, C., Rowland, J., Cao, P. B., & Brown, A. (2014a). Genomics of cold hardiness in woody plants. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 33(2-3), 92-124.

- Wisniewski, M., Nassuth, A., Teulieres, C., Marque, C., Rowland, J., Cao, P. B., & Brown, A. (2014b). Genomics of cold hardiness in woody plants. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 33(2-3), 92-124.
- Wisniewski, M., Nassuth, A., Teulieres, C., Marque, C., Rowland, J., Cao, P. B., & Brown, A. (2014c). Genomics of cold hardiness in woody plants. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 33(2-3), 92-124.
- Wisniewski, M., Nassuth, A., Teulieres, C., Marque, C., Rowland, J., Cao, P. B., & Brown, A. (2014d). Genomics of cold hardiness in woody plants. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 33(2-3), 92-124.
- Wisniewski, M., Norelli, J., Bassett, C., Artlip, T., & Macarisin, D. (2011). Ectopic expression of a novel peach (Prunus persica) CBF transcription factor in apple (Malus× domestica) results in short-day induced dormancy and increased cold hardiness. *Planta, 233*(5), 971-983.
- Wisniewski, M., Webb, R., Balsamo, R., Close, T. J., Yu, X., & Griffith, M. (1999). Purification, immunolocalization, cryoprotective, and antifreeze activity of PCA60: a dehydrin from peach (Prunus persica). *Physiologia Plantarum*, 105(4), 600-608.
- Xie, R., Li, X., Chai, M., Song, L., Jia, H., Wu, D., Chen, M., Chen, K., Aranzana, M. J., & Gao, Z. (2010). Evaluation of the genetic diversity of Asian peach accessions using a selected set of SSR markers. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 125(4), 622-629.
- Xu, Y., & Crouch, J. H. (2008). Marker-assisted selection in plant breeding: From publications to practice. *Crop Science*, 48(2), 391-407.
- Yu, D. J., Jun, S. H., Park, J., Kwon, J. H., & Lee, H. J. (2020a). Transcriptome analysis of genes involved in cold hardiness of peach tree (Prunus persica) shoots during cold acclimation and deacclimation. *Genes*, 11(6), 611.
- Yu, D. J., Jun, S. H., Park, J., Kwon, J. H., & Lee, H. J. (2020b). Transcriptome analysis of genes involved in cold hardiness of peach tree (Prunus persica) shoots during cold acclimation and deacclimation. *Genes*, 11(6), 611.
- Yu, D. J., Jun, S. H., Park, J., Kwon, J. H., & Lee, H. J. (2020c). Transcriptome analysis of genes involved in cold hardiness of peach tree (Prunus persica) shoots during cold acclimation and deacclimation. *Genes*, 11(6), 611.
- Yu, H., Xie, W., Wang, J., Xing, Y., Xu, C., Li, X., Xiao, J., & Zhang, Q. (2011). Gains in QTL detection using an ultra-high density SNP map based on population sequencing relative to traditional RFLP/SSR markers. *PloS One*, 6(3), e17595.
- Zhao, C., Xie, M., Liang, L., Yang, L., Han, H., Qin, X., Zhao, J., Hou, Y., Dai, W., & Du, C. (2022). Genome-Wide Association Analysis Combined With Quantitative Trait Loci

Mapping and Dynamic Transcriptome Unveil the Genetic Control of Seed Oil Content in Brassica napus L. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 13

- Zhao, C., & Zhu, J. (2016). The broad roles of CBF genes: from development to abiotic stress. *Plant Signaling & Behavior, 11*(8), e1215794.
- Zhao, K., Tung, C., Eizenga, G. C., Wright, M. H., Ali, M. L., Price, A. H., Norton, G. J., Islam, M. R., Reynolds, A., & Mezey, J. (2011). Genome-wide association mapping reveals a rich genetic architecture of complex traits in Oryza sativa. *Nature Communications*, 2(1), 1-10.
- Zhao, T., Xia, H., Liu, J., & Ma, F. (2014). The gene family of dehydration responsive elementbinding transcription factors in grape (Vitis vinifera): genome-wide identification and analysis, expression profiles, and involvement in abiotic stress resistance. *Molecular Biology Reports*, 41, 1577-1590.

CHAPTER TWO

FRUITLET FREEZE TOLERANCE IN PEACH GERMPLASM

Introduction

Climate change, manifested as increase in temperature and or episodes of temperature spikes during winter, and insufficient cold exposure during dormancy increases tree vulnerability to spring frosts, and threatens fruit production worldwide (Castède et al., 2014a; Miranda et al., 2021). Freeze damage poses a significant ecological risk to stone fruit crops, and destructive spring frosts are projected to intensify due to global climate change (Gu et al., 2008). Peach (Prunus *persica* [L.] Batsch) is a highly economically valuable temperate fruit tree that is widely cultivated in moderate climatic zones throughout the world and, therefore, affected by climate change. Peach trees exhibit a remarkable adaptation to seasonal climatic variations by experiencing a period of dormancy during the winter months (Fadón et al., 2020). This evolutionary process involves shedding their leaves and entering a stage of reduced metabolic activity (endo-dormancy). Then, once trees have experienced adequate chilling temperatures, they are released from dormancy (ecodormancy) and start developing and blooming in response to warm temperatures. Increasingly warmer winters, as well as weather patterns with more severe winter and spring temperature fluctuations, disrupt this normal pattern. Warmer winters can cause trees to bloom prematurely and expose their flowers or fruitlets to lethal freezing temperatures. This scenario has caused disastrous losses of the peach crop in the southeastern U.S. in recent years. Numerous research has focused on assessing the susceptibility of trees, buds, and flowers to freezing events (Khorshidi et al., 2014; Rieger et al., 1991c; Yu, D. J. & Lee, 2020), but the fruitlet freeze tolerance is relatively understudied (Assmann et al., 2008c; Melgar et al., 2022; Rodrigo García et al., 2006b).

Various methods are available for assessing freeze damage, such as visual evaluation of tissue discoloration, thermal analysis, measure of electrolyte leakage, and triphenyl tetrazolium chloride reduction analysis, the selection and implementation of which mostly depend on the organ or tissue that is being assessed (Yu, D. J. & Lee, 2020). Dexter et al. (1932) first noted that freezing temperatures led to the destabilization of cellular membranes and an accelerated release of symplastic solutes from cells, e.g., electrolyte leakage. The electrolyte leakage has evolved into a standard method for assessing the relative quantity of cell damage in many species in reaction to biotic and abiotic stresses, including cold stress (AniśAko & Lindstrom, 1995; Fallon & Cavender-Bares, 2018; Hatsugai & Katagiri, 2018; Kreyling et al., 2015; Lenz et al., 2013a). The electrolyte leakage, and temperature at which 50% of tissue experiences damage (LT50), used to evaluate fruitlet freeze tolerance in selected peach germplasm from the National Clonal Germplasm Repository (NCGR) in Davis, CA, and Clemson University (Melgar et al., 2022) revealed freeze tolerance to temperatures as low as -10 °C, with majority of accessions exhibiting tolerance within -5 and -6 °C. The highest tolerance, < -8 °C, was observed in several cultivars from various breeding programs and released during last five decades ('White Lady', 'Scarletpearl', 'Raritan Rose', 'Manon', 'MA Blake', 'Canadian Harmony', 'Harrow Diamond', and 'Sugar Giant') suggesting that diversity for this trait in peach germplasm could be explored in breeding. However, the graphical presentation of the LT50 results revealed that the two accessions with similar LT50 values have distinctively different asymmetric sigmoid curve patterns. The authors suggested that further investigation is needed to determine how best to describe the level of freeze damage in the fruitlets. The research highlighted the possibility of harnessing the genetic potential for freeze tolerance in peach breeding to address the effect of changing climate and predicted more frequent late spring frosts on stone fruit production (Chamberlain et al., 2019a; Inouye, 2008; Martin et al.,

2010; Ru et al., 2023). These findings suggested that breeding for improved fruitlet freeze tolerance in peaches might be possible.

The breeding goals in peach breeding programs have evolved significantly over the decades (Byrne, David, 2005; Okie et al., 2008b). Initially, the focus was primarily on improving traits related to yield, disease resistance, and adaptability to specific growing regions. However, as consumer preferences and environmental concerns evolved, breeding goals shifted towards quality attributes, such as fruit flavor, appearance, and nutritional content (Gasic et al., 2022; Worthington & Clark, 2021). Importance of breeding for climate resilience or plasticity became more emphasized with production disruptions caused by climate change. However, focus was on the dormancy related traits, such as lowering chilling requirement and delaying bloom time (Campoy et al., 2019; Fan et al., 2010c), and not fruitlet freeze tolerance.

Therefore, we expanded the Melgar et al. (2022) study by evaluating fruitlet freeze tolerance and heritability in modern peach breeding germplasm. Our hypothesis was that observed diversity in peach fruitlets' ability to tolerate low temperatures is genetically controlled and can be used in breeding to incorporate fruitlet freeze tolerance in newly developed cultivars and provide recommendations to growers. The results of this study provide the foundation for further understanding the genetics behind this trait and support development of molecular tools to enable breeding of new peach cultivars with enhanced freeze tolerance.

34

Materials and methods

Peach and nectarine germplasm

Fifty-one peach and nine nectarine cultivars from the Clemson University *Prunus* germplasm collection and 15 advanced selections from Clemson University peach breeding program (CUPBP) were used for evaluation of their fruitlet tolerance to freezing temperatures following the protocol described in Melgar et al. (2022). The germplasm consisted of heirlooms, cultivars released or patented in the U.S. in the last five decades, and advanced selections from the CUPBP (Table 2.1). The material is maintained at the Clemson University Musser Fruit Research Center (Latitude: 34.639038, Longitude: -82.935244) in Seneca, SC, under warm, humid, moderate climate and standard commercial techniques for irrigation, fertilization, and pest-disease control. The trees used in the study were 7 - 10 years old, grafted on Guardian® rootstock and trained as perpendicular V or open-center vase. Chilling requirement (CR) in chill hours (CH), bloom dates in Julian date (JD), and heat requirement (HR) in growing degree hours (GDH) for this material were previously described in Demirel et al. (2021) and Atagul et al. (2022).

Phenotyping fruitlet freeze tolerance

One hundred fruitlets per accession were collected at the shuck-off stage with a diameter not exceeding 13 mm and transported to the laboratory during two seasons, 2022 and 2023. Fruitlet freeze tolerance was evaluated using the electrolyte leakage method (Melgar et al., 2022). Five fruitlets were placed into individual test tubes, with three replicates per accession and temperature, and immersed in ethylene glycol–water refrigerated bath (AP 20R-30, VWR, Radnor, PA, USA). Six treatments using different freezing temperatures: 0 °C, -2 °C, -4 °C, -6 °C, -8 °C, and -10 °C were applied, starting at 0°C and decreasing 2 degrees every hour. After one hour of exposure to each temperature, the three replicates corresponding to each specific temperature were withdrawn from the water bath, covered with Parafilm[®] (Bemis, Neenah, WI, USA) and placed in a refrigerator (4°C) to thaw gradually. After one hour in the refrigerator, 10 ml of deionized water was added to each tube and the tubes were shaken at 200 rpm overnight at room temperature, for at least 12 hours. The next day each tube was vortexed for a few seconds and electrical conductivity (EC1) was measured using a conductivity meter (Fisher Scientific Accumet AP85, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) to determine the amount of solutes from the fruitlets released into the solution. In the final step, the test tubes were autoclaved for 20 min at 121°C to completely disrupt the cell membranes and release all solutes contained within the cell into the surrounding solution. Following autoclaving, samples were allowed to cool down at room temperature and electrical conductivity was again measured (EC2). Electrolyte leakage was calculated as the ratio of ion leakage from freeze injury: $EL = EC1 \times 100/EC2$ (Barranco et al., 2005). The ratio of ion leakage at each temperature was used to develop a graphical interpretation of freeze tolerance throughout decreasing temperatures using SigmaPlot 13.0 (Systat, San Jose, CA, USA) and the following equation (Sigmoid, 4 Parameter):

$$f = y0 + a/(1 + exp(-(x - x0)/b))$$

where x0 = the temperature at the inflection point (LT50); b = Hill's slope of the curve (i.e., steepness of the curve at x0); y0 = the lowest electrolyte leakage value (at 0°C); and a = difference in electrolyte leakage between the minimum and maximum temperature.



Figure 2.1. Electrolyte leakage (Y axis) vs Temperature (X axis), x0, temperature at the inflection point (LT50); b, slope of the curve (steepness of the curve at x0); y0, lowest electrolyte leakage value (at 0 °C); a, difference in electrolyte leakage between minimum and maximum temperature; and b, Hill's slope of the curve (steepness of the curve at x0).

The temperature at which 50% of the ion leakage (LT50) occurred, termed the inflection point (IP), and the area under the sigmoidal curve (AUC) were recorded. In addition, the material was grouped into three tolerance groups (TG) based on the IP and the AUC. The TG1 (high tolerance), contained material exhibiting no freeze damage at temperatures < -6°C and with AUC

< 25%. The TG2 (intermediate tolerance), contained material exhibiting damage at temperatures from -5 to -6°C and having AUC between 25-35%; and the TG3 (low tolerance), contained material exhibiting damage to temperature >-5°C and having AUC > 35%.

Statistical data analyses

Statistical analyses were performed in R Studio version 2023.03.1 and SPSS v. 27 (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 27.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp)

Data normality and equal variance assumption was determined using the Shapiro – Wilk test. Spearman's correlation coefficient was used to estimate the relationship between two variables ranked on an ordinal scale.

Broad-sense heritability (H^2) was calculated as:

 $H^2 = \sigma g^2 / (\sigma g^2 + \sigma e^2/n),$

where σg^2 is the genetic variance, σe is the environmental variance and n is the number of years.

Data was organized in six datasets using the trait (IP, AUC) values obtained in each experimental season (2022-2023) and average value: IP2022, IP2023, IP_Ave, AUC2022, AUV2023 and AUC_Ave.

Results

Diverse peach (66) and nectarine (9) germplasm, consisting of cultivars important for the southeast U.S. peach industry (heirlooms and cultivars patented within the last five decades) was evaluated for fruitlet freeze tolerance (Table 2.1; Figure 2.1). The majority of cultivars were released within the last three decades of the 20^{th} century (1971-1999). Some of them are still grown in the southeast U.S. and used as standards in regional trials or represent important breeding parents used in peach breeding programs. This germplasm is adapted to or evaluated for suitability in the southeast U.S. with chilling requirement ranging from 500 to over 1,000 CH, majority being in the 600-900 CH range, bloom time best linear unbiased prediction (BLUP) value from 62 - 80 JD and estimated minimum heat requirement from 1,362 - 7,039 GDH.

Fruitlet freeze tolerance was estimated for 75 and 71 accessions in 2022 and 2023 season, respectively. Due to a damage from late spring frosts in 2023, fruitlets of peach cultivars FlavrBurst[™], Messina®, Rich May and Carored, were not included in the electrolyte leakage study. Inflection point (IP) and area under the curve (AUC) were used to determine the level of tolerance and group cultivars in tolerance groups (Table 2.1).

IP ranged from -3.94°C (IP2022) to -10.22°C (IP2023), with similar overall average IP (IP_Ave = -5.72°C) observed in both years (Table 2.2). Significant differences between IP ranges in the two experimental years were observed, with a wider range (-4.02 to -10.22 °C) observed in IP2022 and a narrower range (-3.94 to -7.79 °C) in IP2023 dataset. IP distribution was skewed towards lower tolerance in 2022 and did not exhibit normal distribution (Shapiro Wilk test; W = 0.91135, p-value = 6.484e-05) (Figure 2.2). However, bimodal normal distribution (Shapiro Wilk test; W = 0.97354, p-value = 0.1385) was observed in IP2023 dataset (Figure 2.2).

Table 2.1. Characteristics of the U.S. modern peach breeding germplasm used in this study, including fruitlet freeze tolerance and classification in freeze tolerance groups based on IP (inflection point, °C) and AUC (area under the curve, %). Fruit type – FT; origin – country (state); CR - chilling requirement in chill hours (CH); HR - heat requirement in growing degree hours (GDH); BD - bloom date (BLUP) in Julian Days (JD).

				CR	HR	BD	Fruitlet Fr	eeze					Gı	rouping	3	
Accession ¹	FT	Origin	Released	(CH)	(GDH)	(JD)	2022		2023		Avera	ıge	20	22	20	23
							IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC
Elberta	Р	US (GA)	1889	800	5112	75	-5.29	32.59	-5.93	35.35	-5.61	33.97	2	2	2	3
Redrose	Р	US (NJ)	1940	850	1654	75	-6.4	26.35	-5.72	33.58	-6.06	29.97	1	2	2	2
Loring	Р	US (MO)	1946	800	3667	73	-5.14	42.43	-5.41	27.32	-5.28	34.88	2	3	2	2
Coronet	Р	US (GA)	1953	588	5934	69	-6	38.67	-5.82	39.08	-5.91	38.88	2	3	2	3
Redglobe	Р	US (MD)	1954	850	1654	75	-5.96	24.69	-5.43	17.69	-5.70	21.19	2	1	2	1
June Gold	Р	US (CA)	1959	650	4879	68	-4.04	45.67	-5.49	33.32	-4.77	39.50	3	3	2	2
Parade	Р	US (CA)	1960	800	3762	72	-7.63	22.48	-5.32	18.52	-6.48	20.50	1	1	2	1
Jefferson	Р	US (VA)	1960	850	3578	77	-4.22	34.46	-5.34	28.66	-4.78	31.56	3	2	2	2
Cresthaven	Р	US (MI)	1963	950	5506	74	-4.62	35.72	-5.51	27.05	-5.07	31.39	3	3	2	2
Empress	Р	US (CA)	1964	650	5400	69	-5.84	31.56	-5.36	32.37	-5.60	31.97	2	2	2	2
Big Red	Р	US (FL)	1969	750	5193	72	-5.32	29.86	-5.01	25.36	-5.17	27.61	2	2	2	2
O'Henry	Р	US (CA)	1970	800	4876	74	-5.53	28.03	-5.3	28.86	-5.42	28.45	2	2	2	2
Brightstar	Р	US (CA)	1976	708	6242	74	-7.62	23.98	-7.54	23.45	-7.58	23.72	1	1	1	1
Topaz	Р	US (MO)	1976	700	-	-	-6.01	23.28	-5.6	24.75	-5.81	24.02	1	1	2	1
Biscoe	Р	US (NC)	1977	900	5380	73	-5.65	34.44	-5.92	28.97	-5.79	31.71	2	2	2	2
Majestic	Р	US (LA)	1979	750	5869	73	-4.66	37.06	-5.47	35.18	-5.07	36.12	3	3	2	3
Sunprince	Р	US (GA)	1982	800	3402	71	-7.77	21.95	-5.95	21.95	-6.86	21.95	1	1	2	1
Silver Gem	Ν	US (CA)	1982	-	-	-	-6.55	20.91	-6.75	22.13	-6.65	21.52	1	1	1	1

				CR	HR	BD	Fruitlet F	reeze						Gro	apiı	ng
Accession	FT	Origin	Released	(CH)	(GDH)	(JD)	202	22	20)23	Avera	age	20	22	20	23
							IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC
Ruston Red	Р	US (LA)	1982	800	-	-	-4.88	33.05	-4.64	32.66	-4.76	32.86	2	2	3	2
Goldcrest	Р	US (CA)	1984	650	4598	66	-5.75	35.75	-4.65	36.63	-5.20	36.19	2	3	3	3
Juneprince	Р	US (GA)	1985	650	4598	67	-5.57	32.63	-6.2	29.85	-5.89	31.24	2	2	1	2
Fireprince	Р	US (GA)	1985	850	5796	73	-4.13	34.27	-5.75	28.72	-4.94	31.50	3	2	2	2
Caroking	Р	US (SC)	1987	636	5824	71	-4.46	40.11	-4.04	44.16	-4.25	42.14	3	3	3	3
Tra-Zee	Р	US (CA)	1988	800	5915	80	-5.29	28.47	-5.39	29.05	-5.34	28.76	2	2	2	2
Carogem	Р	US (SC)	1989	850	2178	75	-6.35	28.15	-5.9	25.3	-6.13	26.73	1	2	2	2
Scarlet Pearl	Р	US (GA)	1989	750	5531	72	-4.68	38.57	-6	35.06	-5.34	36.82	3	3	2	3
Summer Fire	Ν	US (CA)	1990	-	-	-	-8.62	20.93	-6.16	23.62	-7.39	22.28	1	1	1	1
Rich May	Р	US (CA)	1991	800	3402	70	-5.39	35.31	-	-	-5.39	35.31	2	3	-	-
Summerprince	Р	US (GA)	1992	850	5242	71	-6.75	22.59	-7.24	24.76	-7.00	23.68	1	1	1	1
Glory	Р	US (GA)	1992	800	5280	74	-6.25	21.85	-5.4	15.75	-5.83	18.80	1	1	2	1
Rich Joy	Р	US (CA)	1992	850	-	-	-4.25	44.13	-4.37	39.06	-4.31	41.60	3	3	3	3
Arctic Pride	Ν	US (CA)	1993	800	2846	69	-10.22	19.36	-6.04	23.8	-8.13	21.58	1	1	1	1
Flameprince	Р	US (GA)	1993	850	5661	72	-5.11	32.13	-6.21	29.56	-5.66	30.85	2	2	1	2
Guardian®	Р	US (SC)	1993	850	-	-	-4.99	25.98	-5.79	25.57	-5.39	25.78	3	2	2	2
P.F. 23	Р	US (MI)	1993	700	5287	69	-4.84	32.03	-5.8	34.82	-5.32	33.43	3	2	2	2
Arctic Gold	Ν	CFZ	1995	-	-	-	-5.98	23.11	-5.65	22.38	-5.82	22.75	2	1	2	1
Autumn Red	Р	US (CA)	1996	800	5284	78	-4.48	31.97	-5.42	33.35	-4.95	32.66	3	2	2	2
Sweet September	Р	US (CA)	1997	850	2350	80	-8.28	25.35	-5.97	25.44	-7.13	25.40	1	2	2	2
Autumnprince	Р	US (GA)	1997	800	3901	73	-7.26	26.71	-6.29	26	-6.78	26.36	1	2	1	2
Snow Prince	Р	US (CA)	1997	-	-	-	-6.21	23.92	-6.59	20.01	-6.40	21.97	1	1	1	1
Rubyprince	Р	US (GA)	1997	850	-	-	-5.42	31.87	-7.79	27.14	-6.61	29.51	2	2	1	2
Juneprincess	Ν	US (GA)	1997	850	6117	73	-4.02	18.7	-4.08	24.49	-4.05	21.60	3	1	3	1
Arctic Belle	Ν	US (CA)	1998	900	6076	75	-6.9	21.02	-6.98	23.94	-6.94	22.48	1	1	1	1

				CR	HR	BD	Fruitlet Fr	reeze					Gı	ouping	3	
Accession	FT	Origin	Released	(CH)	(GDH)	(JD)	2022		2023		Avera	ıge	20	22	20	23
							IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC
Arctic Blaze	Ν	US (CA)	1998	750	4476	69	-6.88	19.82	-5.39	23.07	-6.14	21.45	1	1	2	1
Sureprince	Р	US (GA)	1998	950	5260	73	-5.89	36.89	-6.24	37.52	-6.07	37.21	2	3	1	3
Valley Sweet	Р	US (CA)	1998	700	4485	64	-5.49	32.21	-5.98	29.21	-5.74	30.71	2	2	2	2
Joanna Sweet	Р	US (CA)	1999	800	5112	75	-4.96	31.86	-5.63	34.7	-5.30	33.28	3	2	2	2
John Boy	Р	US (PA)	2000	800	4365	74	-5.37	31.84	-6.35	28.24	-5.86	30.04	2	2	1	2
China Pearl	Р	US (NC)	2001	1100	-	-	-4.65	36.53	-3.94	35.74	-4.30	36.14	3	3	3	3
Arrington	Ν	US (AR)	2002	750	5193	72	-6.5	22.53	-4.97	32.69	-5.74	27.61	1	1	3	2
Westbrook	Ν	US (AR)	2002	750	4791	73	-6.26	23.54	-7.32	23.23	-6.79	23.39	1	1	1	1
White River	Р	US (AR)	2002	700	-	-	-5.27	34.31	-5.7	29.89	-5.49	32.10	2	2	2	2
Julyprince	Р	US (GA)	2004	850	1654	75	-4.05	47.76	-4.91	40.38	-4.48	44.07	3	3	3	3
Carored	Р	US (SC)	2005	612	6197	69	-5.49	35.52	-	-	-5.49	35.52	2	3	-	-
Augustprince	Р	US (GA)	2006	850	1547	75	-6.25	25.16	-5.38	32.18	-5.82	28.67	1	2	2	2
Early Augustprince	Р	US (GA)	2006	800	5112	74	-5.95	23.42	-6.61	16.14	-6.28	19.78	2	1	1	1
Messina®	Р	US (NJ)	2006	-	-	-	-5.95	33.57	-	-	-5.95	33.57	2	2	-	-
FlavrBurst TM	Р	US (WV)	2008	-	-	-	-4.9	33.31	-	-	-4.90	33.31	3	2	-	-
SummerFest™	Р	US (WV)	2010	-	-	-	-5.6	23.27	-6.21	23.93	-5.91	23.60	2	1	1	1
Sweetstar	Р	France	2010	-	-	-	-4.75	30.75	-7.06	26.27	-5.91	28.51	3	2	1	2
SC-01	Р	US (SC)	-	800	2706	66	-4.75	37.28	-5.05	37.95	-4.90	37.62	3	3	2	3
SC-02	Р	US (SC)	-	564	5947	62	-5.62	32.7	-5.32	30.02	-5.47	31.36	2	2	2	2
SC-03	Р	US (SC)	-	972	3877	77	-5.36	28.96	-5.34	27.77	-5.35	28.37	2	2	2	2
SC-04	Р	US (SC)	-	996	3052	76	-4.58	31.16	-5.6	33.68	-5.09	32.42	3	2	2	2
SC-05	Р	US (SC)	-	1068	4147	78	-5.18	32.46	-4.74	34.69	-4.96	33.58	2	2	3	2
SC-06	Р	US (SC)	-	1116	4856	72	-6	34.87	-5.27	27.35	-5.64	31.11	2	2	2	2
SC-07	Р	US (SC)	-	972	1362	70	-5.58	23.27	-7.24	24.48	-6.41	23.88	2	1	1	1
SC-08	Р	US (SC)	-	800	5095	69	-5.43	24.31	-6.85	27.66	-6.14	25.99	2	1	1	2

				CR	HR	BD	Fruitlet Fr	eeze					Gı	ouping	g	
Accession	FT	Origin	Released	(CH)	(GDH)	(JD)	2022		2023		Avera	nge	20	22	20)23
							IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC
SC-09	Р	US (SC)	-	708	5473	71	-4.93	35.46	-5.72	35.57	-5.33	35.52	3	3	2	3
SC-10	Р	US (SC)	-	516	5997	62	-5.72	26.79	-5.97	26.32	-5.85	26.56	2	2	2	2
SC-11	Р	US (SC)	-	1068	3779	73	-5.85	30.04	-5.64	31.74	-5.75	30.89	2	2	2	2
SC-12	Р	US (SC)	-	540	7039	67	-6.43	27.13	-6.05	25.89	-6.24	26.51	1	2	1	2
SC-13	Р	US (SC)	-	516	6863	65	-5.7	28.32	-6.58	28.21	-6.14	28.27	2	2	1	2
SC-14	Р	US (SC)	-	-	-	-	-5.44	30.24	-5.29	29.8	-5.37	30.02	2	2	2	2
SC-15	Р	US (SC)	-	-	-	-	-5.27	31.5	-5.78	28.17	-5.53	29.84	2	2	2	2

¹Accessions are ordered based on the year of release. Peach – P and nectarine – N. FlavrBurstTM (KV00398); Messina® (NJ352);

SummerFestTM (KV981175)



Figure 2.2. Distribution of peach and nectarine germplasm by release year

The highest negative temperature at which fruitlet damage was observed was -3.94°C, in peach 'Sweetstar', in IP2023, and the lowest temperature at which the highest fruitlet tolerance was observed was -10.22°C in nectarine 'Arctic Pride' in IP2022. The remaining accessions fell within the range of freezing temperatures between these two extremes with the majority showing fruitlet tolerance in -4 to -6°C range in both datasets (Table 2.1; Figure 2.2). When IP values were used in grouping the accessions in tolerance groups (TG) 26.67% of material grouped as least (TG3) and most tolerant (TG1) and 46.67% were in the intermediate group (TG2) in 2022 (Table 2.1). A similar grouping was observed with IP2023 data with 28% characterized as most tolerant (TG1), 54.6% as intermediate (TG2), 12% as least tolerant (TG3) and 5.4% not applicable (NA). While most cultivars and selections maintained the group in both datasets, some discrepancies were observed. The most apparent change was from extreme groups to intermediate, with the most extreme change observed for peach cultivar 'Sweetstar' that moved from TG1 in 2022 to TG3 in

2023. The most tolerant group based on the IP2022 data consisted of cultivars released in the last century with few heirlooms such as 'Redrose' and 'Parade' released in 1940 and 1960, respectively, and three newer releases, two nectarines from University of Arkansas, 'Westbrook' and 'Arrington' released in 2002, and one peach from USDA, Byron, GA, 'Augustprince' released in 2006. Interestingly, seven nectarine cultivars, Arctic Belle, Arctic Blaze, Arctic Pride, Arrington, Silver Gem, Summer Fire, and Westbrook, were grouped in the most tolerant group based on IP2022, with five of them (Arctic Belle, Arctic Pride, Silver Gem, Summer Fire, and Westbrook) being classified in the same most tolerant group in 2023. Selections from the CUPBP were mostly grouped in TG2 (75 and 73% in 2022 and 2023, respectively) with SC-12 being the most tolerant in both 2022 and 2023.

Broad sense heritability of 0.52, was obtained with IP data from both seasons (Table 2.2).

Table 2.2. Descriptive statistics of fruitlet freeze tolerance observed in peach and nectarine germplasm in 2022 and 2023 season for inflection point (IP) and area under curve (AUC).

Trait	Ν	Min	Max	Mean	SD	H^2
IP-2022 (°C)	75	-10.22	-4.02	-5.68	1.1	0.52
IP-2023 <u>(°C)</u>	71	-7.79	-3.94	-5.76	0.79	0.32
AUC-2022 (%)	75	18.7	47.76	30.12	6.49	0.95
AUC-2023 (%)	71	15.75	44.16	28.83	5.86	0.85
IP_Ave (°C)		-9	-3.98	-5.72		
AUC_Ave (%)		17.23	45.96	29.48%		

N, number of analyzed samples; SD, standard deviation; H^2 , broad sense heritability; Ave; average. Extreme values are bolded.



Figure 2.3. Frequency distribution of Inflection Point (IP) and area under the curve (AUC) of fruitlet freeze tolerance within the peach and nectarine germplasm in 2022 and 2023 season.

Fruitlet freeze tolerance was obtained by using the parameters i inflection point (IP) and area under the curve (AUC). IP determined the temperature at which 50% of the material (fruitlets) show sign of freeze damage (Figure 2.3; Appendix A and B) but could not accurately represent the performance of the fruitlets under the freezing temperatures as divergence and steepness of the sigmoid curve are not well represented by its value. For example, the same IP of approximately - 5.9°C was observed in 'Glory', 'Fireprince', and 'Julyprince' (Figure 2.4, red arrow), but the actual temperature when fruitlets were starting to experience damage differed. Fruitlets of 'Julyprince' began to show damage at -2°C, 'Glory' at -4°C and fruitlets of 'Fireprince' did not show any freeze damage until below -5 °C (Figure 2.4). This difference is also reflected in not normal distribution of the IP data and in grouping based on the IP value, as cultivars with distinct divergence in curve slopes are grouped together (Appendix A and B).



Figure 2.4. Patterns of fruitlet freeze response to freezing temperatures observed in three peach cultivars in 2023. Sigmoid curve and inflection point (red arrow) showing 50% of ion leakage. Area under the curve is shaded blue. Ratio is electrolyte leakage.

Therefore, to obtain a more accurate description of the fruitlet freeze tolerance, we calculated the AUC for each accession as the curve's steepness shows the initiation and rate of leakage. Even though the three cultivars, in the example above, showed similar IP the curve slopes and therefore AUC were quite different. The AUC observed in the three cultivars shown in Figure 3 ranged from 22% in 'Glory', 29% in 'Fireprince' to 47% in 'Julyprince', suggesting the highest fruitlet freeze tolerance in 'Glory' and lowest in 'Julyprince' (Figure 2.4; Table 2.1). In this example, it is worth noting that although AUC values for 'Glory' make it appear more tolerant than 'Fireprince', 'Fireprince's fruitlets showed almost two degrees higher tolerance as they did not begin to leak electrolytes until lower temperature (-6°C) and therefore should be considered having higher fruitlet freeze tolerance (Figure 2.3). That means a higher percentage is less tolerant.

Overall AUC in all peach and nectarine accessions ranged from 15.75% in 2023 to 47.76%in 2022 (Table 2.2). AUC was normally distributed (Shapiro Wilk test; W = 0.96973, p-value = 0.06932 in 2022; 0.98839, p-value = 0.7603 in 2023) in both years and showed bimodal distribution (Figure 2). The AUC interval was similar in the two experimental years, 29.06% and 28.41% in 2022 and 2023, respectively (Table 2.2). The lowest AUC was calculated in 2023, with 13.08% less fruitlet damage than the average, while the highest damage occurred in 2022, 17.64% freezing damage more than the mean (Table 2.2). Overall, the lowest AUC, 15.75%, was observed in 'Glory' in 2023, while the highest damage was detected in fruitlets of 'Julyprince' in 2022. Commercial peach cultivars Julyprince, June Gold, Rich Joy, and Caroking exhibited high degree of susceptibility to freeze tolerance, with AUC values of 47.7, 45.6, 44.1, and 40.1%, respectively (Table 2.1). Interestingly, the same cultivars had the lowest IP range, - 4.03 and - 4.45 °C. Based on IP, the highest fruitlet resilience to freezing temperatures was observed in nectarines 'Arctic Pride' and 'Summerfire' and peaches 'Rubyprince' and 'Sweet September'. Grouping of peach and nectarine accessions based on the observed AUC values revealed majority of material in intermediate group TG2 (50 and 53% in 2022 and 2023, respectively), and 28 and 26% of accessions in most tolerant (TG1), and 22 and 17% in the least tolerant (TG3) group in AUC2022 and AUC2023 datasets, respectively (Table 2.1). Most accessions maintained their group regardless of season with few changing from most ('Arrington' and SC-8) or least ('June Gold', 'Loring' and 'Cresthaven') tolerant to intermediate. Similar to IP grouping, AUC grouping classified all nine nectarines as most tolerant (TG1) in both years, except 'Arrington' which moved to TG2 in 2023 (AUC=27%), with 5% difference in AUC between the two seasons and only 2% over the group threshold. Two CUPBP selections SC-8 and SC-7 were in the most tolerant group in 2022 with SC-7 in 2023 having AUC of 27%, 2% above the threshold for the TG1. The CUPBP selection SC-12 was grouped as intermediate in both AUC2022 and AUC2023 datasets, with 2 and 0.86%, respectively, above the threshold of the TG1.



Figure 2.5. Inflection Point and Area Under the Curve distribution in modern peach breeding germplasm evaluated over two years.

Similar to IP, high broad sense heritability ($H^2=0.85$) was obtained for AUC, revealing high ratio of total genetic variance for fruitlet freeze tolerance in total phenotypic variance (Table 2.2).



Figure 2.6. Correlation between inflection point (IP) and Area under the curve (AUC) among years (2022 to 2023). Asterisks indicate the Spearman correlation coefficient at a significance level of p < 0.01 (**) and p < 0.001 (***).

Comparison of the median positions within the IP violins revealed similarities in the distribution of IP values across the two experimental years (Figure 2.5). The median line within the AUC violins indicated a higher median for 2022 compared to 2023 season. Furthermore, the width of the violin plots reveals that the AUC distribution was broader in comparison to the IP distribution, suggesting a higher degree of variability reflected by the AUC data.

Spearman correlation analysis revealed highly significant positive correlation among all datasets (Figure 2.6). The lowest correlation was observed for IP between years (0.40), while the highest correlation was observed between AUC datasets, 0.80 and IP2022 and AUC2022 (0.66) (Figure 2.6).

Discussion

We have evaluated fruitlet freeze tolerance in the peach germplasm important to the southeast U.S. peach industry. This research addressed the pressing demand for a standardized phenotyping protocol to assess the freeze tolerance of developing fruitlets, a trait of critical importance to temperate fruit production. Although electrolyte leakage is commonly used to measure tolerance of other tissues (typically leaves), this method is frequently utilized in plant physiology to assess plant response to stress (Dionisio-Sese & Tobita, 1998). The connection between freezing-induced damage is associated with the rupture of biological membranes (Ziegler & Kandler, 1980) that is measured via the electrolyte leakage technique. During the initial phase of spring, after transition from endo- to eco- dormancy and prior to bud burst, there is a gradual reduction in freezing resistance as temperatures ascend, culminating with the emergence of fruitlets (Yu et al., 2020a). Upon the initiation of growth, freeze tolerance becomes permanently diminished, and plants are unable to undergo a process of re-acclimation to lower temperatures (Rapacz, 2002; Repo, 1991; Sakai & Larcher, 2012a). Dormancy and de-acclimation stages are well researched in temperate fruit trees and peach (Griffith & Einhorn, 2023; Liu, J. & Sherif, 2019). However, little is known about fruitlet freeze tolerance. Breeding for climate resilience in peach trees in addition to dormancy related traits (chilling and heat requirement) to delay the bloom time must include fruitlet freeze tolerance to ensure peach production sustainability. Therefore, to support breeding for fruitlet freeze tolerance in peach we evaluated modern peach breeding germplasm for fruitlet freeze tolerance using the electrolyte leakage method and expressed phenotypic differences as IP and AUC.

Fruitlet freeze tolerance observed in the peach germplasm evaluated in this study was variable across seasons (2022 and 2023) and traits (IP and AUC), with AUC exhibiting better

stability. Commercial peach cultivars Julyprince, June Gold, Rich Joy, and Caroking exhibited high degrees of susceptibility to freeze tolerance, with AUC values of above 40% (Table 2.1). Furthermore, these cultivars had the lowest IP range, - 4.03 and - 4.45°C, close to the critical temperature (\sim -3°C) for causing damage to fruitlets (Murray, 2020). Cultivars Arctic Pride, Rubyprince, Summerfire, and Sweet September exhibited remarkable tolerance to freezing conditions, as evidenced by their significantly reduced ion leakage in comparison to other cultivars (19-27%) and the temperature at the IP close to -10°C (Table 2.1). This suggested that fruitlets of these cultivars have a high tolerance to low temperatures which is in agreement with previous reports (Melgar et al., 2022).

Lower correlation between IP datasets posed difficulty in comparing data from different studies. However, the values were similar when the data from the Melgar et al. (2021) were used to calculate AUC.

The outcomes of this study indicate that fruitlet freeze tolerance in peach germplasm shows a diverse range of responses, with LT50 values ranging from -3.94°C to -10.22°C. Furthermore, the accessions exhibited varying degrees of vulnerability to freeze tolerance, with AUC values ranging from 16% to 48%. While all three approaches were effective in explaining fruitlet freeze tolerance, it is worth noting that the IP value was most variable and vulnerable to methodological error. For example, the observed difference in IP values could be attributed to variation in fruitlet sampling due to slight differences in fruitlet size and or timing between sampling and analysis that could affect healing of the scar after fruitlet detachment from the branch, thus, increasing electrolyte leakage and skewing the results. Another important point is the steepness of the curve. When the slope is highly inclined, most fruits are damaged simultaneously. In opposition, on a gentler slope, some fruits may be damaged sooner, while others may be affected later. The timing of damage to specific fruits on a less steep slope can also be crucial in determining overall crop success. The difference of just one degree in tolerance in peach production could mean having the peach crop or not, so it is important to further describe the fruitlet freeze tolerance. Even though the AUC was obtained from sigmoid curve developed using LT50 data, this study showed that AUC approach reduces data variability and, therefore, might be more precise in predicting cultivar's response to freezing temperatures. This is also supported by the assignment of cultivars to tolerance groups using IP and AUC, as lower group assignment mismatch was observed for AUC than IP values. Furthermore, the mismatches observed in the AUC group assignment were on the borderline of the TG threshold.

Interestingly, nectarine fruitlets showed high tolerance in both seasons suggesting that the pubescence might influence fruitlets susceptibility/tolerance to freezing temperatures. Single gene mutation from pubescent (*G*-) to glabrous (*gg*) skin on chromosome 5 is the difference between the peach and nectarine phenotype (Dirlewanger et al., 2006; Vendramin et al., 2014a). Other subtle differences in the flesh density and texture between peach and nectarine are suggested and speculated to be attributed to the pleiotropic effect of the single gene mutation, but the research documenting them is lacking. One could speculate that nectarine fruitlet increased tolerance to freezing temperatures observed in this study is due to the origin of the material or with morphological characteristics of the fruit tissues e.g., lower water content in the nectarine fruit tissue than in peach (Wen et al., 1995). The formation of intercellular or intracellular ice crystals can lead to cell death. Several studies on grape plants suggested that freeze damage during spring is caused by the formation of intercellular ice rather than intra-cellular ice formation (Wilson, 2001). The generation of a water vapor gradient between the interior and exterior of cells directly contributes to intercellular ice crystal formation. Furthermore, cells become dehydrated as water

moves from the interior to the exterior of the cell and accumulates on intercellular ice crystals, causing a loss of turgor (Poling, 2008). That might be the potential reason why we observed higher tolerance in nectarines than peaches.

Studies mostly focused on the trichome morphology and differences between peach and nectarine but never on other aspects of fruit morphology (Vendramin et al., 2014b). It would be interesting to explore this line of thought and determine the cause of higher tolerance to freeze in nectarine fruitlets in laboratory experiments, especially since we do not have field observation to support this observation nor it was reported in the literature (Blake, 1932). The lab data suggests significant differences between peach and nectarines, thus, expanding the fruitlet freeze evaluation to include more nectarine cultivars might help explain observations made here.

Tolerance group assignment based on the IP and AUC could be valuable information for advising growers about cultivars whose young fruit tolerate low temperatures so they can incorporate this information when choosing the cultivars to plant in areas more prone to freezing. They can also use this information to arrange special protection (e.g., wind machines, irrigation) when they have limited resources to reduce the impact of late spring (radiation) frosts, as a change in just a few degrees could mean a difference between full production or a total crop loss. Thus, this study may be a steppingstone for growers and county agents to incorporate information on the freezing tolerance of fruits according to their area and minimize possible economic damage. This information can also be useful to breeders that consider climate resilience as an important trait.

The observed variation of IP among cultivars suggests that both IP and AUC would be beneficial for estimating fruitlet freeze tolerance through multiple conditions or time and could be used for informing growers, county agents and breeders about potential of cultivars to tolerate low spring temperatures. Increased frequency in occurrence of spring frosts all over the world is putting emphasis on adding this trait in breeding efforts for climate resilience. It is crucial to conduct more in-depth investigations into the influence of climate characteristics of plants. As evidenced with the peach crop losses in the southeast U.S. in the last two decades, ensuring satisfaction of chill requirement and increasing heat requirement to delay bloom are no longer enough to ensure sustainability of peach production in the changing climate. Thus, fruitlet freeze tolerance should be included in the suite of traits when breeding for climate resilience. Furthermore, broad sense heritability estimated in this study supports genetic control of the fruitlet freeze tolerance in peach and nectarine germplasm and potential for improvement of this trait via breeding. This is the first extensive study into the peach fruitlet freeze tolerance that lays foundation for further investigation into the genetic control of this trait.

Conclusion

Climate change and increased occurrence of freezing temperature events during spring in the southeastern region of the United States, require better understanding of the genetic control of all climate resilience traits (chilling and heat requirement, bloom time and fruitlet freeze tolerance) to ensure sustainability of peach production. This study showed that peach germplasm is variable in fruit freeze tolerance. The wide diversity of fruitlet freeze tolerance, and broad-sense heritability (H^2) estimates of 0.52 and 0.85 for LT50 and the area under the curve, respectively, observed in peaches suggests that this trait is genetically controlled and has the potential to be used in breeding. Consequently, the results of this study lay the groundwork for future investigation into the regions of the peach genome responsible for controlling this trait.

Works cited

- Abbott, A. G., Zhebentyayeva, T., Barakat, A., & Liu, Z. (2015). The genetic control of budbreak in trees. *Advances in botanical research* (pp. 201-228). Elsevier.
- Ahmad, R., Parfitt, D. E., Fass, J., Ogundiwin, E., Dhingra, A., Gradziel, T. M., Lin, D., Joshi, N. A., Martinez-Garcia, P. J., & Crisosto, C. H. (2011). Whole genome sequencing of peach (Prunus persica L.) for SNP identification and selection. *BMC Genomics*, 12, 1-7.
- Alburquerque, N., García-Montiel, F., Carrillo, A., & Burgos, L. (2008). Chilling and heat requirements of sweet cherry cultivars and the relationship between altitude and the probability of satisfying the chill requirements. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 64(2), 162-170.
- Allona, I., Ramos, A., Ibáñez, C., Contreras, A., Casado, R., & Aragoncillo, C. (2008). Molecular control of winter dormancy establishment in trees: a review. *Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research*, 6, 201-210.
- Alonso-Blanco, C., Gomez-Mena, C., Llorente, F., Koornneef, M., Salinas, J., & Martínez-Zapater, J. M. (2005). Genetic and molecular analyses of natural variation indicate CBF2 as a candidate gene for underlying a freezing tolerance quantitative trait locus in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology*, 139(3), 1304-1312.
- AniśAko, T., & Lindstrom, O. M. (1995). Applying the Richards function in freezing tolerance determination with electrolyte and phenolic leakage techniques. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 95(2), 281-287.
- Aranzana, M. J., Decroocq, V., Dirlewanger, E., Eduardo, I., Gao, Z. S., Gasic, K., Iezzoni, A., Jung, S., Peace, C., & Prieto, H. (2019a). Prunus genetics and applications after de novo genome sequencing: achievements and prospects. *Horticulture Research*, 6
- Aranzana, M. J., Decroocq, V., Dirlewanger, E., Eduardo, I., Gao, Z. S., Gasic, K., Iezzoni, A., Jung, S., Peace, C., & Prieto, H. (2019b). Prunus genetics and applications after de novo genome sequencing: achievements and prospects. *Horticulture Research*, 6
- Aranzana, M. J., Decroocq, V., Dirlewanger, E., Eduardo, I., Gao, Z. S., Gasic, K., Iezzoni, A., Jung, S., Peace, C., & Prieto, H. (2019c). Prunus genetics and applications after de novo genome sequencing: achievements and prospects. *Horticulture Research*, 6
- Aranzana, M. J., Illa, E., Howad, W., & Arús, P. (2012). A first insight into peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch] SNP variability. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 8, 1359-1369.
- Arora, R., & Wisniewski, M. E. (1994). Cold acclimation in genetically related (sibling) deciduous and evergreen peach (Prunus persica [L.] Batsch)(II. A 60-kilodalton bark protein

in cold-acclimated tissues of peach is heat stable and related to the dehydrin family of proteins). *Plant Physiology*, *105*(1), 95-101.

- Artlip, T. S., Callahan, A. M., Bassett, C. L., & Wisniewski, M. E. (1997). Seasonal expression of a dehydrin gene in sibling deciduous and evergreen genotypes of peach (Prunus persica [L.] Batsch). *Plant Molecular Biology*, 33(1), 61-70.
- Artlip, T. S., Wisniewski, M. E., Bassett, C. L., & Norelli, J. L. (2013). CBF gene expression in peach leaf and bark tissues is gated by a circadian clock. *Tree Physiology*, 33(8), 866-877.
- Arumuganathan, K., & Earle, E. D. (1991). Estimation of nuclear DNA content of plants by flow cytometry. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter*, *9*(3), 229-241.
- Arús, P., Verde, I., Sosinski, B., Zhebentyayeva, T., & Abbott, A. G. (2012). The peach genome. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 8(3), 531-547.
- Assmann, A. P., Citadin, I., Locatelli, M. C., Scariot, S., Danner, M. A., & Raseira, M. d. C. B. (2008a). Fruit frost tolerance in peach. *Revista Brasileira De Fruticultura*, *30*, 1030-1035.
- Assmann, A. P., Citadin, I., Locatelli, M. C., Scariot, S., Danner, M. A., & Raseira, M. d. C. B. (2008b). Fruit frost tolerance in peach. *Revista Brasileira De Fruticultura, 30*, 1030-1035.
- Assmann, A. P., Citadin, I., Locatelli, M. C., Scariot, S., Danner, M. A., & Raseira, M. d. C. B. (2008c). Fruit frost tolerance in peach. *Revista Brasileira De Fruticultura*, 30, 1030-1035.
- Atagul, O., Calle, A., Demirel, G., Lawton, J. M., Bridges, W. C., & Gasic, K. (2022). Estimating heat requirement for flowering in peach germplasm. *Agronomy*, 12(5), 1002.
- Augspurger, C. K. (2013). Reconstructing patterns of temperature, phenology, and frost damage over 124 years: spring damage risk is increasing. *Ecology*, 94(1), 41-50.
- Badenes, M. L., & Byrne, D. H. (2012). Fruit breeding. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Barranco, D., Ruiz, N., & Gómez-del Campo, M. (2005). Frost tolerance of eight olive cultivars. *HortScience*, 40(3), 558-560.
- Bassett, C. L., Fisher, K. M., & Farrell, R. E. (2015). The complete peach dehydrin family: characterization of three recently recognized genes. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 11, 1-14.
- Bassi, D., Mignani, I., Spinardi, A., & Tura, D. (2016a). Chapter 23 PEACH (Prunus persica (L.) Batsch). In M. S. J. Simmonds, & V. R. Preedy (Eds.), *Nutritional Composition of Fruit Cultivars* (pp. 535-571). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-408117-8.00023-4</u>
- Bassi, D., Mignani, I., Spinardi, A., & Tura, D. (2016b). Chapter 23 PEACH (Prunus persica (L.) Batsch). In M. S. J. Simmonds, & V. R. Preedy (Eds.), *Nutritional Composition of Fruit*

Cultivars (pp. 535-571). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-408117-8.00023-4</u>

- Bassi, D., & Monet, R. (2008). Botany and taxonomy. *The peach: botany, production and uses* (pp. 1-36). Cabi Wallingford UK.
- Basto, G. J., Carvalho, C. W. P., Soares, A. G., Costa, H. T. G. B., Chávez, D. W. H., Godoy, R. L. d. O., & Pacheco, S. (2016). Physicochemical properties and carotenoid content of extruded and non-extruded corn and peach palm (Bactris gasipaes, Kunth). *LWT Food Science and Technology*, *69*, 312-318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2015.12.065</u>
- Bielenberg, D. G., & Gasic, K. (2022a). Peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch] Cultivars Differ in Apparent Base Temperature and Growing Degree Hour Requirement for Floral Bud Break. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 13, 801606. 10.3389/fpls.2022.801606
- Bielenberg, D. G., & Gasic, K. (2022b). Peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch] cultivars differ in apparent base temperature and growing degree hour requirement for floral bud break. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 13, 801606.
- Bielenberg, D. G., Rauh, B., Fan, S., Gasic, K., Abbott, A. G., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., & Wells, C. E. (2015a). Genotyping by sequencing for SNP-based linkage map construction and QTL analysis of chilling requirement and bloom date in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *PloS One, 10*(10), e0139406.
- Bielenberg, D. G., Rauh, B., Fan, S., Gasic, K., Abbott, A. G., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., & Wells, C. E. (2015b). Genotyping by sequencing for SNP-based linkage map construction and QTL analysis of chilling requirement and bloom date in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *PloS One, 10*(10), e0139406.
- Bielenberg, D. G., Rauh, B., Fan, S., Gasic, K., Abbott, A. G., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., & Wells, C. E. (2015c). Genotyping by sequencing for SNP-based linkage map construction and QTL analysis of chilling requirement and bloom date in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *PloS One, 10*(10), e0139406.
- Blake, M. A. (1932). The JH Hale peach as a parent in peach crosses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 29, 131-136.
- Bradbury, P. J., Zhang, Z., Kroon, D. E., Casstevens, T. M., Ramdoss, Y., & Buckler, E. S. (2007). TASSEL: software for association mapping of complex traits in diverse samples. *Bioinformatics*, 23(19), 2633-2635.
- Byrne, D. H. (1990). Isozyme variability in four diploid stone fruits compared with other woody perennial plants. *Journal of Heredity*, *81*(1), 68-71.

- Byrne, D. H., & Bassols Raseira, M. C. (2005). Inbreeding of the major commercial fresh market peach cultivars grown in Southern Brazil. Paper presented at the *VI International Peach Symposium 713*, 99-102.
- Byrne, D. (2005). Trends in stone fruit cultivar development. HortTechnology, 15, 494-500.
- Byrne, D. H., Sherman, W. B., & Bacon, T. A. (2000a). Stone Fruit Genetic Pool and Its Exploitation for Growing under Warm Winter Conditions. *Temperate Fruit Crops in Warm Climates* (pp. 157-230). Springer Netherlands. 10.1007/978-94-017-3215-4 8
- Byrne, D. H., Sherman, W. B., & Bacon, T. A. (2000b). Stone fruit genetic pool and its exploitation for growing under warm winter conditions. *Temperate fruit crops in warm climates* (pp. 157-230). Springer.
- Campoy, J. A., Darbyshire, R., Dirlewanger, E., Quero-García, J., & Wenden, B. (2019). Yield potential definition of the chilling requirement reveals likely underestimation of the risk of climate change on winter chill accumulation. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, 63, 183-192.
- Cao, K., Wang, L., Zhu, G., Fang, W., Chen, C., & Luo, J. (2012). Genetic diversity, linkage disequilibrium, and association mapping analyses of peach (Prunus persica) landraces in China. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 8, 975-990.
- Cao, K., Zheng, Z., Wang, L., Liu, X., Zhu, G., Fang, W., Cheng, S., Zeng, P., Chen, C., & Wang, X. (2014). Comparative population genomics reveals the domestication history of the peach, Prunus persica, and human influences on perennial fruit crops. *Genome Biology*, 15, 1-15.
- Castède, S., Campoy, J. A., García, J. Q., Le Dantec, L., Lafargue, M., Barreneche, T., Wenden, B., & Dirlewanger, E. (2014a). Genetic determinism of phenological traits highly affected by climate change in Prunus avium: flowering date dissected into chilling and heat requirements. *New Phytologist*, 202(2), 703-715.
- Castède, S., Campoy, J. A., García, J. Q., Le Dantec, L., Lafargue, M., Barreneche, T., Wenden, B., & Dirlewanger, E. (2014b). Genetic determinism of phenological traits highly affected by climate change in Prunus avium: flowering date dissected into chilling and heat requirements. *New Phytologist, 202*(2), 703-715.
- Chamberlain, C. J., Cook, B. I., García de Cortázar-Atauri, I., & Wolkovich, E. M. (2019a). Rethinking false spring risk. *Global Change Biology*, 25(7), 2209-2220.
- Chamberlain, C. J., Cook, B. I., García de Cortázar-Atauri, I., & Wolkovich, E. M. (2019b). Rethinking false spring risk. *Global Change Biology*, 25(7), 2209-2220.
- Chan, E. K., Rowe, H. C., Corwin, J. A., Joseph, B., & Kliebenstein, D. J. (2011). Combining genome-wide association mapping and transcriptional networks to identify novel genes controlling glucosinolates in Arabidopsis thaliana. *PLoS Biology*, *9*(8), e1001125.
- Chen, C., & Okie, W. R. (2015). Novel peach flower types in a segregating population from 'Helen Borchers'. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 140(2), 172-177.
- Chen, C., Okie, W. R., & Beckman, T. G. (2016a). Peach fruit set and buttoning after spring frost. *HortScience*, *51*(7), 816-821.
- Chen, C., Okie, W. R., & Beckman, T. G. (2016b). Peach fruit set and buttoning after spring frost. *HortScience*, *51*(7), 816-821.
- Chen, C., Okie, W. R., & Beckman, T. G. (2016c). Peach fruit set and buttoning after spring frost. *HortScience*, *51*(7), 816-821.
- Chen, C., Okie, W. R., & Beckman, T. G. (2016d). Peach fruit set and buttoning after spring frost. *HortScience*, *51*(7), 816-821.
- Chuine, I. (2010). Why does phenology drive species distribution? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 365*(1555), 3149-3160.
- Chuine, I., & Beaubien, E. G. (2001). Phenology is a major determinant of tree species range. *Ecology Letters*, 4(5), 500-510.
- Cirilli, M., Gattolin, S., Chiozzotto, R., Baccichet, I., Pascal, T., Quilot-Turion, B., Rossini, L., & Bassi, D. (2021a). The Di2/pet variant in the PETALOSA gene underlies a major heat requirement-related QTL for blooming date in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 62(2), 356-365.
- Cirilli, M., Gattolin, S., Chiozzotto, R., Baccichet, I., Pascal, T., Quilot-Turion, B., Rossini, L., & Bassi, D. (2021b). The Di2/pet variant in the PETALOSA gene underlies a major heat requirement-related QTL for blooming date in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 62(2), 356-365.
- da Silva Linge, C., Antanaviciute, L., Abdelghafar, A., Arús, P., Bassi, D., Rossini, L., Ficklin, S., & Gasic, K. (2018). High-density multi-population consensus genetic linkage map for peach. *PloS One*, 13(11), e0207724.
- Dai, Y., Boekee, J., Schilperoort, B., ten Veldhuis, M., & van de Wiel, B. J. (2023). Wind machines for frost damage mitigation: A quantitative 3D investigation based on observations. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, *338*, 109522.

- Dardick, C., & Callahan, A. M. (2014). Evolution of the fruit endocarp: molecular mechanisms underlying adaptations in seed protection and dispersal strategies. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 5, 284. 10.3389/fpls.2014.00284
- Dardick, C. D., Callahan, A. M., Chiozzotto, R., Schaffer, R. J., Piagnani, M. C., & Scorza, R. (2010). Stone formation in peach fruit exhibits spatial coordination of the lignin and flavonoid pathways and similarity to Arabidopsisdehiscence. *BMC Biology*, 8(1), 1-17.
- Davik, J., Wilson, R. C., Njah, R. G., Grini, P. E., Randall, S. K., Alsheik, M. K., & Sargent, D. J. (2021). Genetic mapping and identification of a QTL determining tolerance to freezing stress in Fragaria vesca L. *PloS One*, 16(5), e0248089.
- Demirel, G. (2021). Fine Mapping of Chilling Requirement and Bloom Date to Enable Marker-Assisted Breeding of Climate Resilient Peach.
- Dexter, S. T., Tottingham, W. E., & Graber, L. F. (1932). Investigations of the hardiness of plants by measurement of electrical conductivity. *Plant Physiology*, 7(1), 63.
- Dionisio-Sese, M. L., & Tobita, S. (1998). Antioxidant responses of rice seedlings to salinity stress. *Plant Science*, 135(1), 1-9.
- Dirlewanger, E., Cosson, P., Boudehri, K., Renaud, C., Capdeville, G., Tauzin, Y., Laigret, F., & Moing, A. (2006). Development of a second-generation genetic linkage map for peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch] and characterization of morphological traits affecting flower and fruit. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 3(1), 1-13.
- Dubina, N.Crops lost at vineyards & orchards after spring freeze. https://www.mytwintiers.com/news-cat/crops-lost-at-vineyards-orchards-after-spring-freeze/
- Edge-Garza, D. A., Rowland, T. V., Jr., Haendiges, S., & Peace, C. (2014). A high-throughput and cost-efficient DNA extraction protocol for the tree fruit crops of apple, sweet cherry, and peach relying on silica beads during tissue sampling. *Molecular Breeding*, *34*(4), 2225-2228. 10.1007/s11032-014-0160-x
- Eduardo, I., Chietera, G., Pirona, R., Pacheco, I., Troggio, M., Banchi, E., Bassi, D., Rossini, L., Vecchietti, A., & Pozzi, C. (2013). Genetic dissection of aroma volatile compounds from the essential oil of peach fruit: QTL analysis and identification of candidate genes using dense SNP maps. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, *9*(1), 189-204.
- Elshire, R. J., Glaubitz, J. C., Sun, Q., Poland, J. A., Kawamoto, K., Buckler, E. S., & Mitchell, S. E. (2011a). A robust, simple genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) approach for high diversity species. *PloS One*, 6(5), e19379.
- Elshire, R. J., Glaubitz, J. C., Sun, Q., Poland, J. A., Kawamoto, K., Buckler, E. S., & Mitchell, S. E. (2011b). A robust, simple genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) approach for high diversity species. *PloS One*, 6(5), e19379.

- Fadón, E., & Rodrigo, J. (2018). Unveiling winter dormancy through empirical experiments. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 152, 28-36.
- Fadón, E., Fernandez, E., Behn, H., & Luedeling, E. (2020). A conceptual framework for winter dormancy in deciduous trees. *Agronomy*, 10(2), 241.
- Fallon, B., & Cavender-Bares, J. (2018). Leaf-level trade-offs between drought avoidance and desiccation recovery drive elevation stratification in arid oaks. *Ecosphere*, 9(3), e02149.
- Fan, S., Bielenberg, D. G., Zhebentyayeva, T. N., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., Holland, D., & Abbott, A. G. (2010a). Mapping quantitative trait loci associated with chilling requirement, heat requirement and bloom date in peach (Prunus persica). *New Phytologist*, 185(4), 917-930.
- Fan, S., Bielenberg, D. G., Zhebentyayeva, T. N., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., Holland, D., & Abbott, A. G. (2010b). Mapping quantitative trait loci associated with chilling requirement, heat requirement and bloom date in peach (Prunus persica). *New Phytologist*, 185(4), 917-930.
- Fan, S., Bielenberg, D. G., Zhebentyayeva, T. N., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., Holland, D., & Abbott, A. G. (2010c). Mapping quantitative trait loci associated with chilling requirement, heat requirement and bloom date in peach (Prunus persica). *New Phytologist*, 185(4), 917-930.
- Fan, S., Bielenberg, D. G., Zhebentyayeva, T. N., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., Holland, D., & Abbott, A. G. (2010d). Mapping quantitative trait loci associated with chilling requirement, heat requirement and bloom date in peach (Prunus persica). *New Phytologist*, 185(4), 917-930.

FAOSTAT, 2020. https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL/visualize

- Fresnedo-Ramírez, J., Crisosto, C. H., Gradziel, T. M., & Famula, T. R. (2013). Pedigree correction and estimation of breeding values for peach genetic improvement. Paper presented at the *VIII International Peach Symposium 1084*, 249-256.
- Gao, Z., Zhuang, W., Wang, L., Shao, J., Luo, X., Cai, B., & Zhang, Z. (2012). Evaluation of chilling and heat requirements in Japanese apricot with three models. *HortScience*, 47(12), 1826-1831.
- Gasic, K., Burrell, R., & Lawton, J. M. (2022). Starting from scratch: fourteen years of peach breeding program at Clemson University. Paper presented at the (1352) 69-74. 10.17660/ActaHortic.2022.1352.9 <u>https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2022.1352.9</u>
- Griffith, C., & Einhorn, T. C. (2023). The effect of plant growth regulators on xylem differentiation, water and nutrient transport, and bitter pit susceptibility of apple. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *310*, 111709.

- Gu, L., Hanson, P. J., Post, W. M., Kaiser, D. P., Yang, B., Nemani, R., Pallardy, S. G., & Meyers, T. (2008). The 2007 eastern US spring freeze: increased cold damage in a warming world? *Bioscience*, 58(3), 253-262.
- Guajardo, V., Solís, S., Sagredo, B., Gainza, F., Muñoz, C., Gasic, K., & Hinrichsen, P. (2015). Construction of high density sweet cherry (Prunus avium L.) linkage maps using microsatellite markers and SNPs detected by genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS). *PloS One*, 10(5), e0127750.
- Gupta, P. K., Rustgi, S., & Kulwal, P. L. (2005). Linkage disequilibrium and association studies in higher plants: present status and future prospects. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 57(4), 461-485.
- Hasenauer, H., Nemani, R. R., Schadauer, K., & Running, S. W. (1999). Forest growth response to changing climate between 1961 and 1990 in Austria. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *122*(3), 209-219.
- Hatfield, J. L., & Prueger, J. H. (2015). Temperature extremes: Effect on plant growth and development. *Weather and Climate Extremes, 10*, 4-10.
- Hatsugai, N., & Katagiri, F. (2018). Quantification of Plant Cell Death by Electrolyte Leakage Assay. *Bio-Protocol*, 8(5), e2758. 10.21769/BioProtoc.2758
- http://www.rosaceae.org/. http://www.rosaceae.org/
- Inouye, D. W. (2000). The ecological and evolutionary significance of frost in the context of climate change. *Ecology Letters*, *3*(5), 457-463.
- Inouye, D. W. (2008). Effects of climate change on phenology, frost damage, and floral abundance of montane wildflowers. *Ecology*, *89*(2), 353-362.
- Janmohammadi, M., Zolla, L., & Rinalducci, S. (2015). Low temperature tolerance in plants: changes at the protein level. *Phytochemistry*, *117*, 76-89.
- Jiao, Y., Shen, Z., & Yan, J. (2017a). Transcriptome analysis of peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch] stigma in response to low-temperature stress with digital gene expression profiling. *Journal of Plant Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 26, 141-148.
- Jiao, Y., Shen, Z., & Yan, J. (2017b). Transcriptome analysis of peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch] stigma in response to low-temperature stress with digital gene expression profiling. *Journal of Plant Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 26(2), 141-148.
- Jin, Y., Zhai, S., Wang, W., Ding, X., Guo, Z., Bai, L., & Wang, S. (2018). Identification of genes from the ICE–CBF–COR pathway under cold stress in Aegilops–Triticum composite group and the evolution analysis with those from Triticeae. *Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants, 24*(2), 211-229.

- Jung, S., Lee, T., Cheng, C., Buble, K., Zheng, P., Yu, J., Humann, J., Ficklin, S. P., Gasic, K., Scott, K., Frank, M., Ru, S., Hough, H., Evans, K., Peace, C., Olmstead, M., DeVetter, L. W., McFerson, J., Coe, M., . . . Main, D. (2018). 15 years of GDR: New data and functionality in the Genome Database for Rosaceae. *Nucleic Acid Research*, , 1-9. 10.1093/nar/gky1000
- Jung, S., Lee, T., Cheng, C., Buble, K., Zheng, P., Yu, J., Humann, J., Ficklin, S. P., Gasic, K., & Scott, K. (2019a). 15 years of GDR: New data and functionality in the Genome Database for Rosaceae. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(D1), D1137-D1145.
- Jung, S., Lee, T., Cheng, C., Buble, K., Zheng, P., Yu, J., Humann, J., Ficklin, S. P., Gasic, K., & Scott, K. (2019b). 15 years of GDR: New data and functionality in the Genome Database for Rosaceae. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(D1), D1137-D1145.
- Jung, S., Lee, T., Cheng, C., Buble, K., Zheng, P., Yu, J., Humann, J., Ficklin, S. P., Gasic, K., & Scott, K. (2019c). 15 years of GDR: New data and functionality in the Genome Database for Rosaceae. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(D1), D1137-D1145.
- Kanaoka, M. M., Pillitteri, L. J., Fujii, H., Yoshida, Y., Bogenschutz, N. L., Takabayashi, J., Zhu, J., & Torii, K. U. (2008). SCREAM/ICE1 and SCREAM2 specify three cell-state transitional steps leading to Arabidopsis stomatal differentiation. *The Plant Cell, 20*(7), 1775-1785.
- Kang, J., Zhang, H., Sun, T., Shi, Y., Wang, J., Zhang, B., Wang, Z., Zhou, Y., & Gu, H. (2013). Natural variation of C-repeat-binding factor (CBF s) genes is a major cause of divergence in freezing tolerance among a group of Arabidopsis thaliana populations along the Yangtze River in China. *New Phytologist, 199*(4), 1069-1080.
- Kazemi-Shahandashti, S., & Maali-Amiri, R. (2018a). Global insights of protein responses to cold stress in plants: Signaling, defence, and degradation. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 226, 123-135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2018.03.022</u>
- Kazemi-Shahandashti, S., & Maali-Amiri, R. (2018b). Global insights of protein responses to cold stress in plants: Signaling, defence, and degradation. *Journal of Plant Physiology, 226*, 123-135.
- Keller, M. (2020). The science of grapevines. Academic press.
- Khorshidi, S., Davarynejad, G., Azmoode, F., & Kameli, M. (2014). Evaluation of susceptibility of pear and plum cultivars to winter frost. *Folia Horticulturae*, *26*(2), 103-108.
- Knight, M. R., & Knight, H. (2012). Low-temperature perception leading to gene expression and cold tolerance in higher plants. *New Phytologist*, 195(4), 737-751.
- Kodra, E., Steinhaeuser, K., & Ganguly, A. R. (2011). Persisting cold extremes under 21stcentury warming scenarios. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 38(8)

- Kreyling, J., Schmid, S., & Aas, G. (2015). Cold tolerance of tree species is related to the climate of their native ranges. *Journal of Biogeography*, 42(1), 156-166.
- Kumar, N., & Chaudhary, A. (2017). Pharmacognostic and phytochemical evaluation of Prunus persica (L.). *International Journal of Research and Development in Pharmacy & Life Sciences*, 6(6), 2806-2812.
- Kwon, J., Nam, E., Yun, S., Kim, S., Song, S., Lee, J., & Hwang, K. (2020a). Chilling and heat requirement of peach cultivars and changes in chilling accumulation spectrums based on 100-year records in Republic of Korea. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 288, 108009.
- Kwon, J., Nam, E., Yun, S., Kim, S., Song, S., Lee, J., & Hwang, K. (2020b). Chilling and heat requirement of peach cultivars and changes in chilling accumulation spectrums based on 100-year records in Republic of Korea. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 288, 108009.
- Lamichhane, J. R. (2021). Rising risks of late-spring frosts in a changing climate. *Nature Climate Change*, 11(7), 554-555.
- Lang, G. A., Early, J. D., Martin, G. C., & Darnell, R. L. (1987a). Endo-, para-, and ecodormancy: physiological terminology and classification for dormancy research. *HortScience*, *22*(3), 371-377.
- Lang, G. A., Early, J. D., Martin, G. C., & Darnell, R. L. (1987b). Endo-, para-, and ecodormancy: physiological terminology and classification for dormancy research. *HortScience*, *22*(3), 371-377.
- Langmead, B., & Salzberg, S. L. (2012). Fast gapped-read alignment with Bowtie 2. *Nature Methods*, 9(4), 357-359.
- Lee, B., Henderson, D. A., & Zhu, J. (2005). The Arabidopsis cold-responsive transcriptome and its regulation by ICE1. *The Plant Cell*, 17(11), 3155-3175.
- Lenz, A., Hoch, G., Vitasse, Y., & Körner, C. (2013a). European deciduous trees exhibit similar safety margins against damage by spring freeze events along elevational gradients. *New Phytologist*, 200(4), 1166-1175.
- Lenz, A., Hoch, G., Vitasse, Y., & Körner, C. (2013b). European deciduous trees exhibit similar safety margins against damage by spring freeze events along elevational gradients. *New Phytologist*, 200(4), 1166-1175.
- Liu, J., & Sherif, S. M. (2019). Hormonal orchestration of bud dormancy cycle in deciduous woody perennials. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 1136.
- Liu, Q., Piao, S., Janssens, I. A., Fu, Y., Peng, S., Lian, X. U., Ciais, P., Myneni, R. B., Peñuelas, J., & Wang, T. (2018). Extension of the growing season increases vegetation exposure to frost. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 426.

- Luedeling, E. (2012). Climate change impacts on winter chill for temperate fruit and nut production: A review. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *144*, 218-229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2012.07.011</u>
- Martin, M., Gavazov, K., Koerner, C., Haettenschwiler, S., & Rixen, C. (2010). Reduced early growing season freezing resistance in alpine treeline plants under elevated atmospheric CO2. *Global Change Biology*, *16*(3), 1057-1070.
- Martínez-García, P. J., Parfitt, D. E., Ogundiwin, E. A., Fass, J., Chan, H. M., Ahmad, R., Lurie, S., Dandekar, A., Gradziel, T. M., & Crisosto, C. H. (2013). High density SNP mapping and QTL analysis for fruit quality characteristics in peach (Prunus persica L.). *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 9, 19-36.
- Melgar, J. C., Zhou, Q., Lawrence, B. T., Gasic, K., Preece, J. E., & DeBuse, C. (2021). Tolerance of peach fruitlets to late spring freezes. Paper presented at the XII International Symposium on Integrating Canopy, Rootstock and Environmental Physiology in Orchard Systems 1346, 191-194.
- Melgar, J. C., Zhou, Q., Lawrence, B. T., Gasic, K., Preece, J. E., & DeBuse, C. (2022). Tolerance of peach fruitlets to late spring freezes. Paper presented at the (1346) 191-194. 10.17660/ActaHortic.2022.1346.25 <u>https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2022.1346.25</u>
- Micheletti, D., Dettori, M. T., Micali, S., Aramini, V., Pacheco, I., Da Silva Linge, C., Foschi, S., Banchi, E., Barreneche, T., & Quilot-Turion, B. (2015). Whole-genome analysis of diversity and SNP-major gene association in peach germplasm. *PloS One*, *10*(9), e0136803.
- Miranda, C., Urrestarazu, J., & Santesteban, L. G. (2021). fruclimadapt: An R package for climate adaptation assessment of temperate fruit species. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture, 180*, 1. 10.1016/j.compag.2020.105879
- Mnejja, M., Garcia-Mas, J., Audergon, J., & Arús, P. (2010). Prunus microsatellite marker transferability across rosaceous crops. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 6(5), 689-700.
- Monet, R., Guye, A., Roy, M., & Dachary, N. (1996). Peach Mendelian genetics: a short review and new results. *Agronomie*, 16(5), 321-329.
- Morgante, M., & Salamini, F. (2003). From plant genomics to breeding practice. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 14(2), 214-219.
- Murray, M. (2020). Critical temperatures for frost damage on fruit trees.
- Muthuramalingam, P., Shin, H., Adarshan, S., Jeyasri, R., Priya, A., Chen, J., & Ramesh, M. (2022). Molecular Insights into Freezing Stress in Peach Based on Multi-Omics and Biotechnology: An Overview. *Plants*, 11(6), 812.

Myneni, R. B., Keeling, C. D., Tucker, C. J., Asrar, G., & Nemani, R. R. (1997). Increased plant growth in the northern high latitudes from 1981 to 1991. *Nature*, *386*(6626), 698-702.

NASS,2021. https://quickstats.nass.usda.gov/results/1C23F4DB-3156-3DD7-819E-6C51FBBBA84C?pivot=short_desc

- Oakley, C. G., Ågren, J., Atchison, R. A., & Schemske, D. W. (2014). QTL mapping of freezing tolerance: links to fitness and adaptive trade-offs. *Molecular Ecology*, 23(17), 4304-4315.
- Okie, W. R., Bacon, T., & Bassi, D. (2008a). Fresh market cultivar development. *The peach: botany, production and uses* (pp. 139-174). CABI Cambridge.
- Okie, W. R., Bacon, T., & Bassi, D. (2008b). Fresh market cultivar development. In D. R. Layne,
 & D. Bassi (Eds.), *The Peach: Botany, Production and Uses* (pp. 139-174). CABI International.
- Olukolu, B. A., Trainin, T., Fan, S., Kole, C., Bielenberg, D. G., Reighard, G. L., Abbott, A. G., & Holland, D. (2009). Genetic linkage mapping for molecular dissection of chilling requirement and budbreak in apricot (Prunus armeniaca L.). *Genome*, 52(10), 819-828.
- Penso, G. A., Citadin, I., Scariotto, S., Santos, C. E. M. d., Junior, A. W., Bruckner, C. H., & Rodrigo, J. (2020). Development of Peach Flower Buds under Low Winter Chilling Conditions. *Agronomy*, 10(3), 428. 10.3390/agronomy10030428
- Pinski, A., Betekhtin, A., Sala, K., Godel-Jedrychowska, K., Kurczynska, E., & Hasterok, R. (2019). Hydroxyproline-rich glycoproteins as markers of temperature stress in the leaves of Brachypodium distachyon. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(10), 2571.
- Poling, E. B. (2008). Spring cold injury to winegrapes and protection strategies and methods. *HortScience*, *43*(6), 1652-1662.
- Purcell, S., Neale, B., Todd-Brown, K., Thomas, L., Ferreira, M. A., Bender, D., Maller, J., Sklar, P., De Bakker, P. I., & Daly, M. J. (2007). PLINK: a tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 81(3), 559-575.
- Raj, A., Stephens, M., & Pritchard, J. K. (2014). fastSTRUCTURE: Variational inference of population structure in large SNP datasets. *Genetics*, 197(2), 573-589. 10.1534/genetics.114.164350
- Ramirez, F., & Kallarackal, J. (2015). *Responses of fruit trees to global climate change*. Springer.
- Rapacz, M. (2002). Cold-deacclimation of oilseed rape (Brassica napus var. oleifera) in response to fluctuating temperatures and photoperiod. *Annals of Botany*, 89(5), 543-549.

- Raseira, M. d. C. B., Franzon, R. C., Feldberg, N. P., Scaranari, C., & Pereira, J. F. M. (2020). BRS Jaspe: a processing peach cultivar for low chill areas. *Crop Breeding and Applied Biotechnology*, 20
- Rawandoozi, Z. J., Hartmann, T. P., Carpenedo, S., Gasic, K., da Silva Linge, C., Cai, L., Van de Weg, E., & Byrne, D. H. (2021a). Mapping and characterization QTLs for phenological traits in seven pedigree-connected peach families. *BMC Genomics*, 22, 1-16.
- Rawandoozi, Z. J., Hartmann, T. P., Carpenedo, S., Gasic, K., da Silva Linge, C., Cai, L., Van de Weg, E., & Byrne, D. H. (2021b). Mapping and characterization QTLs for phenological traits in seven pedigree-connected peach families. *BMC Genomics*, 22, 1-16.
- Repo, T. (1991). Rehardening potential of Scots pine seedlings during dehardening.
- Riedelsheimer, C., Lisec, J., Czedik-Eysenberg, A., Sulpice, R., Flis, A., Grieder, C., Altmann, T., Stitt, M., Willmitzer, L., & Melchinger, A. E. (2012). Genome-wide association mapping of leaf metabolic profiles for dissecting complex traits in maize. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(23), 8872-8877.
- Rieger, M., Lu, S., & Duemmel, M. (1991a). Frost tolerance of some peach and Japanese plum cultivars. *Fruit Varieties Journal (USA)*,
- Rieger, M., Lu, S., & Duemmel, M. (1991b). Frost tolerance of some peach and Japanese plum cultivars. *Fruit Varieties Journal (USA)*,
- Rieger, M., Lu, S., & Duemmel, M. (1991c). Frost tolerance of some peach and Japanese plum cultivars. *Fruit Varieties Journal (USA)*,
- Rodrigo García, J., Julián Lagunas, C., & Herrero Romero, M. (2006a). Spring frost damage in buds, flowers and developing fruits in apricot.
- Rodrigo García, J., Julián Lagunas, C., & Herrero Romero, M. (2006b). Spring frost damage in buds, flowers and developing fruits in apricot.
- Rodrigo, J. (2000). Spring frosts in deciduous fruit trees—morphological damage and flower hardiness. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *85*(3), 155-173.
- Rodríguez, A., Pérez-López, D., Centeno, A., & Ruiz-Ramos, M. (2021). Viability of temperate fruit tree varieties in Spain under climate change according to chilling accumulation. *Agricultural Systems, 186*, 102961.
- Rodriguez, C. E., Bustamante, C. A., Budde, C. O., Müller, G. L., Drincovich, M. F., & Lara, M. V. (2019). Peach Fruit Development: A Comparative Proteomic Study Between Endocarp and Mesocarp at Very Early Stages Underpins the Main Differential Biochemical Processes Between These Tissues. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 715. 10.3389/fpls.2019.00715

- Romeu, J. F., Monforte, A. J., Sánchez, G., Granell, A., García-Brunton, J., Badenes, M. L., & Ríos, G. (2014a). Quantitative trait loci affecting reproductive phenology in peach. *BMC Plant Biology*, 14, 1-16.
- Romeu, J. F., Monforte, A. J., Sánchez, G., Granell, A., García-Brunton, J., Badenes, M. L., & Ríos, G. (2014b). Quantitative trait loci affecting reproductive phenology in peach. *BMC Plant Biology*, 14(1), 1-16.
- Romeu, J. F., Monforte, A. J., Sánchez, G., Granell, A., García-Brunton, J., Badenes, M. L., & Ríos, G. (2014c). Quantitative trait loci affecting reproductive phenology in peach. *BMC Plant Biology*, 14, 1-16.
- Rosenberg, N. A. (2004). DISTRUCT: a program for the graphical display of population structure. *Molecular Ecology Notes*, 4(1), 137-138.
- Ru, X., Jiang, Y., Luo, Q., Wang, R., Feng, X., Wang, J., Wang, Z., Li, M., Qu, Z., & Su, B. (2023). Evaluating late spring frost risks of apple in the Loess Plateau of China under future climate change with phenological modeling approach. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 308, 111604.
- Ruiz, D., Campoy, J. A., & Egea, J. (2007). Chilling and heat requirements of apricot cultivars for flowering. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *61*(3), 254-263.
- Ruiz-Sánchez, M. C., Abrisqueta, I., Conejero, W., & Vera, J. (2018). Chapter 6 Deficit Irrigation Management in Early-Maturing Peach Crop. In I. F. García Tejero, & V. H. Durán Zuazo (Eds.), *Water Scarcity and Sustainable Agriculture in Semiarid Environment* (pp. 111-129). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813164-0.00006-5
- Sakai, A., & Larcher, W. (2012a). Frost survival of plants: responses and adaptation to freezing stress. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Sakai, A., & Larcher, W. (2012b). Frost survival of plants: responses and adaptation to freezing stress. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Scorza, R., & Okie, W. (1990). Peach (Prunus). Acta Hort, 290, 175-231.
- Scorza, R., & Okie, W. R. (1991). Peaches (Prunus). *Genetic Resources of Temperate Fruit and Nut Crops 290,*, 177-234.
- Shi, P., Xu, Z., Zhang, S., Wang, X., Ma, X., Zheng, J., Xing, L., Zhang, D., Ma, J., & Han, M. (2020). Construction of a high-density SNP-based genetic map and identification of fruitrelated QTLs and candidate genes in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *BMC Plant Biology*, 20(1), 1-16.
- Showalter, A. M., Keppler, B., Lichtenberg, J., Gu, D., & Welch, L. R. (2010). A bioinformatics approach to the identification, classification, and analysis of hydroxyproline-rich glycoproteins. *Plant Physiology*, 153(2), 485-513.

- Smith, M. W., Carroll, B. L., & Taylor, G. G. (1994). Cold injury of peach and nectarine cultivars after a fall freeze. *HortScience*, 29(7), 821.
- Sønsteby, A., Heide, O. M., Rivero, R., Måge, F., & Remberg, S. F. (2019). Phenology, flowering and fruit-set performance of six recent pear cultivars of Nordic origin. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B—Soil & Plant Science, 69*(7), 578-587.
- Szalay, L., Papp, J., & SzaÃ³bo, Z. (1999). Evaluation of frost tolerance of peach varieties in artificial freezing tests. Paper presented at the *Eucarpia Symposium on Fruit Breeding and Genetics 538*, 407-410.
- Tittarelli, A., Santiago, M., Morales, A., Meisel, L. A., & Silva, H. (2009). Isolation and functional characterization of cold-regulated promoters, by digitally identifying peach fruit cold-induced genes from a large EST dataset. *BMC Plant Biology*, 9(1), 1-15.
- Topp, B. L., Sherman, W. B., & Raseira, M. (2008a). Low-chill cultivar development. *The Peach: Botany, Production and Uses.CAB International, Wallingford, UK*, , 106-138.
- Topp, B. L., Sherman, W. B., & Raseira, M. (2008b). Low-chill cultivar development. *The Peach: Botany, Production and Uses.CAB International, Wallingford, UK*, , 106-138.
- Valentini, N., Me, G., Ferrero, R., & Spanna, F. (2001). Use of bioclimatic indexes to characterize phenological phases of apple varieties in Northern Italy. *International Journal* of Biometeorology, 45(4), 191-195.
- Vanalli, C., Casagrandi, R., Gatto, M., & Bevacqua, D. (2021). Shifts in the thermal niche of fruit trees under climate change: The case of peach cultivation in France. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 300, 108327.
- Vendramin, E., Pea, G., Dondini, L., Pacheco, I., Dettori, M. T., Gazza, L., Scalabrin, S., Strozzi, F., Tartarini, S., & Bassi, D. (2014a). A unique mutation in a MYB gene cosegregates with the nectarine phenotype in peach. *PLoS One*, 9(3), e90574.
- Vendramin, E., Pea, G., Dondini, L., Pacheco, I., Dettori, M. T., Gazza, L., Scalabrin, S., Strozzi, F., Tartarini, S., & Bassi, D. (2014b). A unique mutation in a MYB gene cosegregates with the nectarine phenotype in peach. *PLoS One*, 9(3), e90574.
- Verde, I., Abbott, A. G., Scalabrin, S., Jung, S., Shu, S. Q., Marroni, F., Zhebentyayeva, T., Dettori, M. T., Grimwood, J., & Cattonaro, F.Int Peach Genome I (2013) The high-quality draft genome of peach (Prunus persica) identifies unique patterns of genetic diversity, domestication and genome evolution. *Nat Genet*, 45(5), 487-U447.
- Verde, I., Abbott, A. G., Scalabrin, S., Jung, S., Shu, S., Marroni, F., Zhebentyayeva, T., Dettori, M. T., Grimwood, J., & Cattonaro, F. (2013). The high-quality draft genome of peach (Prunus persica) identifies unique patterns of genetic diversity, domestication and genome evolution. *Nature Genetics*, 45(5), 487-494.

- Verde, I., Bassil, N., Scalabrin, S., Gilmore, B., Lawley, C. T., Gasic, K., Micheletti, D., Rosyara, U. R., Cattonaro, F., & Vendramin, E. (2012). Development and evaluation of a 9K SNP array for peach by internationally coordinated SNP detection and validation in breeding germplasm. *PloS One*, 7(4), e35668.
- Verde, I., Jenkins, J., Dondini, L., Micali, S., Pagliarani, G., Vendramin, E., Paris, R., Aramini, V., Gazza, L., & Rossini, L. (2017a). The Peach v2. 0 release: high-resolution linkage mapping and deep resequencing improve chromosome-scale assembly and contiguity. *BMC Genomics*, 18(1), 1-18.
- Verde, I., Jenkins, J., Dondini, L., Micali, S., Pagliarani, G., Vendramin, E., Paris, R., Aramini, V., Gazza, L., & Rossini, L. (2017b). The Peach v2. 0 release: high-resolution linkage mapping and deep resequencing improve chromosome-scale assembly and contiguity. *BMC Genomics*, 18(1), 1-18.
- Verde, I., Jenkins, J., Dondini, L., Micali, S., Pagliarani, G., Vendramin, E., Paris, R., Aramini, V., Gazza, L., Rossini, L., Bassi, D., Troggio, M., Shu, S., Grimwood, J., Tartarini, S., Dettori, M. T., & Schmutz, J. (2017c). The Peach v2.0 release: high-resolution linkage mapping and deep resequencing improve chromosome-scale assembly and contiguity. *BMC Genomics*, 18(1), 225. 10.1186/s12864-017-3606-9
- Vitasse, Y., Lenz, A., & Körner, C. (2014). The interaction between freezing tolerance and phenology in temperate deciduous trees. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *5*, 541.
- Wang, Q., Cao, K., Zhu, G., Fang, W., Chen, C., Wang, X., & Wang, L. (2019). Comparative transcriptome analysis of genes involved in the response of resistant and susceptible peach cultivars to water stress. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 245, 29-38.
- Wen, I., Koch, K. E., & Sherman, W. B. (1995). Comparing fruit and tree characteristics of two peaches and their nectarine mutants. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 120(1), 101-106.
- Wilson, S. (2001). Frost management in cool climate vineyards. *Report to Grape and Wine Research and Development Corporation, Adelaide, South Australia,*
- Wisniewski, M., Nassuth, A., Teulieres, C., Marque, C., Rowland, J., Cao, P. B., & Brown, A. (2014a). Genomics of cold hardiness in woody plants. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 33(2-3), 92-124.
- Wisniewski, M., Nassuth, A., Teulieres, C., Marque, C., Rowland, J., Cao, P. B., & Brown, A. (2014b). Genomics of cold hardiness in woody plants. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 33(2-3), 92-124.
- Wisniewski, M., Nassuth, A., Teulieres, C., Marque, C., Rowland, J., Cao, P. B., & Brown, A. (2014c). Genomics of cold hardiness in woody plants. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 33(2-3), 92-124.

- Wisniewski, M., Nassuth, A., Teulieres, C., Marque, C., Rowland, J., Cao, P. B., & Brown, A. (2014d). Genomics of cold hardiness in woody plants. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 33(2-3), 92-124.
- Wisniewski, M., Norelli, J., Bassett, C., Artlip, T., & Macarisin, D. (2011). Ectopic expression of a novel peach (Prunus persica) CBF transcription factor in apple (Malus× domestica) results in short-day induced dormancy and increased cold hardiness. *Planta*, 233(5), 971-983.
- Wisniewski, M., Webb, R., Balsamo, R., Close, T. J., Yu, X., & Griffith, M. (1999). Purification, immunolocalization, cryoprotective, and antifreeze activity of PCA60: a dehydrin from peach (Prunus persica). *Physiologia Plantarum*, 105(4), 600-608.
- Worthington, M., & Clark, J. R. (2021). Peach breeding at the University of Arkansas. Paper presented at the (1304) 21-28. 10.17660/ActaHortic.2021.1304.3 https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2021.1304.3
- Xu, Y., & Crouch, J. H. (2008). Marker-assisted selection in plant breeding: From publications to practice. *Crop Science*, 48(2), 391-407.
- Yu, D. J., Jun, S. H., Park, J., Kwon, J. H., & Lee, H. J. (2020a). Transcriptome analysis of genes involved in cold hardiness of peach tree (Prunus persica) shoots during cold acclimation and deacclimation. *Genes*, 11(6), 611.
- Yu, D. J., Jun, S. H., Park, J., Kwon, J. H., & Lee, H. J. (2020b). Transcriptome analysis of genes involved in cold hardiness of peach tree (Prunus persica) shoots during cold acclimation and deacclimation. *Genes*, 11(6), 611.
- Yu, D. J., Jun, S. H., Park, J., Kwon, J. H., & Lee, H. J. (2020c). Transcriptome analysis of genes involved in cold hardiness of peach tree (Prunus persica) shoots during cold acclimation and deacclimation. *Genes*, 11(6), 611.
- Yu, D. J., Jun, S. H., Park, J., Kwon, J. H., & Lee, H. J. (2020d). Transcriptome analysis of genes involved in cold hardiness of peach tree (Prunus persica) shoots during cold acclimation and deacclimation. *Genes*, 11(6), 611.
- Yu, D. J., & Lee, H. J. (2020). Evaluation of freezing injury in temperate fruit trees. *Horticulture, Environment, and Biotechnology*, 61(5), 787-794. 10.1007/s13580-020-00264-4
- Yu, J., Conrad, A. O., Decroocq, V., Zhebentyayeva, T., Williams, D. E., Bennett, D., Roch, G., Audergon, J., Dardick, C., & Liu, Z. (2020a). Distinctive gene expression patterns define endodormancy to ecodormancy transition in apricot and peach. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11, 180.
- Yu, J., Conrad, A. O., Decroocq, V., Zhebentyayeva, T., Williams, D. E., Bennett, D., Roch, G., Audergon, J., Dardick, C., & Liu, Z. (2020b). Distinctive gene expression patterns define

endodormancy to ecodormancy transition in apricot and peach. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11, 180.

- Zhao, C., & Zhu, J. (2016). The broad roles of CBF genes: from development to abiotic stress. *Plant Signaling & Behavior, 11*(8), e1215794.
- Zhao, K., Tung, C., Eizenga, G. C., Wright, M. H., Ali, M. L., Price, A. H., Norton, G. J., Islam, M. R., Reynolds, A., & Mezey, J. (2011). Genome-wide association mapping reveals a rich genetic architecture of complex traits in Oryza sativa. *Nature Communications*, 2(1), 1-10.
- Zhao, T., Xia, H., Liu, J., & Ma, F. (2014). The gene family of dehydration responsive elementbinding transcription factors in grape (Vitis vinifera): genome-wide identification and analysis, expression profiles, and involvement in abiotic stress resistance. *Molecular Biology Reports*, 41, 1577-1590.
- Zhebentyayeva, T. N., Fan, S., Chandra, A., Bielenberg, D. G., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., & Abbott, A. G. (2014). Dissection of chilling requirement and bloom date QTLs in peach using a whole genome sequencing of sibling trees from an F 2 mapping population. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 10, 35-51.
- Ziegler, P., & Kandler, O. (1980). Tonoplast stability as a critical factor in frost injury and hardening of spruce (Picea abiesL. Karst.) needles. *Zeitschrift Für Pflanzenphysiologie*, 99(5), 393-410.

CHAPTER THREE

GENOME WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDY OF FRUITLET FREEZE TOLERANCE IN PEACH GERMPLASM

Introduction

In temperate climates, the most significant risk of frost injury to woody plant species occurs during blooming and fruitlets onset in spring (Inouye, 2000; Vitasse et al., 2014). Even plant varieties that can survive very low temperatures during the winter season are significantly impacted by relatively minor temperature variations that can arise during the processes of flowering and fruit set in the spring. Incidents of spring frost have caused severe financial losses for the agriculture industry. For example, in 2017, severe frost occurrences caused losses across Europe of 3.3 billion euros (Lamichhane, 2021). France witnessed considerable damage to its vineyards in 2021, with frost involving at least half of the 680 vineyards (Dai et al., 2023). Similar to Europe, the U.S. agriculture has also reported crop loss due to spring freezes, with the latest reported in news outlets for grape, apple, and stone fruit industries in 2023 (Lamichhane, 2021). Notably, blooming begins earlier due to climate change, while the likelihood of isolated frost nights during spring has remained strong (Liu et al., 2018). The increasing trend in late spring frost events, particularly in the southeastern U.S. states of Georgia and South Carolina, has resulted in more than 50% crop losses over the past five years. In response, breeding programs are now prioritizing climate resilience and adaptability in the development of new cultivars to mitigate the production challenges posed by climate change.

In early spring, before bud break, buds in temperate climatic zones are in a phase of ecodormancy, and their resistance to frost decreases progressively as temperature rises, reaching a minimum as fruitlets emerge (Lenz et al., 2013b; Sakai & Larcher, 2012b). After the post-bloom

stage, even relatively short freezing exposures lasting just a few hours can lead to substantial yield losses, ranging from partial to complete (Bassi & Monet, 2008). Hence, the period extending from the initiation of floral bud break to the occurrence of spring frost stands as a key and vulnerable period for producers. A significant limitation to peach production is the potential occurrence of spring frosts during the flowering and fruitlet period. Floral bud break and the avoidance of potentially lethal spring freezing temperatures are contingent upon two temperature requirements. For peach floral buds to develop, a quantitative exposure to chilling temperatures, often called the chilling requirement (CR), followed by the quantitative accumulation of warm temperatures, known as the heat requirement (HR) is needed (Bielenberg et al., 2022b). For proper flowering and fruit development, peaches require a certain amount of chill during the winter, known as "winter chill." However, the ongoing global warming tendency is making winters milder, resulting in declined winter chill and earlier blooming of peach trees. This difference in climate conditions poses a severe threat to peach production. The most effective way to control spring frost and facilitate sustainable and eco-friendly peach cultivation is to grow cultivars adapted to the environmental conditions. Understanding adaptive approaches to minimize the effects of climate change on phenology steps like CR, HR, and bloom time and the consequences of spring frost to flowers and fruitlets is essential to address the impact of spring frost due to fluctuations in global temperatures on significant phenological features (Hatfield & Prueger, 2015; Yu et al., 2020b). Cultivars with low chilling requirements guarantee that the trees will bloom, as these requirements are efficiently met. However, earlier bloom makes the crop vulnerable to the risks of brief warm spells, often called "false spring." Such conditions can significantly increase the likelihood of crop damage resulting from following freezing temperatures (Bielenberg et al., 2022b; Chamberlain et al., 2019b; Chen et al., 2016d). In the recent climate context, cultivars that bloom early are at risk

of frost damage, especially in spring. On the other hand, late-blooming cultivars may encounter issues such as insufficient fruit set (Sønsteby et al., 2019; Vanalli et al., 2021) due to limited pollination. Late-blooming cultivars may also be exposed to higher temperatures, which can further impact fruit development. Some reasons why late-blooming cultivars may face challenges in achieving optimal fruit sets are pollination timing, unfavorable weather conditions, limited pollinator activity, competition for resources and genetic factors.

The genetics of dormancy related traits, such as CR and bloom date (BD) have been subject to extensive research within the *Prunus* (Abbott et al., 2015; Castède et al., 2014b; Fadón, E. & Rodrigo, 2018; Fan et al., 2010d; Olukolu et al., 2009; Rawandoozi et al., 2021b; Zhebentyayeva et al., 2014). However, limited research has been directed towards genetic mechanisms controlling HR (Cirilli et al., 2021b; Fan et al., 2010d; Romeu et al., 2014c) in peach and fruitlet freeze tolerance has not been the subject of genetic studies (Melgar et al., 2022).

Peach is an economically significant crop with abundant genetic resources (Aranzana et al., 2019b; Jung et al., 2019b). The genetic variability of cultivated peach has been affected by three main forces: inbreeding, random drift, and heterosis (Micheletti et al., 2015). The selfing and the targeted selection have resulted in a significant reduction in genetic variability compared to other cultivated species of the genus (Byrne, D. H., 1990; Mnejja et al., 2010). In addition, the the small number of parents used in the breeding programs have further contributed to the issue (Aranzana, et al., 2003a; Cao et al., 2014; Verde et al., 2013). Peach is one of the most genetically characterized species with vast resources publicly available. (Ahmad et al., 2011; Aranzana, et al., 2012; Cao et al., 2014; Jung et al., 2019c; Verde et al., 2013). Trait genetics in peach has been

investigated via bi-parental mapping, pedigree-based mapping and association mapping and many important marker-trait associations have been converted into DNA tools (Aranzana et al., 2019c).

Despite extensive efforts in comprehending the genetic mechanisms governing CR, HR, and BD in peach, only few resulted in the DNA test for MAS (Demirel et al., 2021). However, the fruitlet freeze tolerance research is lacking. Thus, the primary goal of this study is to understand the genetic factors responsible for fruitlet freeze tolerance by determining the region(s) in peach genome that is associated with this trait.

Materials and methods

Plant material

A diverse set of 107 peach and nectarine accessions representing heirloom cultivars, landraces and modern U.S. peach breeding germplasm evaluated in Chapter II and Melgar et al. (2022) study was assembled based on already available genotyping data obtained previously in the CUPBP (Table 3.1). Out of 107 accessions, 53 are maintained in the National Clonal Germplasm Repository (NCGR) in Davis, and 54 were maintained in Clemson University (CU) *Prunus* collection. Fruitlet freeze tolerance was estimated in 107 accessions in four experimental years 2018 (80 accessions), 2021 (47 accessions), 2022 (36 accessions) and 2023 (33 accessions). A subset of this material was evaluated in previous study by Melgar et al. (2022) during 2018 and 2021, and a subset was described in Chapter II of this work.

Phenotyping

Phenotyping protocols for fruitlet freeze tolerance are described in Chapter II. Phenotypic data were organized in trait by year of study datasets. Eight datasets were assembled: IP2018, IP2021, IP2022, IP2023, AUC2018, AUC2021, AUC2022, AUC2023. In addition, the best linear unbiased prediction (BLUP) values of IP and AUC per accession were obtained using a mixed effect model. The BLUP was chosen instead of a standard arithmetic mean because of unbalanced annual IP and AUC data available for the study. Most accessions were phenotyped for at least two years and only 4 were phenotyped for all 4 years (Table 3.1), respectively.

Descriptive statistical analyses were conducted as described in Chapter II.

DNA extraction and genotyping

DNA was extracted from young leaf tissue following the protocol described by (Edge-Garza et al., 2014). DNA quantity and quality were assessed by a spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE, USA) and Bioteck (Biotek HT Synergy Multidetection microplate reader, Winooski, VT, USA), and submitted to the University of Minnesota Genomic Center for genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) (Elshire et al., 2011b). ApeKI restriction enzyme was used, and libraries were sequenced on the NovaSeq6000 Illumina (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA).

Processing of sequence reads

Sequence reads were processed using TASSEL 4.0 and 5.0 GBS pipelines (Bradbury et al., 2007) with default parameters. Eight scaffolds of the peach genome v2.0 (Verde et al., 2017b) were obtained from the Genome Database for Rosaceae (www.rosaceae.org) (Jung et al., 2018; Verde et al., 2017c) and used as the reference for alignment of sequenced reads with Bowtie v2.1 (Langmead & Salzberg, 2012). SNP calls for all genotypes were exported as vcf files. Filtering for genotype quality and missing data were performed using PLINK (Purcell et al., 2007). SNPs and accessions with more than 20% missing data were omitted from further analysis. Furthermore, SNPs with MAF lower than 0.05 and those that deviated from Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) at the significance threshold of 0.001 were discarded from further analysis. SNPs were named based on the scaffold number, and base pair position within the peach genome v2.0 build, as explained in Bielenberg et al. (2015c).

Population structure analysis and genome wide association study (GWAS)

The population structure was investigated using a Bayesian clustering in fastSTRUCTURE (Raj et al., 2014). Number of clusters (K) ranging from 1 to 10 were tested using the default priors. The chooseK.py script provided in fastSTRUCTURE was used to estimate the reasonable range of K for the appropriate model complexity. The admixture proportions of each genotype were visualized by DISTRUCT plots (Rosenberg, 2004).

The GWAS was performed using the compressed general linear model (GLM) implemented in the TASSEL 5.0 (Bradbury et al., 2007). The Q matrices representing the degree of membership in underlying populations, were obtained in TASSEL. Significant marker-traits associations were visualized via Manhattan plot and quality of data was validated via Q-Q plots. Bonferroni threshold of 5.6×10^{-6} was applied to determine significant marker-trait associations.

Candidate gene analysis

A systematic search within 200 and 100kb flanking windows surrounding significant SNPs was conducted to compile the predicted candidate genes associated with fruitlet freeze tolerance traits. A BED file was created with chromosome and position and extracted from the *Prunus persica* v2.1 genome annotation file (.gff3) using bedtools (https://bedtools.readthedocs.io). Functional data was incorporated from the annotation file from Genome Database for Rosaceae (GDR) (GDR): <u>https://www.rosaceae.org</u>) (Jung et al., 2019b).

Results

Phenotypic datasets

Inflection point (IP), ranged from -3.94°C observed in (IP2023) dataset to -20.98°C observed in (IP2018), with similar overall average IP (-5°C to -6°C) observed in 3 years except in 2018 (-7.01°C) (Table 3.1).

Area under the curve (AUC) in all material ranged from 4.48% fruitlet damage in 2018 to 47.76% in 2022 (Table 3.2). AUC was normally distributed in all datasets (Shapiro Wilk test; W = 0.97186, p-value = 0.3112 in 2021, W = 0.97852, p-value = 0.6953 in 2022 and W = 0.97639, p-value = 0.6733 in 2023) except in AUC 2018 (Shapiro Wilk test; W = 0.95431, p-value = 0.006132). The AUC interval in the four experimental years, ranged from 23.36% to 32.32%. The lowest AUC was calculated in 2018, with 4.48%, while the highest damage occurred in 2022, 47.76% (Table 3.2).

Table 3.1. A diverse set of 107 peach and nectarine accessions representing heirloom cultivars, landraces and modern U.S. peach breeding germplasm. FT – Fruit type; P – Peach; N – Nectarine; IP - inflection point; AUC - area under the curve. ¹CU -Clemson University peach breeding; NCGR - National Clonal Germplasm Repository in Davis, CA.

Accessions	Origin FT .	2018		2021			2022		2023 BL		UPs Location ¹		
Accessions			IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	Location
745	Poland	Р	-5.85	33.06	-5.75	24.78	-	-	-	-	-5.86	31.01	DPRU.736
880329	Pakistan	Р	-20.98	16.58	-5.89	22.62	-	-	-	-	-7.47	24.92	DPRU.1472
880330	Pakistan	Р	-6.13	19.47	-5.39	22.35	-	-	-	-	-5.85	25.78	DPRU.1473
880332	Pakistan	Р	-6.02	18.39	-6.03	15.88	-	-	-	-	-5.91	23.31	DPRU.1774
6820040	Italy	Р	-5.4	38.1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.82	34.76	DPRU.1971
Admiral Dewey	US (GA)	Р	-5.27	27.98	-6.22	28.63	-	-	-	-	-5.85	30.61	DPRU.1119
Allstar®	US (MI)	Р	-7.63	9.08	-	-	-	-	-	-	-6.08	20.7	CU
AR-233	Uzbekistan	Р	-5.96	39.35	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.88	35.37	DPRU.721
Baby Crawford	US (CA)	Р	-5.2	39.79	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.79	35.58	DPRU.2139
Bai Mang Pen Tao	China	Р	-5.89	21.01	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.87	26.48	DPRU.2019
Big Red	US (FL)	Р	-8.02	7.7	-6.01	26.9	-5.32	29.86	-5.01	25.36	-6.03	23.54	CU
Biscoe	US (NC)	Р	-7.26	18.47	-	-	-5.65	34.44	-5.92	28.97	-6.07	26.51	CU
Bolinha	Brazil	Р	-6.06	26.6	-5.92	23.27	-	-	-	-	-5.9	28.41	DPRU.3259

Accessions	Origin	FТ	20	18	2021			2022	2023		BLUPs		Location
Accessions	Origin	I'I	IP	AUC	Location								
BR-2	Brazil	Р	-7.1	15.67	-6.16	24.69	-	-	-	-	-6.04	25.3	DPRU.1985
Brightstar	UC (CA)	Р	-	-	-	-	-7.62	23.98	-7.54	23.45	-6.43	22.52	CU
Calmar	US (CA)	Р	-6	31.76	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.89	31.69	DPRU.980
Candor	US (NC)	Р	-5.67	39.69	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.85	35.53	CU
Carmen	US (CA)	Р	-6.02	31.68	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.89	31.65	DPRU.2142
Carogem	US (SC)	Р	-	-	-	-	-6.35	28.15	-5.9	25.3	-6.12	24.48	CU
Caroking	US (SC)	Р	-	-	-4.62	35.03	-4.46	40.11	-4.04	44.16	-5.62	35.53	CU
Carored	US (SC)	Р	-6.24	16.76	-6.1	35.22	-5.49	35.52	-	-	-5.95	29.48	CU
Cascata332	Brazil	Р	-6.82	23.22	-7.09	12.3	-	-	-	-	-6.1	23.72	DPRU.3203
Cascata519	Brazil	Р	-6.66	14.34	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.96	23.25	DPRU.1761
Cerrito	Brazil	Р	-5.85	26.18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.87	28.98	DPRU.1661
China Pearl	US (NC)	Р	-	-	-	-	-4.65	36.53	-3.94	35.74	-5.74	30.63	CU
Chugdar	Pakistan	Р	-5.61	34.33	-7.27	24.71	-	-	-	-	-6	31.4	DPRU.1477
Churko	Pakistan	Р	-6.38	30.94	-4.41	25.61	-	-	-	-	-5.78	30.59	DPRU.1479
Coronet	US (GA)	Р	-	-	-	-	-6	38.67	-5.82	39.08	-6.08	32.42	CU
Cresthaven	US (CA)	Р	-	-	-	-	-4.62	35.72	-5.51	27.05	-5.9	27.53	CU
Criollo	Guatemala	Р	-7.01	15	-6.48	14.57	-	-	-	-	-6.06	21.78	DPRU.1790
Cumberland	US (NJ)	Р	-9.82	13.54	-5.57	23.87	-	-	-	-	-6.26	24.34	CU

Accessions	Origin	FT	2018		20	2021		2022		023	BLUPs		Location
Accessions	Origin	1, 1	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	Location
De Wet	S. Africa	Р	-6.07	21.81	-6.79	23.27	-	-	-	-	-5.99	26.84	DPRU.1610
Demeur	US (CA)	Р	-6.02	31.59	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.89	31.61	DPRU.2144
DPRU.2228.20B	China	Р	-6.91	14.47	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.99	23.31	DPRU.2228
DPRU.2495	China	Р	-5.64	29.68	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.84	30.68	DPRU.2495
Early Augustprince	US (GA)	Р	-	-	-	-	-5.95	23.42	-6.61	16.14	-6.15	19.95	CU
EarlyStar®	US (MI)	Р	-5.58	39.61	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.84	35.49	CU
Elberta	US (GA)	Р	-	-	-6.24	32.25	-5.29	32.59	-5.93	35.35	-6.04	30.83	CU
Empress	US (CA)	Р	-	-	-	-	-5.84	31.56	-5.36	32.37	-6.01	27.9	CU
Federica	Italy	Р	-5.98	33.95	-6.17	19.77	-	-	-	-	-5.92	29.66	DPRU.2270
FlavBurst®	US (WV)	Р	-5.75	40.48	-	-	-4.9	33.31	-	-	-5.82	33.48	CU
Fortyniner	US (CA)	Р	-5.23	41.57	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.8	36.44	DPRU.1355
Garnet Beauty	Canada	Р	-5.26	42.08	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.8	36.69	CU
Gilgalo	Pakistan	Р	-5.85	36.62	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.87	34.04	DPRU.1496
Glenglo	US (WV)	Р	-6.11	8.61	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.9	20.47	CU
Glory	US (GA)	Р	-	-	-7.31	9.51	-6.25	21.85	-5.4	15.75	-6.18	17.76	CU
<i>Glowingstar</i> ®	US (MI)	Р	-6.98	11.88	-	-	-	-	-	-	-6	22.05	CU
Golden Queen Improved	New Zealand	Р	-5.2	32.06	-5.66	31.51	-	-	-	-	-5.78	32.88	DPRU.1576
Harrow Beauty	Canada	Р	-15.84	25.18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-7.05	28.5	CU

Accessions	Origin	rigin FT	2018 FT		2021			2022		023 BL		UPs	Location
Accessions		I I	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	Location
Harrow Diamond	Canada	Р	-8.05	9.91	-7.19	10.29	-	-	-	-	-6.24	18.72	CU
Hiley	US (GA)	Р	-6.84	15.99	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.99	24.05	DPRU.537
Hunshu	Pakistan	Р	-6.24	29.64	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.92	30.66	DPRU.1480
Jade TM	France	N	-4	20.14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.65	26.06	CU
Jefferson	US (VA)	Р	-	-	-6.14	24.82	-4.22	34.46	-5.34	28.66	-5.87	27.81	CU
Joanna Sweet	US (CA)	Р	-	-	-6.16	14.92	-4.96	31.86	-5.63	34.7	-5.97	26.22	CU
John Boy	US (PA)	Р	-8.87	7.65	-	-	-5.37	31.84	-6.35	28.24	-6.24	23.02	CU
Julyprince	US (GA)	Р	-	-	-	-	-4.05	47.76	-4.91	40.38	-5.77	35.81	CU
Juneprince	US (GA)	Р	-7.24	22.46	-4.05	38.96	-5.57	32.63	-6.2	29.85	-5.92	30.27	CU
Juneprincess	US (GA)	Ν	-	-	-	-	-4.02	18.7	-4.08	24.49	-5.68	21.13	CU
Kawanakajima Hakutou	Japan	Р	-	-	-7.69	20.37	-	-	-	-	-6.2	25.8	DPRU.2466
Khanda	Pakistan	Р	-6.55	29.58	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.95	30.63	DPRU.1481
Kijewska Zapala	Poland	Р	-6.08	17.12	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.9	24.59	DPRU.1606
Lola	Russia	Р	-7.31	21.06	-5.13	25.22	-	-	-	-	-5.95	27.23	DPRU.1586
Loring	US (MO)	Р	-	-	-6.59	14.31	-5.14	42.43	-5.41	27.32	-6.01	26.86	CU
Lutkoo	Pakistan	Р	-6.26	30.1	-7.81	20.66	-	-	-	-	-6.12	28.7	DPRU.1483
Majestic	US (LA)	Р	-	-	-6.03	26.1	-4.66	37.06	-5.47	35.18	-5.91	30.37	CU
Miller'sLate	US (CA)	Р	-5.54	34.11	-6.56	23.92	-	-	-	-	-5.91	31.07	DPRU.1276

Accessions	Origin F	FT	2018 202		021	21 2022		2023 B		BL	UPs	Location	
Accessions	Origin		IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	Location
Muir Peach	US (CA)	Р	-5.01	30.18	-4.77	28.03	-	-	-	-	-5.67	31.13	DPRU.1177
Nata	n/a	Р	-5.7	31.77	-6.03	21.52	-	-	-	-	-5.87	29.52	DPRU.663
O'Henry	US (CA)	Р	-	-	-6.35	23.58	-5.53	28.03	-5.3	28.86	-6.01	25.97	CU
PF17	US (MI)	Р	-13.92	6.67	-	-	-	-	-	-	-6.82	19.53	CU
PF23	US (MI)	Р	-	-	-	-	-4.84	32.03	-5.8	34.82	-5.95	28.86	CU
Pallas	US (GA)	Р	-5.65	35.3	-5.96	29.82	-	-	-	-	-5.86	33.38	DPRU.539
Peregrine	UK	Р	-6.11	26.72	-4.11	25.46	-	-	-	-	-5.72	29.16	DPRU.654
PF15A	US (MI)	Р	-8.02	7.37	-	-	-	-	-	-	-6.13	19.87	CU
Prarie Schooner	US (IL)	Р	-6.14	27.05	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.9	29.41	DPRU.1569
Premier	Brazil	Р	-5.92	27.12	-6	28.6	-	-	-	-	-5.89	30.32	DPRU.2268
Ranniaya	Russia	Р	-5.81	31.33	-6.54	25.87	-	-	-	-	-5.94	30.8	DPRU.669
Raritan Rose	US (CA)	Р	-9.47	7.46	-	-	-	-	-	-	-6.3	19.91	DPRU.2171
Redglobe	US (MD)	Р	-7.96	6.93	-	-	-5.96	24.69	-5.43	17.69	-6.12	18.49	CU
Red Gold	US (MO)	Ν	-7.51	15.77	-	-	-	-	-	-	-6.07	23.94	CU
Redhaven	US (MI)	Р	-5.14	21.98	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.79	26.95	CU
Rich May	US (CA)	Р	-6.03	30.49	-	-	-5.39	35.31	-	-	-5.9	30.87	CU
Rogany Goy	Russia	Р	-	-	-	-	-4.25	44.13	-4.37	39.06	-5.74	34.19	DPRU.1566

Accessions	Origin	FТ	2018 Г		2021			2022)23	BLUPs		Location
Accessions	Origin		IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	Location
Ruston Red	US (LA)	Р	-	-	-	-	-4.88	33.05	-4.64	32.66	-5.83	28.49	CU
Sanguine Tardeva	US (CA)	Р	-6.07	33.64	-5.96	18.73	-	-	-	-	-5.91	29.22	DPRU.2175
SC5	US (SC)	Р	-	-	-4.86	34.83	-5.18	32.46	-4.74	34.69	-5.78	31.27	CU
Scarlet Pearl	US (GA)	Р	-9.44	7.3	-6.17	15.29	-4.68	38.57	-6	35.06	-6.2	24.8	CU
Scarletprince	US (GA)	Р	-11.26	10.97	-5.27	27.18	-	-	-	-	-6.38	24.58	CU
Sulina	Brazil	Р	-6.07	23.59	-6.19	25.5	-	-	-	-	-5.93	28.15	DPRU.1954
Summerprince	US (GA)	Р	-	-	-	-	-6.75	22.59	-7.24	24.76	-6.3	22.49	CU
Sunprince	US (GA)	Р	-	-	-	-	-7.77	21.95	-5.95	21.95	-6.28	21.37	CU
Sureprince	US (GA)	Р	-8.19	13.67	-4.8	39.7	-5.89	36.89	-6.24	37.52	-6.1	31.03	CU
Sweet Breeze	US (CA)	Р	-7.6	12.19	-	-	-	-	-	-	-6.08	22.2	CU
Sweet Dream	US (CA)	Р	-8.33	9.16	-	-	-	-	-	-	-6.16	20.73	CU
Sweet Scarlet	US (CA)	Р	-8.51	4.48	-	-	-	-	-	-	-6.18	18.47	CU
Sweetstar	France	Р	-	-	-	-	-4.75	30.75	-7.06	26.27	-6.07	25.65	CU
Takashur I	Pakistan	Р	-6.22	29.89	-5.42	23.72	-	-	-	-	-5.87	29.63	DPRU.1486
Tebana	Italy	Р	-5.9	38.08	-5.46	29.86	-	-	-	-	-5.84	34.3	DPRU.2008
Tho Muang	Thailand	Р	-7.43	17.81	-	-	-	-	-	-	-6.06	24.93	DPRU.1484
Tra-Zee	US (CA)	Р	-	-	-	-	-5.29	28.47	-5.39	29.05	-5.96	25.81	CU
Turquesa	Brazil	Р	-5.97	27.71	-5.99	27.54	-	-	-	-	-5.9	30.16	DPRU.1667

Accessions	Origin	FT _	20	2018		2021		2022		2023 BI		UPs	Location
Accessions			IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	IP	AUC	2000000
Tuscan Cling	US (MS)	Р	-5.89	29.91	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.87	30.79	DPRU.655
Valley Sweet	US (CA)	Р	-	-	-	-	-5.49	32.21	-5.98	29.21	-6.04	27.08	CU
Villa Ada	Italy	Р	-7.25	25.18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-6.03	28.5	DPRU.1977
Winblo Sport	US (NC)	Р	-6.1	8.68	-	-	-	-	-	-	-5.9	20.5	CU
Yumyeong	South Korea	Р	-12.23	14.21	-5.73	26.07	-	-	-	-	-6.53	25.28	DPRU.1612

Trait	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean
IP2018	80	-20.98	-4	-7.01
AUC2018	80	4.48	42.08	23.36
IP2021	47	-7.81	-4.05	-5.96
AUC2021	47	9.51	39.7	24.42
IP2022	36	-7.77	-4.02	-5.36
AUC2022	36	18.7	47.76	32.32
IP2023	33	-7.54	-3.94	-5.59
AUC2023	33	15.75	44.16	29.97
BLUP_IP	107	-7.47	-5.62	-6.00
BLUP_AUC	107	17.76	36.69	27.60

Table 3.2. Descriptive statistics of fruitlet freeze tolerance observed in peach and nectarine

germplasm evaluated for fruitlet freeze tolerance. IP, inflection point; AUC, area under curve;

BLUPs (best linear unbiased prediction) value.

N, number of analyzed samples.

The width of the violin plots reveals that the AUC distribution was broader than the IP distribution except for IP 2018, suggesting a higher degree of variability reflected by the AUC data (Figure 3.1 and 3.2).



Figure 3.1. Inflection Point distribution in modern peach breeding germplasm evaluated over four years and BLUP value.



Figure 3.2. Distribution of the area under the curve (AUC) phenotypes in modern peach breeding germplasm evaluated over four years and BLUP value.

Spearman correlation analysis revealed some significant positive correlations among all datasets (Figure 3.3). A strong correlation was observed between IP_BLUP and IP2018 with 0.88 and between AUC BLUP and AUC 2018 (0.93) and AUC 2023 (0.91).



Figure 3.3. Correlation between inflection point (IP) and Area under the curve (AUC) among years (2018 to 2023). Asterisks indicate the Spearman correlation coefficient at a significance level of p < 0.05 (*), 0.01 (**) and p < 0.001 (***)</p>

Detection of SNPs

Genotyping by sequencing resulted in 182,958 SNPs. After filtering for low genotype calls, MAF and HWE a total of 13,470 SNPs were retained for further analyses. The genotyping rate in the 107 accessions was 94%. SNP distribution over the eight chromosomes is shown in Figure

3.4. Chromosome 1 had the highest (2,457), while Chromosome 5 had the lowest number of SNPs (816).



Figure 3.4. SNP distribution across eight chromosomes of the peach genome.

Population structure and genome wide association study

Population structure analysis with fastSTRUCTURE suggested that K=4 best explained model complexity that maximizes marginal likelihood, and K=5 best explained structure in the data. Analysis of origin and pedigree of the material suggested that K=4 best explained the population structure in this material (Figure 3.5). Majority of accessions (63%) were classified as admixed which was expected due to the most of material belonging to the modern peach breeding germplasm (Appendix C.). Remaining accessions were grouped in four populations. Population one (colored red) included 10 accessions, majority being landraces from China (DPRU.2495, Churko, Hunshu, Khanda, Lutkoo, Takashuri, 880332, Chugdar, Rogany Goy and AR-233).

Population two (colored green) included 11 cultivars of North American origin (O'Henry, Sweet Scarlet, Tra-Zee, Valley Sweet, FlavrBurst, John Boy, Loring, Carored, Sweet Breeze, Coronet and Joanna Sweet). Population three (colored light blue) included four cultivars, three of Asian origin (Kawanakajima Hakutou, Yumyeong and BaiMangPenTao) and cultivar Cumberland. Population four (colored purple) included 15 accessions, cultivars and landraces with mixed origin from Brazil, Italy, France and U.S. Majority of admixed accessions were a mixture of population 2 and 4.



Figure 3.5. The population structure of 107 accessions revealed by fastSTRUCTURE.

Association mapping via general linear model (GLM) using all available dataset only revealed significant associations with the IP2018 and IP_BLUP datasets (Appendix D). Seven different marker-trait associations were detected after Bonferroni correction (p-value ≤ 0.05) (Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.6. Manhattan plot showing genome-wide association (GWAS) using general linear model (GLM) for Inflection Point (IP) using IP2018 (a) and BLUP2018 (b) datasets. Each color represents a different chromosome. The horizontal solid line represents the Bonferroni significance threshold 5.6 x 10^{-6} at a significance level of P < 0.05. Quantile–quantile (Q-Q) plots show that the quantile points lie on the theoretical normal line.

Significantly associated markers were detected on four chromosomes (Ch), Ch2 (3), Ch5 (1), Ch6 (1) and Ch7 (2) (Figure 3.6). Two markers on Ch2, S2_18060792 and S2_18025478, and a single marker on chromosome 7, S7_11673726, were the highest associated with both IP2018 and IP_BLUP ($P = 10^{-10}$) (Figure 3.6. a, b). The other significantly associated markers were S2_9245044 on Ch2, S5_772006 on Ch5, S6_11447678 on Ch6, and S7_12386756 on Ch7 (Table 3.3).

Trait	SNP name	P-value	Major Allele	Minor Allele
IP-2018	S2_18060792	10.457	А	G
	S2_18025478	10.342	Т	С
	S2_9245044	6.144	С	Т
	S5_7720068	5.477	Т	С
	S6_11447678	6.706	Т	С
	S7_11673726	10.021	А	С
	S7_12386756	6.746	G	Т
BLUPs IP	S2_18060792	10.141	А	G
	S2_18025478	10.506	Т	С
	S2_9245044	6.351	С	Т
	S5_7720068	5.468	Т	С
	S6_11447678	6.429	Т	С
	S7_11673726	9.906	А	С
	S7_12386756	6.198	G	Т

 Table 3.3. GLM analysis for the most significantly associated markers with IP 2018 - BLUPs IP

 based on Bonferroni multiple tests using GLM.

Candidate gene analysis

A total of 144 genes were identified in the 100kb flanking region of each significantly associated SNP (Appendix E). Out of 144 genes, 53 were located on Ch2, 13 on Ch5, 26 on Ch6, and 51 on Ch7. Most genes found in the vicinity of the two markers with the strongest association with the fruitlet freeze tolerance on Ch2 do not have known function or their functional annotation is not clearly associated with the freeze tolerance. Out of all candidate genes with available functional annotation Prupe.5G064100, on chromosome 5, and Prupe.6G142400 and Prupe.6G142600 on chromosome 6, all identified as part of the hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein
(HRGP) family proteins, and have been indicated in the environmental adaptation and cold tolerance. In addition, Prupe.6G142400 and Prupe.6G142600 were annotated as late Embryogenesis Abundant (LEA) proteins, a class of proteins synthesized in plants during the late phases of seed development or under environmental stress conditions, such as dehydration, cold, or high salinity.

Discussion

Peach material included in this research represents modern peach breeding germplasm from Clemson University and the National Clonal Germplasm Repository (NCGR) in Davis. Fruitlet freeze tolerance was evaluated in 107 accessions in four experimental years. The BLUPs value was preferred due to the unbalanced annual IP and AUC data available for the research. A subset of this material was evaluated in a previous study by Melgar et al. (2022) in 2018 and 2021. This dataset helped to increase the sample size for the genome-wide association study. As noted previously, slight variation in the temperatures in the fruitlet period followed by spring can result in significant economic losses. The differences between IP means in the experimental years were observed, with a wide average (-7.01C) observed in 2018 and a narrower IP average (-5.36 to -5.96 °C) between 2021 and 2023. The lowest IP value was observed in 2018 in fruitlets of landrace accession 880329 from Pakistan (-20.98°C), whereas fruitlets or peach cultivar China Pearl in 2023 had -3.94°C (Table 3.1). The possible reasons might be the differences in leakage in the cultivars shipped from California due to scars and the differences in the number of samples between years.

The population structure showed distinct origin-based grouping. Analysis of origin of the material suggested K=4 best explained the population structure and most accessions (63%) were classified as admixed, which was assumed due to the vast majority of the material belonging to the modern peach breeding germplasm.

The phenotypic variation observed in the peach germplasm utilized in this study allowed for detection of 4 regions in peach genome associated with the fruitlet freeze tolerance. Seven significantly associated SNPs were associated with the fruitlet freeze on 4 chromosomes (2, 5, 6 and 7). Investigating the 100 kb upstream and downstream from each SNP revealed 144 candidate genes. Many candidate genes had not been annotated. Among all genes the Hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein (HRGP) associated with SNP on chromosome 5 was described to play a vital role in support and strength to the cell wall and is also is detected in response to various environmental stressors, such as drought, salinity, and cold, suggesting that HRGPs could be involved in the plant's adaptation to adverse conditions (Showalter et al., 2010). Plants often face various abiotic stressors, such as environmental temperature changes, and in response, they have evolved different adaptive mechanisms, including modifications to their cell wall structure (Pinski et al., 2019). Cold stress leads to downregulating numerous photosynthesis-related proteins while upregulating proteins involved in cell wall remodeling (Janmohammadi et al., 2015). Thus, HRGB supports and strengthens the cell wall, helping plants withstand cold stress. Furthermore, Late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein associated with SNPs on chromosome 6 are a set of proteins that are produced in plants during the late stages of seed development or under conditions of environmental stress, such as dehydration, cold, or high salinity. These proteins are assumed to play a critical role in protecting cells and cellular structures from damage triggered by these stress conditions. The hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein (HRGP) family is a subgroup of LEA proteins. LEA proteins may have antifreeze properties, helping control ice crystal formation and cell damage during cold stress (Arora & Wisniewski, 1994; Yu et al., 2020d). Furthermore, research of the peach genome indicates that peaches have two ICE genes and six CBF genes (Wisniewski et al., 2014d). Regarding peach, five of the CBF genes are located on chromosome 5 (10,054,488 to 10,086,243), while the other is on chromosome 2 (24,801,153 - 24,802,102). On the other hand, ICE1 and ICE2 genes are located on chromosomes 3 (21739624 - 21746437) and 5 (13261248 - 13258470), respectively. Even though the association mapping studies revealed seven significant markers, none of them were close to our findings. However, including more

phenotypic with available GBS data in the future can help us find more significant markers that might be close to that region.

Fruitlet freeze tolerance in peach is a complex process that involves a range of physiological, biochemical, and molecular adaptations to survive in freezing conditions. Further research is needed to investigate some of the candidate genes and their potential involvement in the freeze tolerance.

Conclusion

This study provides preliminary findings on genetic control of the fruitlet freeze tolerance in peach genome. Association mapping revealed 7 significant marker-trait associations. Preliminary candidate gene investigations determined 144 genes in the 100kb flanking region of each significantly associated SNP located on Ch2 (53), Ch5 (13), Ch6 (26), and Ch7 (51). Candidate genes associated with fruitlet freeze tolerance on chromosomes 5 and 6 were indicated in the abiotic stress. These regions of the peach genome may provide new information for further studies on fruitlet freeze tolerance in peach. Additional research is required to further investigate candidate genes and to understand their role in the fruitlet freeze tolerance.

Works cited

- Abbott, A. G., Zhebentyayeva, T., Barakat, A., & Liu, Z. (2015). The genetic control of budbreak in trees. *Advances in botanical research* (pp. 201-228). Elsevier.
- Ahmad, R., Parfitt, D. E., Fass, J., Ogundiwin, E., Dhingra, A., Gradziel, T. M., Lin, D., Joshi, N. A., Martinez-Garcia, P. J., & Crisosto, C. H. (2011). Whole genome sequencing of peach (Prunus persica L.) for SNP identification and selection. *BMC Genomics*, 12, 1-7.
- Aranzana, M., Carbó, J., & Arús, P. (2003a). Microsatellite variability in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]: cultivar identification, marker mutation, pedigree inferences and population structure. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 106, 1341-1352.
- Aranzana, M., Pineda, A., Cosson, P., Dirlewanger, E., Ascasibar, J., Cipriani, G., Ryder, C., Testolin, R., Abbott, A., & King, G. (2003b). A set of simple-sequence repeat (SSR) markers covering the Prunus genome. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 106, 819-825.
- Aranzana, M. J., Abbassi, E., Howad, W., & Arús, P. (2010a). Genetic variation, population structure and linkage disequilibrium in peach commercial varieties. *BMC Genetics*, 11, 1-11.
- Aranzana, M. J., Abbassi, E., Howad, W., & Arús, P. (2010b). Genetic variation, population structure and linkage disequilibrium in peach commercial varieties. *BMC Genetics*, 11, 1-11.
- Aranzana, M. J., Decroocq, V., Dirlewanger, E., Eduardo, I., Gao, Z. S., Gasic, K., Iezzoni, A., Jung, S., Peace, C., & Prieto, H. (2019a). Prunus genetics and applications after de novo genome sequencing: achievements and prospects. *Horticulture Research*, 6
- Aranzana, M. J., Decroocq, V., Dirlewanger, E., Eduardo, I., Gao, Z. S., Gasic, K., Iezzoni, A., Jung, S., Peace, C., & Prieto, H. (2019b). Prunus genetics and applications after de novo genome sequencing: achievements and prospects. *Horticulture Research*, 6
- Aranzana, M. J., Illa, E., Howad, W., & Arús, P. (2012). A first insight into peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch] SNP variability. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 8, 1359-1369.
- Bassi, D., & Monet, R. (2008). Botany and taxonomy. *The peach: botany, production and uses* (pp. 1-36). Cabi Wallingford UK.
- Bielenberg, D. G., & Gasic, K. (2022). Peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch] cultivars differ in apparent base temperature and growing degree hour requirement for floral bud break. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 13, 801606.
- Bielenberg, D. G., Rauh, B., Fan, S., Gasic, K., Abbott, A. G., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., & Wells, C. E. (2015a). Genotyping by sequencing for SNP-based linkage map construction

and QTL analysis of chilling requirement and bloom date in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *PloS One, 10*(10), e0139406.

- Bielenberg, D. G., Rauh, B., Fan, S., Gasic, K., Abbott, A. G., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., & Wells, C. E. (2015b). Genotyping by sequencing for SNP-based linkage map construction and QTL analysis of chilling requirement and bloom date in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *PloS One, 10*(10), e0139406.
- Bradbury, P. J., Zhang, Z., Kroon, D. E., Casstevens, T. M., Ramdoss, Y., & Buckler, E. S. (2007). TASSEL: software for association mapping of complex traits in diverse samples. *Bioinformatics*, 23(19), 2633-2635.
- Byrne, D. H. (1990). Isozyme variability in four diploid stone fruits compared with other woody perennial plants. *Journal of Heredity*, *81*(1), 68-71.
- Cao, K., Wang, L., Zhu, G., Fang, W., Chen, C., & Luo, J. (2012a). Genetic diversity, linkage disequilibrium, and association mapping analyses of peach (Prunus persica) landraces in China. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 8, 975-990.
- Cao, K., Wang, L., Zhu, G., Fang, W., Chen, C., & Luo, J. (2012b). Genetic diversity, linkage disequilibrium, and association mapping analyses of peach (Prunus persica) landraces in China. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 8, 975-990.
- Cao, K., Zheng, Z., Wang, L., Liu, X., Zhu, G., Fang, W., Cheng, S., Zeng, P., Chen, C., & Wang, X. (2014). Comparative population genomics reveals the domestication history of the peach, Prunus persica, and human influences on perennial fruit crops. *Genome Biology*, 15, 1-15.
- Castède, S., Campoy, J. A., García, J. Q., Le Dantec, L., Lafargue, M., Barreneche, T., Wenden, B., & Dirlewanger, E. (2014). Genetic determinism of phenological traits highly affected by climate change in Prunus avium: flowering date dissected into chilling and heat requirements. *New Phytologist*, 202(2), 703-715.
- Chamberlain, C. J., Cook, B. I., García de Cortázar-Atauri, I., & Wolkovich, E. M. (2019). Rethinking false spring risk. *Global Change Biology*, *25*(7), 2209-2220.
- Chen, C., Okie, W. R., & Beckman, T. G. (2016). Peach fruit set and buttoning after spring frost. *HortScience*, *51*(7), 816-821.
- Cirilli, M., Gattolin, S., Chiozzotto, R., Baccichet, I., Pascal, T., Quilot-Turion, B., Rossini, L., & Bassi, D. (2021). The Di2/pet variant in the PETALOSA gene underlies a major heat requirement-related QTL for blooming date in peach [Prunus persica (L.) Batsch]. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 62(2), 356-365.

- Dai, Y., Boekee, J., Schilperoort, B., ten Veldhuis, M., & van de Wiel, B. J. (2023). Wind machines for frost damage mitigation: A quantitative 3D investigation based on observations. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 338, 109522.
- Dubina, N.Crops lost at vineyards & orchards after spring freeze. https://www.mytwintiers.com/news-cat/crops-lost-at-vineyards-orchards-after-spring-freeze/
- Edge-Garza, D. A., Rowland, T. V., Jr., Haendiges, S., & Peace, C. (2014). A high-throughput and cost-efficient DNA extraction protocol for the tree fruit crops of apple, sweet cherry, and peach relying on silica beads during tissue sampling. *Molecular Breeding*, *34*(4), 2225-2228. 10.1007/s11032-014-0160-x
- Eduardo, I., Chietera, G., Pirona, R., Pacheco, I., Troggio, M., Banchi, E., Bassi, D., Rossini, L., Vecchietti, A., & Pozzi, C. (2013). Genetic dissection of aroma volatile compounds from the essential oil of peach fruit: QTL analysis and identification of candidate genes using dense SNP maps. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, *9*, 189-204.
- Elshire, R. J., Glaubitz, J. C., Sun, Q., Poland, J. A., Kawamoto, K., Buckler, E. S., & Mitchell, S. E. (2011a). A robust, simple genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) approach for high diversity species. *PloS One*, 6(5), e19379.
- Elshire, R. J., Glaubitz, J. C., Sun, Q., Poland, J. A., Kawamoto, K., Buckler, E. S., & Mitchell, S. E. (2011b). A robust, simple genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) approach for high diversity species. *PloS One*, 6(5), e19379.
- Fadón, E., & Rodrigo, J. (2018). Unveiling winter dormancy through empirical experiments. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 152, 28-36.
- Fan, S., Bielenberg, D. G., Zhebentyayeva, T. N., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., Holland, D., & Abbott, A. G. (2010). Mapping quantitative trait loci associated with chilling requirement, heat requirement and bloom date in peach (Prunus persica). *New Phytologist*, 185(4), 917-930.
- Hatfield, J. L., & Prueger, J. H. (2015). Temperature extremes: Effect on plant growth and development. *Weather and Climate Extremes, 10*, 4-10.
- Inouye, D. W. (2000). The ecological and evolutionary significance of frost in the context of climate change. *Ecology Letters*, *3*(5), 457-463.
- Janmohammadi, M., Zolla, L., & Rinalducci, S. (2015). Low temperature tolerance in plants: changes at the protein level. *Phytochemistry*, *117*, 76-89.
- Jung, S., Lee, T., Cheng, C., Buble, K., Zheng, P., Yu, J., Humann, J., Ficklin, S. P., Gasic, K., Scott, K., Frank, M., Ru, S., Hough, H., Evans, K., Peace, C., Olmstead, M., DeVetter, L. W., McFerson, J., Coe, M., . . . Main, D. (2018). 15 years of GDR: New data and

functionality in the Genome Database for Rosaceae. *Nucleic Acid Research*, , 1-9. 10.1093/nar/gky1000

- Jung, S., Lee, T., Cheng, C., Buble, K., Zheng, P., Yu, J., Humann, J., Ficklin, S. P., Gasic, K., & Scott, K. (2019a). 15 years of GDR: New data and functionality in the Genome Database for Rosaceae. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(D1), D1137-D1145.
- Jung, S., Lee, T., Cheng, C., Buble, K., Zheng, P., Yu, J., Humann, J., Ficklin, S. P., Gasic, K., & Scott, K. (2019b). 15 years of GDR: New data and functionality in the Genome Database for Rosaceae. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(D1), D1137-D1145.
- Lamichhane, J. R. (2021). Rising risks of late-spring frosts in a changing climate. *Nature Climate Change*, 11(7), 554-555.
- Langmead, B., & Salzberg, S. L. (2012). Fast gapped-read alignment with Bowtie 2. *Nature Methods*, 9(4), 357-359.
- Lenz, A., Hoch, G., Vitasse, Y., & Körner, C. (2013). European deciduous trees exhibit similar safety margins against damage by spring freeze events along elevational gradients. *New Phytologist*, 200(4), 1166-1175.
- Li, X., Meng, X., Jia, H., Yu, M., Ma, R., Wang, L., Cao, K., Shen, Z., Niu, L., & Tian, J. (2013). Peach genetic resources: diversity, population structure and linkage disequilibrium. *BMC Genetics*, 14, 1-16.
- Liu, Q., Piao, S., Janssens, I. A., Fu, Y., Peng, S., Lian, X. U., Ciais, P., Myneni, R. B., Peñuelas, J., & Wang, T. (2018). Extension of the growing season increases vegetation exposure to frost. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 426.
- Melgar, J. C., Zhou, Q., Lawrence, B. T., Gasic, K., Preece, J. E., & DeBuse, C. (2022). Tolerance of peach fruitlets to late spring freezes. Paper presented at the (1346) 191-194. 10.17660/ActaHortic.2022.1346.25 <u>https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2022.1346.25</u>
- Micheletti, D., Dettori, M. T., Micali, S., Aramini, V., Pacheco, I., Da Silva Linge, C., Foschi, S., Banchi, E., Barreneche, T., & Quilot-Turion, B. (2015a). Whole-genome analysis of diversity and SNP-major gene association in peach germplasm. *PloS One*, 10(9), e0136803.
- Micheletti, D., Dettori, M. T., Micali, S., Aramini, V., Pacheco, I., Da Silva Linge, C., Foschi, S., Banchi, E., Barreneche, T., & Quilot-Turion, B. (2015b). Whole-genome analysis of diversity and SNP-major gene association in peach germplasm. *PloS One*, 10(9), e0136803.
- Mnejja, M., Garcia-Mas, J., Audergon, J., & Arús, P. (2010). Prunus microsatellite marker transferability across rosaceous crops. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 6(5), 689-700.
- Nuñez-Lillo, G., Balladares, C., Pavez, C., Urra, C., Sanhueza, D., Vendramin, E., Dettori, M. T., Arús, P., Verde, I., Blanco-Herrera, F., Campos-Vargas, R., & Meneses, C. (2019).

High-density genetic map and QTL analysis of soluble solid content, maturity date, and mealiness in peach using genotyping by sequencing. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 257, 108734. 10.1016/j.scienta.2019.108734

- Olukolu, B. A., Trainin, T., Fan, S., Kole, C., Bielenberg, D. G., Reighard, G. L., Abbott, A. G., & Holland, D. (2009). Genetic linkage mapping for molecular dissection of chilling requirement and budbreak in apricot (Prunus armeniaca L.). *Genome*, 52(10), 819-828.
- Pacheco, I., Bassi, D., Eduardo, I., Ciacciulli, A., Pirona, R., Rossini, L., & Vecchietti, A. (2014). QTL mapping for brown rot (Monilinia fructigena) resistance in an intraspecific peach (Prunus persica L. Batsch) F1 progeny. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 10, 1223-1242.
- Pinski, A., Betekhtin, A., Sala, K., Godel-Jedrychowska, K., Kurczynska, E., & Hasterok, R. (2019). Hydroxyproline-rich glycoproteins as markers of temperature stress in the leaves of Brachypodium distachyon. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(10), 2571.
- Purcell, S., Neale, B., Todd-Brown, K., Thomas, L., Ferreira, M. A., Bender, D., Maller, J., Sklar, P., De Bakker, P. I., & Daly, M. J. (2007). PLINK: a tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 81(3), 559-575.
- Raj, A., Stephens, M., & Pritchard, J. K. (2014). fastSTRUCTURE: Variational inference of population structure in large SNP datasets. *Genetics*, 197(2), 573-589. 10.1534/genetics.114.164350
- Rawandoozi, Z. J., Hartmann, T. P., Carpenedo, S., Gasic, K., da Silva Linge, C., Cai, L., Van de Weg, E., & Byrne, D. H. (2021). Mapping and characterization QTLs for phenological traits in seven pedigree-connected peach families. *BMC Genomics*, 22, 1-16.
- Romeu, J. F., Monforte, A. J., Sánchez, G., Granell, A., García-Brunton, J., Badenes, M. L., & Ríos, G. (2014). Quantitative trait loci affecting reproductive phenology in peach. *BMC Plant Biology*, 14, 1-16.
- Rosenberg, N. A. (2004). DISTRUCT: a program for the graphical display of population structure. *Molecular Ecology Notes*, 4(1), 137-138.
- Sakai, A., & Larcher, W. (2012). Frost survival of plants: responses and adaptation to freezing stress. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Showalter, A. M., Keppler, B., Lichtenberg, J., Gu, D., & Welch, L. R. (2010). A bioinformatics approach to the identification, classification, and analysis of hydroxyproline-rich glycoproteins. *Plant Physiology*, 153(2), 485-513.
- Sønsteby, A., Heide, O. M., Rivero, R., Måge, F., & Remberg, S. F. (2019). Phenology, flowering and fruit-set performance of six recent pear cultivars of Nordic origin. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B—Soil & Plant Science, 69*(7), 578-587.

- Thurow, L. B., Gasic, K., Bassols Raseira, M. d. C., Bonow, S., & Marques Castro, C. (2020). Genome-wide SNP discovery through genotyping by sequencing, population structure, and linkage disequilibrium in Brazilian peach breeding germplasm. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 16, 1-14.
- Vanalli, C., Casagrandi, R., Gatto, M., & Bevacqua, D. (2021). Shifts in the thermal niche of fruit trees under climate change: The case of peach cultivation in France. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 300, 108327.
- Verde, I., Abbott, A. G., Scalabrin, S., Jung, S., Shu, S., Marroni, F., Zhebentyayeva, T., Dettori, M. T., Grimwood, J., & Cattonaro, F. (2013). The high-quality draft genome of peach (Prunus persica) identifies unique patterns of genetic diversity, domestication and genome evolution. *Nature Genetics*, 45(5), 487-494.
- Verde, I., Bassil, N., Scalabrin, S., Gilmore, B., Lawley, C. T., Gasic, K., Micheletti, D., Rosyara, U. R., Cattonaro, F., & Vendramin, E. (2012). Development and evaluation of a 9K SNP array for peach by internationally coordinated SNP detection and validation in breeding germplasm. *PloS One*, 7(4), e35668.
- Verde, I., Jenkins, J., Dondini, L., Micali, S., Pagliarani, G., Vendramin, E., Paris, R., Aramini, V., Gazza, L., & Rossini, L. (2017a). The Peach v2. 0 release: high-resolution linkage mapping and deep resequencing improve chromosome-scale assembly and contiguity. *BMC Genomics*, 18(1), 1-18.
- Verde, I., Jenkins, J., Dondini, L., Micali, S., Pagliarani, G., Vendramin, E., Paris, R., Aramini, V., Gazza, L., Rossini, L., Bassi, D., Troggio, M., Shu, S., Grimwood, J., Tartarini, S., Dettori, M. T., & Schmutz, J. (2017b). The Peach v2.0 release: high-resolution linkage mapping and deep resequencing improve chromosome-scale assembly and contiguity. *BMC Genomics*, 18(1), 225. 10.1186/s12864-017-3606-9
- Vitasse, Y., Lenz, A., & Körner, C. (2014). The interaction between freezing tolerance and phenology in temperate deciduous trees. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *5*, 541.
- Yang, N., Reighard, G., Ritchie, D., Okie, W., & Gasic, K. (2013). Mapping quantitative trait loci associated with resistance to bacterial spot (Xanthomonas arboricola pv. pruni) in peach. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 9, 573-586.
- Yu, J., Conrad, A. O., Decroocq, V., Zhebentyayeva, T., Williams, D. E., Bennett, D., Roch, G., Audergon, J., Dardick, C., & Liu, Z. (2020). Distinctive gene expression patterns define endodormancy to ecodormancy transition in apricot and peach. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11, 180.
- Zhebentyayeva, T. N., Fan, S., Chandra, A., Bielenberg, D. G., Reighard, G. L., Okie, W. R., & Abbott, A. G. (2014). Dissection of chilling requirement and bloom date QTLs in peach using a whole genome sequencing of sibling trees from an F 2 mapping population. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 10, 35-51.

CHAPTER FOUR

The increasing occurrence of freezing temperatures during spring in the southeastern United States poses a significant challenge to peach and nectarine production in the region. The outstanding losses experienced in the peach industry due to recurrent spring frosts have prompted a more thorough investigation into these traits. The breeding efforts now include development of climate resilient cultivars. The primary aim of this study was to understand the genetic factors responsible for fruitlet freeze tolerance by determining the region in the peach genome associated with this trait. Therefore, this study assessed fruitlet freeze tolerance in peach and nectarine accessions representing modern peach breeding germplasm. Fruitlet freeze tolerance was evaluated at six freezing temperatures (0 to -10°C) using the electrolyte leakage method over two seasons (2022-20223). Most accessions showed tolerance in the -4 to -6°C LT50 and 25-35% AUC range. Furthermore, seven and nine nectarines were classified as most tolerant in both seasons, 2022 and 2023, using IP and AUC, respectively. Tolerance groups proposed in this study are of direct benefit for peach growers as they now have additional information to consult when choosing what to plant and also how to manage already planted cultivars.

Broad-sense heritability (H^2) estimates of 0.52 and 0.80 for IP and AUC presented genetic control of this trait with a potential for improvement via breeding. The genetic control of the fruitlet freeze tolerance in peaches was further investigated via genome-wide associations, revealing seven significant marker-trait associations across the whole genome. Preliminary candidate gene analyses determined 144 genes in the 100kb flanking region of each significantly associated SNP located on Ch2 (53), Ch5 (13), Ch6 (26), and Ch7 (51). These findings highlighted the first step in understanding genetic control of fruitlet freeze tolerance in peach, and highlights some significant markers that are playing a role in it. Out of all candidate genes with available functional annotation, Prupe.5G064100 on chromosome 5 annotated as hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein (HRGP) family proteins and late Embryogenesis Abundant (LEA) proteins (Prupe.6G142400 and Prupe.6G142600) on chromosome 6, have been indicated in the environmental adaptation and cold tolerance. Additional research is required to investigate candidate genes further. Phenotypic information could serve in parent selection and support efforts to maintain and expand the peach germplasm diversity to mitigate the effects of climate change. These findings emphasize the importance of combining genetic information into breeding efforts and germplasm management to ensure the long-term sustainability of peach production under changing climatic conditions.

APPENDICES

Appendix A

Fruitlet freeze response to freezing temperatures observed in peach and nectarine accessions listed by release year in 2022.





















Ruston Red







0.4

0.2

0.0

Temprature (- °C)









0.0 +

Temprature (- °C)



Rich May



Summerprince













Glory









Arctic Gold





Autumnprince





Snow Prince







Arctic Blaze





Joanna Sweet











Westbrook





Early Augustprince





Summerfest





Sweetstar



























Appendix **B**

Fruitlet freeze response to freezing temperatures observed in peach and nectarine accessions listed by release year in 2023.













-10






































Rubyprince

Temperature (°C)

Electrolyte Leakage (%)



-10

-10

























-6

-8

-10

SC-3







Appendix C

Genetic diversity analysis of peach and nectarine population using FastStructure. Index – Numbers of accessions; POP – population groups; analysis of origin of the material suggested K=4 (Q1 - Q4).

Index	POP	Accessions	Origin	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4
1	pop4	6820040	Italy	0.00001	0.01006	0.169111	0.820818
7	pop4	Admiral Dewey	US (GA)	0.000011	0.000011	0.000011	0.999966
14	pop4	Bolinha	Brazil	0.000011	0.00001	0.000011	0.999968
9	pop4	BR-2	Brazil	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001	0.99997
30	pop4	Criollo	Guatemala	0.000011	0.000011	0.000011	0.999968
35	pop4	De Wet	South Africa	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001	0.99997
42	pop4	Fortyniner	US (CA)	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001	0.99997
48	pop4	Golden Queen Improved	New Zealand	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001	0.999969
67	pop4	Miller'sLate	US (CA)	0.000011	0.000011	0.000011	0.999968
68	pop4	Muir Peach	US (CA)	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001	0.99997
75	pop4	Peregrine	UK	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001	0.99997
r87	pop4	Sanguine Tardeva	US (CA)	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001	0.99997
99	pop4	Tebana	Italy	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001	0.99997
103	pop4	Tuscan Cling	US (MS)	0.00001	0.011644	0.00001	0.988336
105	pop4	Villa Ada	Italy	0.00001	0.00001	0.080732	0.919248

Index	POP	Trait	Origin	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4
11	pop3	Bai Mang Pen Tao	China	0.17577	0.00001	0.824209	0.00001
31	pop3	Cumberland	US (NJ)	0.066996	0.00001	0.932984	0.00001
60	pop3	Kawanakajima Hakutou	Japan	0.009881	0.00001	0.990099	0.00001
107	pop3	Yumyeong	South Korea	0.134332	0.000011	0.865646	0.000011
21	pop2	Carored	US (SC)	0.00001	0.827438	0.036421	0.136131
28	pop2	Coronet	US (GA)	0.020034	0.8121	0.00001	0.167855
41	pop2	FlavBurst®	US (WV)	0.00001	0.836388	0.163592	0.00001
55	pop2	Joanna Sweet	US (CA)	0.137099	0.80609	0.00001	0.0568
56	pop2	John Boy	US (PA)	0.00001	0.832898	0.00001	0.167082
64	pop2	Loring	US (MO)	0.00001	0.832442	0.00001	0.167538
70	pop2	O'Henry	US (CA)	0.00001	0.99997	0.00001	0.00001
94	pop2	Sweet Breeze	US (CA)	0.00001	0.818485	0.00001	0.181495
96	pop2	Sweet Scarlet	US (CA)	0.00001	0.99997	0.00001	0.00001
101	pop2	Tra-Zee	US (CA)	0.00001	0.99997	0.00001	0.00001
104	pop2	Valley Sweet	US (CA)	0.028022	0.971957	0.00001	0.00001
5	pop1	880332	Pakistan	0.999968	0.000011	0.000011	0.000011
6	pop1	AR-233	Uzbekistan	0.999969	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001
26	pop1	Chugdar	Pakistan	0.999968	0.000011	0.000011	0.000011
27	pop1	Churko	Pakistan	0.999969	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001

Index	РОР	Trait	Origin	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4
33	pop1	DPRU.2495	China	0.99997	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001
52	pop1	Hunshu	Pakistan	0.999969	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001
61	pop1	Khanda	Pakistan	0.999969	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001
65	pop1	Lutkoo	Pakistan	0.999969	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001
84	pop1	Rogany Goy	Russia	0.962493	0.00001	0.00001	0.037487
98	pop1	Takashur I	Pakistan	0.999969	0.00001	0.00001	0.00001
2	admixed	745	Poland	0.489716	0.190824	0.00001	0.31945
3	admixed	880329	Pakistan	0.78135	0.00001	0.00001	0.21863
4	admixed	880330	Pakistan	0.624434	0.00001	0.00001	0.375546
8	admixed	Allstar®	US (MI)	0.00001	0.183471	0.446063	0.370456
10	admixed	Baby Crawford	US (CA)	0.202382	0.00001	0.238884	0.558725
12	admixed	Big Red	US (FL)	0.00001	0.661895	0.00001	0.338086
13	admixed	Biscoe	US (NC)	0.00001	0.00001	0.683488	0.316493
15	admixed	Brightstar	UC (CA)	0.00001	0.042397	0.308845	0.648748
16	admixed	Calmar	US (CA)	0.095318	0.00001	0.45935	0.445322
17	admixed	Candor	US (NC)	0.00001	0.514012	0.00001	0.485968
18	admixed	Carmen	US (CA)	0.00001	0.00001	0.693885	0.306095
19	admixed	Carogem	US (SC)	0.00001	0.260955	0.373333	0.365702
20	admixed	Caroking	US (SC)	0.00001	0.536927	0.00001	0.463053

Index	POP	Trait	Origin	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4
22	admixed	Cascata332	Brazil	0.380429	0.348695	0.00001	0.270866
23	admixed	Cascata519	Brazil	0.219025	0.320238	0.357776	0.102961
24	admixed	Cerrito	Brazil	0.404672	0.00001	0.082697	0.51262
25	admixed	China Pearl	US (NC)	0.343922	0.00001	0.280914	0.375153
29	admixed	Cresthaven	US (CA)	0.00001	0.505393	0.00001	0.494586
34	admixed	Demeur	US (CA)	0.280985	0.207513	0.130018	0.381484
32	admixed	DPRU.2228.20B	China	0.54417	0.000011	0.117244	0.338575
36	admixed	Early Augustprince	US (GA)	0.00001	0.37862	0.460891	0.160479
37	admixed	EarlyStar®	US (MI)	0.000011	0.253844	0.267247	0.478898
38	admixed	Elberta	US (GA)	0.00001	0.398843	0.601137	0.00001
39	admixed	Empress	US (CA)	0.146693	0.059596	0.582939	0.210772
40	admixed	Federica	Italy	0.00001	0.00001	0.328365	0.671614
43	admixed	Garnet Beauty	Canada	0.00001	0.52666	0.00001	0.47332
44	admixed	Gilgalo	Pakistan	0.441162	0.00001	0.00001	0.558817
45	admixed	Glenglo	US (WV)	0.00001	0.59456	0.00001	0.405419
46	admixed	Glory	US (GA)	0.00001	0.428584	0.499135	0.072271
47	admixed	Glowingstar®	US (MI)	0.00001	0.206663	0.351881	0.441447
49	admixed	Harrow Beauty	Canada	0.00001	0.318406	0.279751	0.401833
50	admixed	Harrow Diamond	Canada	0.00001	0.00001	0.587484	0.412495

Index	POP	Trait	Origin	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4
51	admixed	Hiley	US (GA)	0.00001	0.331813	0.133364	0.534813
53	admixed	Jade TM	France	0.071487	0.694315	0.00001	0.234188
54	admixed	Jefferson	US (VA)	0.00001	0.450946	0.549034	0.00001
57	admixed	Julyprince	US (GA)	0.00001	0.101023	0.696967	0.202
58	admixed	Juneprince	US (GA)	0.00001	0.657867	0.259969	0.082154
59	admixed	Juneprincess	US (GA)	0.00001	0.659279	0.00001	0.340701
62	admixed	Kijewska Zapala	Poland	0.306308	0.017191	0.050812	0.625689
63	admixed	Lola	Russia	0.645667	0.00001	0.031794	0.322528
66	admixed	Majestic	US (LA)	0.00001	0.00001	0.745947	0.254033
69	admixed	Nata	n/a	0.00001	0.377797	0.622183	0.00001
74	admixed	Pallas	US (GA)	0.467279	0.036005	0.146924	0.349793
71	admixed	PF15A	US (MI)	0.00001	0.669271	0.330709	0.00001
72	admixed	PF17	US (MI)	0.00001	0.499574	0.193222	0.307194
73	admixed	PF23	US (MI)	0.00001	0.395872	0.343273	0.260845
76	admixed	Prarie Schooner	US (IL)	0.000011	0.408377	0.48132	0.110292
77	admixed	Premier	Brazil	0.403232	0.315459	0.176985	0.104323
78	admixed	Ranniaya	Russia	0.00001	0.361618	0.638362	0.00001
79	admixed	Raritan Rose	US (CA)	0.00001	0.144729	0.500889	0.354372
80	admixed	Red Gold	US (MO)	0.00001	0.318649	0.303456	0.377885

Index	РОР	Trait	Origin	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4
81	admixed	Redglobe	US (MD)	0.024315	0.766516	0.000011	0.209159
82	admixed	Redhaven	US (MI)	0.00001	0.56474	0.00001	0.43524
83	admixed	Rich May	US (CA)	0.087769	0.473081	0.131442	0.307707
85	admixed	Ruston Red	US (LA)	0.000011	0.310089	0.52613	0.16377
86	admixed	SC5	US (SC)	0.023176	0.236998	0.379742	0.360083
88	admixed	Scarlet Pearl	US (GA)	0.00001	0.55796	0.00001	0.442021
89	admixed	Scarletprince	US (GA)	0.471275	0.115603	0.264223	0.148899
90	admixed	Sulina	Brazil	0.305706	0.283072	0.115046	0.296176
91	admixed	Summerprince	US (GA)	0.00001	0.628646	0.00001	0.371333
92	admixed	Sunprince	US (GA)	0.00001	0.00001	0.792963	0.207017
93	admixed	Sureprince	US (GA)	0.00001	0.263846	0.518773	0.217371
95	admixed	Sweet Dream	US (CA)	0.171091	0.620696	0.00001	0.208203
97	admixed	Sweetstar	France	0.00001	0.196455	0.369104	0.434431
100	admixed	Tho Muang	Thailand	0.617976	0.00001	0.370581	0.011433
102	admixed	Turquesa	Brazil	0.286573	0.00001	0.001998	0.711419
106	admixed	Winblo Sport	US (NC)	0.000011	0.236796	0.376461	0.386731

Appendix D

Manhattan plot showing genome-wide association (GWAS) using a general linear model (GLM) for all traits.















Appendix E

This table header includes columns for the SNP identifier, the total number of genes identified in the 100kb flanking region of each SNP, and the size of the flanking region in kilobases.

SNPs	LOCUS NAME	ANNOTATIONS
S2_18060792	Prupe.2G123200	Integrase-type DNA-binding superfamily protein
S2_18025478	Prupe.2G123300	0
S2_9245044	Prupe.2G123400	Transcription factor jumonji (jmjC) domain-containing protein
	Prupe.2G123500	ribosomal protein S19
	Prupe.2G123700	DNAJ homologue 2
	Prupe.2G123800	TRAF-like family protein
	Prupe.2G123900	Copper transport protein family
	Prupe.2G124000	Phosphoglycerate mutase family protein
	Prupe.2G124200	zinc ion binding
	Prupe.2G124300	0
	Prupe.2G124400	0
	Prupe.2G124500	0
	Prupe.2G124600	Plant protein of unknown function (DUF247)
	Prupe.2G124700	0
	Prupe.2G124800	Plant protein of unknown function (DUF247)

SNPs LOCUS NAME ANNOTATIONS Prupe.2G124900 Plant protein of unknown function (DUF247) Prupe.2G125000 0 Prupe.2G125100 Plant protein of unknown function (DUF247) Prupe.2G123600 RING/U-box superfamily protein Prupe.2G124100 myb-like HTH transcriptional regulator family protein Prupe.2G122600 Chalcone and stilbene synthase family protein Prupe.2G122700 alpha/beta-Hydrolases superfamily protein Prupe.2G122800 0 Prupe.2G123000 autophagy 3 (APG3) Prupe.2G123200 Integrase-type DNA-binding superfamily protein Prupe.2G123300 0 Prupe.2G123400 Transcription factor jumonji (jmjC) domain-containing protein Prupe.2G123500 ribosomal protein S19 Prupe.2G123700 DNAJ homologue 2 Prupe.2G123800 TRAF-like family protein Prupe.2G123900 Copper transport protein family Prupe.2G124000 Phosphoglycerate mutase family protein Prupe.2G124200 zinc ion binding Prupe.2G124300 0

LOCUS NAME ANNOTATIONS Prupe.2G124400 0 Prupe.2G124500 0 Prupe.2G124600 Plant protein of unknown function (DUF247) Prupe.2G124700 0 Prupe.2G124800 Plant protein of unknown function (DUF247) Prupe.2G124900 Plant protein of unknown function (DUF247) Prupe.2G125000 0 Prupe.2G122500 Tetratricopeptide repeat (TPR)-like superfamily protein Prupe.2G122900 histone mono-ubiquitination 1 Prupe.2G123600 RING/U-box superfamily protein Prupe.2G124100 myb-like HTH transcriptional regulator family protein ATP binding;leucine-tRNA ligases;aminoacyl-tRNA ligases;nucleotide Prupe.2G123100 binding;ATP binding;aminoacyl-tRNA ligases Prupe.2G066300 3-oxo-5-alpha-steroid 4-dehydrogenase family protein Prupe.2G066500 ribonucleotide reductase 2A Prupe.2G066600 disease resistance protein (TIR-NBS-LRR class), putative Prupe.2G066800 YELLOW STRIPE like 7 Prupe.2G066900 0 Prupe.2G067000 Protein kinase superfamily protein

SNPs

SNPs	LOCUS NAME	ANNOTATIONS
	Prupe.2G066400	3-oxo-5-alpha-steroid 4-dehydrogenase family protein
	Prupe.2G066700	Adaptin family protein
S5_7720068	Prupe.5G063000	cullin 1
	Prupe.5G063100	cullin 1
	Prupe.5G063300	cullin 1
	Prupe.5G063400	RING/U-box superfamily protein
	Prupe.5G063500	cullin 1
	Prupe.5G063600	0
	Prupe.5G063700	cullin 1
	Prupe.5G063800	alpha/beta-Hydrolases superfamily protein
	Prupe.5G063900	Phosphotyrosine protein phosphatases superfamily protein
	Prupe.5G064000	0
	Prupe.5G064100	hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein family protein
	Prupe.5G063200	cullin 1
	Prupe.5G064200	0
S6_11447678	Prupe.6G140100	Pentatricopeptide repeat (PPR) superfamily protein
	Prupe.6G140300	cysteine-rich RLK (RECEPTOR-like protein kinase) 10
	Prupe.6G140400	cysteine-rich RLK (RECEPTOR-like protein kinase) 10
	Prupe.6G140500	0

SNPs LOCUS NAME ANNOTATIONS

Prupe.6G140600 cyclin p4;1

- Prupe.6G140700 crooked neck protein, putative / cell cycle protein, putative
- Prupe.6G140800 Eukaryotic aspartyl protease family protein
- Prupe.6G141000 0
- Prupe.6G141100 pathogenesis-related 4
- Prupe.6G141200 5\'-3\' exoribonuclease 3
- Prupe.6G141300 NAD(P)-linked oxidoreductase superfamily protein
- Prupe.6G141400 NDR1/HIN1-like 1
- Prupe.6G141500 Polynucleotidyl transferase, ribonuclease H-like superfamily protein
- Prupe.6G141600 Protein kinase superfamily protein
- Prupe.6G141700 phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase kinase 1
- Prupe.6G141800 F-box family protein
- Prupe.6G141900 PR5-like receptor kinase
- Prupe.6G142000 RING/U-box superfamily protein
- Prupe.6G142100 suppressor of npr1-1 constitutive 4
- Prupe.6G142200 suppressor of npr1-1 constitutive 4

Late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein Prupe.6G142400 family

Prupe.6G142500 0

SNPs LOCUS NAME ANNOTATIONS Late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein Prupe.6G142600 family Prupe.6G140200 0 Prupe.6G140900 0 Prupe.6G142300 Protein kinase superfamily protein S7 11673726 Prupe.7G080200 DNA-3-methyladenine glycosylase (MAG) S7 12386756 Prupe.7G080300 0 Prupe.7G080400 spindle pole body component 98 Prupe.7G080600 0 Prupe.7G080700 beta glucosidase 13 Prupe.7G080900 Protein kinase superfamily protein Prupe.7G081100 0 Prupe.7G081200 Cation efflux family protein Prupe.7G081300 Cupredoxin superfamily protein Prupe.7G081400 0 Prupe.7G081600 TRAF-like family protein Prupe.7G081700 TRAF-like family protein Prupe.7G081800 Cupredoxin superfamily protein Prupe.7G081900 Cysteine/Histidine-rich C1 domain family protein

SNPs LOCUS NAME ANNOTATIONS

- Prupe.7G082000 0
- Prupe.7G082100 Cupredoxin superfamily protein
- Prupe.7G082200 Protein of unknown function DUF106, transmembrane
- Prupe.7G082300 C2H2 and C2HC zinc fingers superfamily protein
- Prupe.7G082500 0
- Prupe.7G080500 beta glucosidase 15
- Prupe.7G080800 seven in absentia of Arabidopsis 2
- Prupe.7G081000 0
- Prupe.7G082400 P-loop containing nucleoside triphosphate hydrolases superfamily protein
- Prupe.7G081500 TRAF-like family protein
- Prupe.7G089300 Sucrose-6F-phosphate phosphohydrolase family protein
- Prupe.7G089500 ABC-2 type transporter family protein
- Prupe.7G089600 calcium-dependent protein kinase 20
- Prupe.7G089700 0
- Prupe.7G089800 0
- Prupe.7G089900 cellulose synthase like E1
- Prupe.7G090000 Protein of unknown function, DUF593
- Prupe.7G090200 0
- Prupe.7G090300 0

SNPs LOCUS NAME ANNOTATIONS

Prupe.7G090400	thioredoxin O1
----------------	----------------

- Prupe.7G090500 RING-H2 group F2A
- Prupe.7G090600 FASCICLIN-like arabinogalactan protein 17 precursor
- Prupe.7G090700 TPX2 (targeting protein for Xklp2) protein family
- Prupe.7G090800 calmodulin-domain protein kinase cdpk isoform 2
- Prupe.7G090900 0
- Prupe.7G091000 Pentatricopeptide repeat (PPR) superfamily protein
- Prupe.7G091200 0
- Prupe.7G091300 0
- Prupe.7G091400 AGAMOUS-like 62
- Prupe.7G091600 Dihydroneopterin aldolase
- Prupe.7G091700 ubiquitin-specific protease 8
- Prupe.7G091800 0
- Prupe.7G091900 0
- Prupe.7G089400 carotenoid isomerase
- Prupe.7G090100 0
- Prupe.7G091100 DNAJ heat shock N-terminal domain-containing protein
- Prupe.7G091500 Ribosomal protein L22p/L17e family protein